UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

| (Ma | ark one) | |
|-----|--|---|
| X | ANNUAL REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SE | CURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 |
| | For the fiscal year ended D | ecember 31, 2013 |
| | TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF TH | E SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 |
| | | |
| | For the transition period from | |
| | Commission file numb | er 001-31812 |
| | | |
| | ANI PHARMACEU (Exact name of registrant as sp | |
| | Delaware | 58-2301143 |
| | (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) | (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.) |
| | 210 Main Street West | - |
| | Baudette, Minnesota (Address of principal executive offices) | 56623 (Zip Code) |
| | (218) 634-35 | 500 |
| | (Registrant's telephone number | , including area code) |
| | Securities registered pursuant to S | section 12(b) of the Act: |
| | Title of each class | Name of each exchange on which registered |
| | Common Stock, par value \$0.0001 per share | The NASDAQ Global Market |
| | Securities registered pursuant to S None | Section 12(g) of the Act: |
| | Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, | as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. YES □ NO 区 |
| | Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports purs | uant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. YES □ NO 🗵 |
| | Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the ject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. YES ☒ NO ☐ | |
| | Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronicall a File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regular the registrant was required to submit and post such files). YES NO | tion S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period |
| | Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item ein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in defeart III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. | |
| con | Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, apany. See definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and | |

Accelerated filer \square

(Check one):

Large accelerated filer $\ \square$

| Non-accelerated filer □ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) | Smaller reporting company ⊠ |
|---|-----------------------------|
| Indicate by check mark whether registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). YES □ NO ⊠ | |
| The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common stor \$36.8 million (based upon the last reported sale price of \$6.00 per share on | • |

As of February 14, 2014, 9,639,941 shares of common stock and 10,868 shares of Class C Special stock of the registrant were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the definitive proxy statement for the registrant's 2014 annual meeting of stockholders to be filed within 120 days after the end of the period covered by this annual report on Form 10-K are incorporated by reference into Part III of this annual report on Form 10-K.

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | <u>-</u> | Page |
|------------|--|------|
| PART I | | |
| Item 1. | Business | 3 |
| Item 1A. | Risk Factors | 15 |
| Item 1B. | Unresolved Staff Comments | 32 |
| Item 2. | Properties | 32 |
| Item 3. | Legal Proceedings | 33 |
| Item 4. | Mine Safety Disclosures | 34 |
| PART II | | |
| Item 5. | Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities | 35 |
| Item 6. | Selected Consolidated Financial Data | 35 |
| Item 7. | Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations | 36 |
| Item 7A. | Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk | 49 |
| Item 8. | Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data | 50 |
| Item 9. | Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure | 81 |
| Item 9A. | Controls and Procedures | 81 |
| Item 9B. | Other Information | 82 |
| PART III | | |
| Item 10. | Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance | 83 |
| Item 11. | Executive Compensation | 83 |
| Item 12. | Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters | 83 |
| Item 13. | Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence | 83 |
| Item 14. | Principal Accountant Fees and Services | 84 |
| PART IV | | |
| Item 15. | Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules | 85 |
| a: | | 0.0 |
| Signatures | | 86 |
| | | |

Available Information

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiary, ANIP Acquisition Company (together, the "Company" or "ANI") files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). The Company makes available free of charge on its website (www.anipharmaceuticals.com) its annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and any amendments to those filings as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. Also posted on the Company's website in the "Investors — Corporate Governance" section are the Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Ethics and the charters for the Audit and Finance, Compensation, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees. Information on, or accessible through, the Company's website is not a part of, and is not incorporated into, this report or any other SEC filing. Copies of ANI's SEC filings or corporate governance materials are available without charge upon written request to Investor Relations, c/o ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 210 Main Street West, Baudette, Minnesota, 56623.

Any materials the Company files with the SEC are also publicly available through the SEC's website (www.sec.gov) or may be read and copied at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, DC 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

In this annual report, references to "ANI" or "the Company" refer, unless the context requires otherwise, to ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware limited liability company, and its consolidated subsidiary, ANIP Acquisition Company ("ANIP"). References to "named executive directors" refer to the current named executive officers of the Company, except where the context requires otherwise. References to the "Merger" refer to the merger of BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("BioSante") and ANIP, completed on June 19, 2013, wherein ANI Merger Sub, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of BioSante, merged with and into ANIP with ANIP continuing as the surviving company and becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of BioSante. On July 17, 2013, BioSante changed its name to ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. References to the "reverse stock split" refer to the one-for-six reverse stock split effected on July 17, 2013.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K and certain information incorporated herein by reference contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Such statements include, but are not limited to, statements about the potential benefits of the recent Merger, the Company's plans, objectives, expectations and intentions with respect to future operations and products, the anticipated financial position, operating results and growth prospects of the Company and other statements that are not historical in nature, particularly those that utilize terminology such as "anticipates," "will," "expects," "plans," "potential," "future," "believes," "intends," "continue," other words of similar meaning, derivations of such words and the use of future dates. Forward-looking statements by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees, subject to change. You should not place undue reliance on those statements because they are subject to numerous uncertainties, risks and other factors relating to the Company's operations and business environment and other factors, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond the Company's control.

Uncertainties and risks may cause the Company's actual results to be materially different than those expressed in or implied by such forward-looking statements. Uncertainties and risks include, but are not limited to, the risk that the Company may in the future face increased difficulty in importing raw materials and/or increased competition, for its Esterified Estrogen with Methyltestosterone Tablet product; competitive conditions for the Company's other products may intensify; the Company may be required to seek the approval of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") for its unapproved products or withdraw such products from the market; general business and economic conditions; the Company's expectations regarding trends in markets for the Company's current and planned products; the Company's future cash flow and its ability to support its operations; the Company's ability to obtain additional financing as needed; the difficulty of developing pharmaceutical products, obtaining regulatory and other approvals and achieving market acceptance of such products; and the marketing success of the Company's licensees or sublicensees.

More detailed information on these and additional factors that could affect the Company's actual results are described in the "Risk Factors" section in Part I, Item 1A. of this annual report on Form 10-K and in other cautionary statements and risks included in other reports the Company files with the SEC. All forward-looking statements in this annual report speak only as of the date made and are based on the Company's current beliefs, assumptions, and expectations. The Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

PART I

Item 1. Business

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiary, ANIP Acquisition Company (together, the "Company" or "ANI") is an integrated specialty pharmaceutical company developing, manufacturing, and marketing branded and generic prescription pharmaceuticals. The Company's targeted areas of product development currently include narcotics, oncolytics (anti-cancers), hormones and steroids, and complex formulations involving extended release and combination products. The Company has two pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities located in Baudette, Minnesota, which are capable of producing oral solid dose products, as well as liquids and topicals, narcotics, and potent products that must be manufactured in a fully-contained environment. The Company's strategy is to continue to use these manufacturing assets to develop, produce, and distribute niche generic pharmaceutical products.

On June 19, 2013, pursuant to a merger agreement dated as of April 12, 2013, ANIP Acquisition Company d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("ANIP") became a wholly-owned subsidiary of BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("BioSante") in an all-stock, tax-free reorganization (the "Merger"). The Merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisition, pursuant to which ANIP was considered the acquiring entity for accounting purposes. The Company is operating under the leadership of the ANIP management team and its board of directors is comprised of two former directors from BioSante and five former ANIP directors. As such, ANIP's historical results of operations replace BioSante's historical results of operations for all periods prior to the Merger. The results of operations of both companies are included in the Company's consolidated financial statements for all periods after completion of the Merger.

BioSante was a publicly-held pharmaceutical company focused on developing high value, medically-needed products. ANIP entered into the Merger to secure additional capital and gain access to capital market opportunities as a public company.

In addition, in July 2013, the Company's stockholders approved and the Company subsequently effected (i) a one-for-six reverse stock split of the Company's common stock and class C special stock, with a proportional reduction in the number of authorized shares of its common stock, class C special stock and blank check preferred stock, and (ii) a change of the Company's name from "BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc." to "ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc." Unless otherwise required by the context, references in this annual report on Form 10-K to the "Company," "we," us," and "our" refer to ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation formed in April 2001, formerly known as BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The Company's principal executive offices are located at 210 Main Street West, Baudette, Minnesota, 56623, its telephone number is (218) 634-3500, and its website address is www.anipharmaceuticals.com.

Mission and Strategy

The Company is an integrated specialty pharmaceutical company, with its own research and development team, manufacturing facilities, and sales and regulatory compliance personnel. The Company's two facilities have a combined manufacturing, packaging and laboratory capacity totaling 173,000 square feet. The facilities are specialized with diverse capabilities, enabling the Company to manufacture liquid, powder, and oral solid-dose products, topicals, narcotics and other products required to be manufactured in a fully contained environment. The Company also performs contract manufacturing for other pharmaceutical companies.

In addition to laboratories that support all of the requirements of raw material, finished product, and stability testing, the Company has a 1,000 square foot pilot laboratory offering liquid, suspension and solid dose development capabilities. This pilot laboratory offers a full range of analytical capabilities including method development, validation and de-formulation, and is licensed by the Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA"). Finally, a separate development suite located within the Company's high-potency manufacturing facility offers additional capabilities for product development.

The Company's strategy is to use its assets to develop, manufacture and market branded and generic specialty pharmaceutical products. By developing and acquiring carefully-considered prescription pharmaceuticals, management believes the Company will be able to continue to grow its business, expand and diversify its product portfolio, and create long-term value for its investors.

Product Development Considerations

The Company considers a variety of criteria in determining which products to develop or acquire, all of which influence the level of competition and profitability upon product launch. These criteria include:

- Formulation Complexity. The Company's development and manufacturing capabilities enable it to manufacture pharmaceuticals that are difficult to produce, including highly potent, extended release, combination, and low dosage products. This ability to manufacture a variety of complex products is a competitive strength that the Company intends to leverage in selecting products to develop or manufacture.
- *Patent Status*. The Company seeks to develop products whose branded bioequivalents do not have long-term patent protection or existing patent challenges.
- *Market Size.* When determining whether to develop or acquire an individual product, management reviews the current and expected market size for that product at launch, as well as forecasted price erosion upon conversion from branded to generic pricing. The Company endeavors to manufacture products with sufficient market size to enable the Company to enter the market with a strong likelihood of being able to price its product both competitively and at a profit.
- **Profit Potential.** Management researches the availability and cost of active pharmaceutical ingredients along with anticipated market share in determining which products to develop or acquire. In determining the potential profit of a product, management forecasts the Company's anticipated market share, pricing, which includes expected price erosion caused by competition from other generic manufacturers, and the estimated cost to manufacture the products.
- *Manufacturing*. The Company generally seeks to develop and manufacture products at its own manufacturing plants in order to maximize the capacity and utilization of its facilities, to ensure quality control in its products, and to maximize profit potential.
- Competition. When determining whether to develop or acquire an individual product, management researches the existing and expected market share of generic competitors. The Company seeks to develop products for which it can obtain a large market share, and may decline to develop a product if management anticipates that many generic competitors will be entering that product's market. The Company's highly specialized manufacturing facilities provide a means of entering niche markets, such as hormone therapies, in which fewer generic companies would be able to compete.

The Company believes its strategies are effective in leveraging the Company's human and capital assets and will result in measurable growth of the Company's business. Since 2011, the Company has successfully:

- Increased prescription product sales through market share gains on established products.
- Acquired the New Drug Application ("NDA") for and began marketing Reglan [®].
- Developed two new contract manufacturing customer relationships.
- Established two external product development partnerships to bolster the internal pipeline.
- Filed five Abbreviated New Drug Applications ("ANDAs") and developed a pipeline of seven additional ANDAs.
- Entered into a contract to purchase the ANDAs for 31 previously marketed generic drug products, including 20 solid-oral immediate release products, four extended release products and seven liquid products for \$12.5 million. This asset acquisition will help the Company expand and diversify its product lines over the next few years, help increase revenue, and reduce the Company's percentage of revenue derived from sales of unapproved products.

The Company's cash resources and forecasted cash flows from operations are sufficient to enable the Company to meet its operational needs for the foreseeable future.

As part of the Merger, the Company acquired a license with Teva for a royalty stream related to a percentage of sales of a male testosterone gel that was developed initially by BioSante, and then licensed to Teva for late stage clinical development. The intangible asset related to the Teva license was valued at \$10.9 million in the purchase accounting for the Merger and is being amortized over its estimated life of 11 years. In addition, immediately prior to the Merger, the Company distributed to its then current stockholders contingent value rights ("CVRs") providing payment rights arising from a future sale, transfer, license or similar transaction(s) involving LibiGel ® (female testosterone gel).

Products and Markets

Products

The Company's established product portfolio consists of both branded and generic pharmaceuticals, including:

Generic Products
strogen with Methyltestosterone Tablets

Cortenema ®

Esterified Estrogen with Methyltestosterone Tablets
Fluvoxamine Maleate Tablets
Hydrocortisone Enema
Metoclopramide Syrup
Opium Tincture

Esterified Estrogen with Methyltestosterone ("EEMT") is used to treat moderate to severe vasomotor symptoms of menopause, such as hot flashes and heart palpations that are not improved by estrogen medications alone. For the year ended December 31, 2013, EEMT comprised 33% of the Company's net sales, a substantial increase over the prior year wherein EEMT comprised only 9% of the Company's net sales. In the third quarter of 2013, a significant competitor stopped producing EEMT, which led to a material increase in the Company's market share for the product and enabled the Company to significantly increase the price it charges for the product.

Fluvoxamine Maleate is used to treat obsessions and compulsions in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. It is generally used when the obsessions and compulsions in a patient interfere with the patient's ability to function socially and occupationally.

Hydrocortisone Enema and its branded equivalent, Cortenema [®] are used for the treatment of ulcerative colitis, especially distal forms, including ulcerative proctitis, ulcerative proctosigmoiditis, and left-sided ulcerative colitis. The products have also proved useful in some cases involving the transverse and ascending colons.

Metoclopramide syrup and its branded equivalent Reglan [®], in tablet form, are prescribed for periods of four to twelve weeks for heartburn symptoms with gastroesophageal reflux disease ("GERD") when certain other treatments do not work. The products relieve daytime heartburn and heartburn after meals and also help ulcers in the esophagus to heal. The products also relieve symptoms of slow stomach emptying in people with diabetes and help treat symptoms such as nausea, vomiting, heartburn, feeling full long after a meal, and loss of appetite.

Opium Tincture is used is to treat severe diarrhea by slowing the movement of the intestines and decreasing the number and frequency of bowel movements.

Reglan ® Tablets

Markets

In determining which products to pursue for development, the Company targets markets whose products are complex to manufacture and therefore have higher barriers to entry. These market factors provide opportunities for the Company's growth consistent with its competitive strengths at the same time that they decrease the number of potential competitors in the markets. These markets currently include hormone and steroidal drugs, oncolytics, and narcotics and complex formulations, including extended release and combination products.

Hormone and Steroidal Drugs

The market for hormone and steroidal drugs includes hormone therapy to alleviate menopausal symptoms in women, contraceptives, testosterone replacement therapies for men, and therapies for treating hormone-sensitive and other cancers.

Hormone Therapy ("HT") has been an accepted medical treatment for alleviating the symptoms of menopause since the 1930s, with formal FDA approval for that use granted in 1942. Initially, HT consisted of estrogen only, but has evolved to include combination therapies of estrogen, progesterone and androgens. The Company targets niche products in the HT and steroidal products market for several reasons, including:

- Hormone and steroid products are a core competency based on the Company's manufacturing and product development teams' long history of manufacturing these types of products; and
- The aging baby boom population, of which women represent a majority, is expected to support continued growth in the HT market.

Oncolytics

The Company is positioned to develop and manufacture niche oncolytic (anti-cancer) drugs due to the capabilities of the Company's containment facility and its expertise in manufacturing segregation. In particular, the Company is targeting products subject to priority review by the FDA – those with no blocking patents and no generic competition. In addition to one such product already under development, the Company has identified additional priority review opportunities in oncolytics.

Narcotics

The Company's main manufacturing facility in Baudette, Minnesota is licensed by the DEA for the manufacture and distribution of Schedule II narcotics, i.e., drugs considered to have a high abuse risk but that also have safe and accepted medical uses in the United States. In addition to its existing pipeline of four ANDAs, the Company has identified additional product development opportunities in this market.

Contract Manufacturing

The Company manufactures pharmaceutical products for several branded and generic companies, which outsource production to the Company in order to:

- Free-up internal resources to focus on sales and marketing as well as research and development;
- Employ internal capacity to manufacture higher volume or more critical products; and
- Utilize the Company's specialized equipment and expertise.

The Company considers contract manufacturing to be an important component of its ongoing business. Given its highly specialized manufacturing capabilities, the Company is focused on attracting niche contract manufacturing opportunities that fill idle capacity and offer high margins.

Manufacturing, Suppliers and Raw Materials

The Company requires a supply of quality raw materials, including active pharmaceutical ingredients ("API"), and components to manufacture and package its pharmaceutical products. In order to manufacture Opium Tincture, the Company must submit a request to the DEA each year for a quota to purchase the amount of API (opium) needed to manufacture the product for the following year. Without an approved quota from DEA, the Company would not be able to purchase this ingredient from its supplier.

The Company sources the raw materials for its products from both domestic and international suppliers that the Company selects on the basis of their quality, reliability of supply, and long-term financial stability. Generally, the Company qualifies only a single source of API for use in each product due to the cost and time required to validate and qualify a second source of supply. Any change by the Company in one of its API suppliers must usually be approved through a Prior Approval Supplement by the FDA. Certain of the Company's API for its drug products, including those that are marketed without approved NDAs or ANDAs, such as EEMT, are sourced from international suppliers. From time to time the Company has experienced temporary disruptions in the supply of certain of such imported API due to FDA inspections.

Government Regulation

The pharmaceutical industry is highly regulated by the federal government and the Company is subject to extensive and complex regulation, including physical inspection of its facilities, under multiple federal statutes, which are subject to revision from time to time. While the Company has experience with these regulations, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to fully comply with all applicable regulations.

Generic Pharmaceutical Products

Prescription pharmaceutical products in the United States are generally marketed as either branded or generic drugs. Branded products are generally patent protected, which provides a period of market exclusivity during which time they are sold by the developer of the product with little or no competition for the compound, although typically there are other products in the same therapeutic area.

All prescription pharmaceutical products, whether branded or generic, must be approved by the FDA. All applications for FDA approval must contain information relating to product formulation, raw material suppliers, stability, manufacturing processes, packaging, labeling and quality control. Information to support the bioequivalence of generic drug products or the safety and effectiveness of new drug products for their intended use is also required to be submitted. There are generally two types of applications used for obtaining FDA approval of new products:

New Drug Application ("NDA") —An NDA is filed when approval is sought to market a newly developed branded product and, in certain instances, for a new dosage form, a new delivery system or a new indication for a previously approved drug. The Company markets its Cortenema ®, generic Hydrocortisone Enema, Reglan ® tablets and generic Fluvoxamine tablets under approved NDAs.

Abbreviated New Drug Application ("ANDA") —An ANDA is filed when approval is sought to market a generic equivalent of a drug product previously approved under an NDA. The Company markets its Metoclopramide syrup under an approved ANDA. The Company has submitted five ANDAs and had an additional seven ANDAs in its pipeline as of December 31, 2013.

The ANDA development process is generally less time-consuming and less complex than the NDA development process. It typically does not require new preclinical and clinical studies, because it relies on the studies establishing safety and efficacy conducted for the reference branded drug previously approved through the NDA process. The ANDA process, however, typically requires one or more bioequivalence studies to show that the ANDA drug is bioequivalent to the previously approved referenced branded drug.

The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 (the "Hatch-Waxman Act") provides that generic drugs may enter the market after the approval of an ANDA, which requires (1) that bioequivalence to the branded product be demonstrated through clinical studies, and (2) either the expiration, invalidation or circumvention of any patents or the end of any other relevant market exclusivity periods related to the reference branded drug.

Accordingly, generic products generally provide a safe, effective and cost-efficient alternative to users of reference branded products. Growth in the generic pharmaceutical industry has been driven by the increased market acceptance of generic drugs, as well as the number of branded drugs for which patent terms and/or other market exclusivities have expired.

Generic products are generally introduced to the marketplace after the expiration of patent protection for the branded product and after the end of a period of non-patent market exclusivity. In addition to patent exclusivity, the holder of the NDA for the reference drug may be entitled to a period of non-patent market exclusivity, during which the FDA cannot approve an application for a generic product. If the reference drug is a new chemical entity ("NCE"), the FDA may not accept an ANDA for a generic product for up to five years following approval of the NDA for the NCE. If it is not an NCE, but the holder of the NDA conducted clinical trials essential to approval of the NDA or a supplement thereto, the FDA may not approve an ANDA for the reference branded product before the expiration of three years. Certain other periods of exclusivity may be available if the referenced drug is indicated for treatment of a rare disease or is studied for pediatric indications.

One requirement for FDA approval of NDAs and ANDAs is that the Company's manufacturing procedures and operations conform to FDA requirements and guidelines, generally referred to as "cGMP." The requirements for FDA approval encompass all aspects of the production process, including validation and recordkeeping, the standards around which are continuously changing and evolving. As a result, the Company must consistently keep pace and comply with these changes.

The Company's facilities, procedures, operations and/or testing of products are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA, the DEA and other authorities. In addition, the FDA conducts pre-approval and post-approval reviews and plant inspections to determine whether the Company's systems and processes are in compliance with cGMP and other FDA regulations. The Company's suppliers are subject to similar regulations and periodic inspections.

Controlled Substances

The DEA regulates certain drug products containing controlled substances, such as opium, which is a significant component of one of the Company's current products, pursuant to the U.S. Controlled Substances Act ("CSA"). The CSA and DEA regulations impose specific requirements on manufacturers and other entities that handle these substances including registration, recordkeeping, reporting, storage, security, and distribution. Recordkeeping requirements include accounting for the amount of product received, manufactured, stored, and distributed. Companies handling controlled substances also are required to maintain adequate security and to report suspicious orders, thefts, and significant losses. The DEA periodically inspects facilities for compliance with the CSA and its regulations. Failure to comply with current and future regulations of the DEA could lead to a variety of sanctions, including revocation or denial of renewal of DEA registrations, injunctions, or civil or criminal penalties.

In addition, each year, the Company must submit a request to the DEA for a quota to purchase the amount of active pharmaceutical ingredient (opium) needed to manufacture Opium Tincture. Without an approved quota from DEA, the Company would not be able to purchase this ingredient from its supplier. As a result, the Company is dependent upon the DEA to approve, on an annual basis, a quota of active pharmaceutical ingredient that is sufficiently large to support the continued manufacture of Opium Tincture.

Unapproved Products

Two of the Company's products, EEMT and Opium Tincture, are marketed without approved NDAs or ANDAs. The FDA's policy with respect to the continued marketing of unapproved products appears in the FDA's September 2011 Compliance Policy Guide Sec. 440.100 titled "Marketed New Drugs without Approved NDAs or ANDAs." Under this policy, the FDA has stated that it will follow a risk-based approach with regard to enforcement against marketing of unapproved products. The FDA evaluates whether to initiate enforcement action on a case-by-case basis, but gives higher priority to enforcement action against products in certain categories, such as those with potential safety risks or that lack evidence of effectiveness. While the Company believes that, so long as it complies with applicable manufacturing and labeling standards, the FDA will not take action against it under the current enforcement policy, it can offer no assurances that the FDA will continue this policy or not take a contrary position with any individual product or group of products.

Medicaid/Medicare

Medicaid and Medicare, both United States federal health care programs, are major purchasers of pharmaceutical products, including those produced by the Company.

Medicaid is administered by the states and jointly funded by the federal and state governments. Its focus is on low income populations. State drug coverage policies under Medicaid may vary significantly state by state. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act ("PPACA"), as amended by the Health Care and Education and Reconciliation Act of 2010, together known as the Affordable Care Act ("ACA"), required states to expand their Medicaid programs to individuals up to 138 percent of the federal poverty level, largely funded by the federal government. Although the United States Supreme Court in 2011 made the Medicaid expansion optional, many states are expanding their Medicaid programs. This expansion of Medicaid coverage may increase usage of pharmaceuticals.

On the other hand, the ACA also made changes to Medicaid law that could negatively impact the Company. In particular, pharmaceutical manufacturers must enter into rebate agreements with state Medicaid agencies, which require rebates based on the drugs dispensed to Medicaid beneficiaries. The ACA raised the rebate percentages for both generic and branded pharmaceuticals effective January 1, 2010. The required rebate is currently 13 percent of the average manufacturer price for sales of Medicaid-reimbursed products marketed under ANDAs. (Prior to the ACA the percentage rebate had been 11 percent.) Sales of Medicaid-reimbursed products marketed under NDAs require manufacturers to rebate the greater of 23.1 percent (up from 15.1 percent) of the average manufacturer price or the difference between the average manufacturers price and the "best price" (as defined in the Medicaid statute) during a specific period. The Company believes that federal and/or state governments may continue to enact measures aimed at reducing the cost of drugs to the Medicaid program.

Medicare is run entirely by the federal government and is largely focused on the elderly and disabled. The Medicare Modernization Act of 2003 ("MMA") created Medicare Part D to provide prescription drug coverage for Medicare beneficiaries. (Medicare previously did not cover prescription drugs.) The MMA has increased usage of pharmaceuticals, which is a trend that the Company believes will continue to benefit the generic pharmaceutical industry. The ACA made some changes to Part D to make it easier for Medicare beneficiaries to obtain drugs, such as reducing coinsurance amounts. On the other hand, the ACA also required pharmaceutical companies to provide discounts to Medicare Part D beneficiaries for the cost of branded prescription drugs. Under the Medicare Coverage Gap Discount Program authorized by the ACA, any pharmaceutical product marketed under an NDA, regardless of whether the product is marketed as a "generic," is subject to the discount requirement. The Company's Hydrocortisone Enema and Fluvoxamine Maleate products, while marketed as "generics," are actually the subject of approved NDAs and, therefore, are subject to the discount requirement. The Company benefits from Medicare changes that have reduced obstacles to drug usage. However, resulting sales increases may be offset by existing and future legislative efforts to curb the cost of drugs to the Medicare program.

Several of the Company's products are covered by Medicaid and Medicare, and the reimbursement calculations for these rebates are complex and subject to change. For Medicaid, these calculations may vary from state to state. If the Company does not calculate its rebates correctly or in alignment with state Medicaid programs or as calculated by Medicare, the Company could be subject to federal or state false claims litigation.

Research and Development

The Company develops new generic products through a combination of internal development and fee-for-service arrangements with other firms. Additionally, the Company licenses and co-develops products through collaborations with other companies as noted below. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company's research and development expenses were \$1.7 million and \$1.2 million, respectively.

Sofgen Pharmaceuticals

In August 2013, the Company entered into an agreement with Sofgen Pharmaceuticals ("Sofgen") to develop an oral soft gel prescription product indicated for cardiovascular health (the "Sofgen Agreement"). The product will be subject to an ANDA filing once developed. In general, Sofgen will be responsible for the development, manufacturing and regulatory submission of the product, including preparation of the ANDA, with the Company providing payments based on the completion of certain milestones. Upon approval, Sofgen will manufacture the drug and the Company will be responsible for the marketing and distribution, under the Company's label, of the product in the United States, providing a percentage of profits from sales of the drug to Sofgen.

Under the Sofgen Agreement, Sofgen will own all the rights, title and interest in the product. During the term of the Agreement, both parties are prohibited from developing, manufacturing, selling or distributing any product in the United States that is identical or bioequivalent to the product covered under the Sofgen Agreement. The Sofgen Agreement may be terminated or amended under certain specified circumstances.

RiconPharma LLC

In July 2011, the Company entered into a collaborative arrangement with RiconPharma LLC ("RiconPharma"). Under the parties' master product development and collaboration agreement (the "RiconPharma Agreement"), the Company and RiconPharma have agreed to collaborate in a cost, asset and profit sharing arrangement for the development, manufacturing, regulatory approval and marketing of pharmaceutical products in the United States.

In general, RiconPharma is responsible for developing the products and the Company is responsible for manufacturing, sales, marketing and distribution of the products. The parties are jointly responsible for directing any bioequivalence studies. The Company is responsible for obtaining and maintaining all necessary regulatory approvals, including the preparation of all ANDAs.

Under the RiconPharma Agreement and unless otherwise specified in an amendment, the parties will own equally all the rights, title and interest in the products. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Company will be identified on the product packaging as the manufacturer and distributor of the product. During the term of the agreement, both parties are prohibited from developing, manufacturing, selling or distributing any products that are identical or bioequivalent to products covered under the RiconPharma Agreement. The agreement may be terminated or amended under certain specified circumstances.

Patents, Trademarks and Licenses

The Company owns the trademark names for each of its branded products, Cortenema [®] and Reglan [®]. Generally, the branded pharmaceutical business relies upon patent protection to ensure market exclusivity for the life of the patent. The Company does not own or license any patents associated with these products. Further, patent protection and market exclusivity for these two branded products have long-since expired. Therefore, the Company considers the trademark names to be of material value and acts to protect these rights from infringement. However, the Company's business is not dependent upon any single trademark. Trademark protection continues in some countries as long as used; in other countries, as long as registered. Registration is for fixed terms and may be renewed indefinitely. The Company believes that sales of its branded products have benefited and will continue to benefit from the value of the product name.

The Company has licensed the right to manufacture and market Fluvoxamine Maleate tablets, an authorized generic version of Luvox ® IR from Jazz Pharmaceuticals, which in turn acquired the rights to Luvox ® IR from Solvay Pharmaceuticals, Inc. This license is in addition to a manufacturing and supply agreement with Jazz Pharmaceuticals, under which the Company manufactures and supplies Jazz Pharmaceuticals' requirements for Luvox ® IR. Under the license agreement, Jazz Pharmaceuticals transferred responsibility for the related NDA to the Company. The license agreement may be terminated by Jazz Pharmaceuticals if the Solvay license agreement is terminated, if the Company breaches or defaults in the performance or observance of any material provisions of the agreement or the related supply agreement and such breach or default is not cured within 60 days after written notice is received, in the case of voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy filings by/against the Company, if the Company does not make royalty payments when due, or in the event the Company receives an adverse finding letter from the FDA relating to the NDA and is either not able to cure or provide evidence of a reasonable plan to cure within 30 days of receipt by the Company of such adverse finding letter, among other events. The Company may terminate the agreement with the consent of Jazz Pharmaceuticals, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld.

Customers

The Company's customers purchase and distribute the Company's products. The Company's products are sold by four major retail pharmacy chains: Walgreens, CVS, RiteAid and Wal-Mart, and are included in the source programs of four major national wholesalers: Cardinal, McKesson, AmerisourceBergen and Morris Dickson, which are also wholesale customers of the Company. In addition, the Company's customers include national mail order houses, including Anda, ExpressScripts, and Omnicare, as well as group purchasing organizations.

In recent years, the wholesale distributor network for pharmaceutical products has been subject to increasing consolidation, which has increased the concentration of the Company's wholesale customers. In addition, the number of retail market chains and, in particular, the number of independent drug stores and small chains, has decreased as retail consolidation has occurred, also increasing the concentration of the Company's retail customers. As a result of this trend toward consolidation, a smaller number of companies each control a larger share of pharmaceutical distribution channels. For the year ended December 31, 2013, approximately 55% of the Company's gross sales were attributable to three key wholesalers: McKesson Corporation (27%), Cardinal Health, Inc. (18%), and AmerisourceBergen Corporation (10%). In addition, as noted below, the Company's customers also distribute the Company's products. The loss of any of these customers, including in their role as distributors, could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business.

Consistent with industry practice, the Company maintains a return policy that allows customers to return product within a specified period prior to and subsequent to the expiration date. Generally, product may be returned for a period beginning six months prior to its expiration date to up to one year after its expiration date. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition—Critical Accounting Estimates" for a discussion of the Company's accruals for chargebacks, returns, and other allowances.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

The Company sells and markets its products in the United States. The Company's products are distributed through the following channels:

- Wholesalers. The Company has contracts with four major wholesalers in the United States: Cardinal, McKesson, AmerisourceBergen, and Morris Dickson, as well as access to their respective retail source programs.
- Retail Market Chains. The Company conducts business with four major retail chains in the United States: Walgreens, CVS, RiteAid, and Wal-Mart.
- *Distributors and Mail Order Pharmacies*. The Company has contracts with several major distributors and mail order pharmacies in the United States, including Anda, ExpressScripts, and Omnicare.
- *Hospital Market*. The Company has contracts with group purchasing organizations in the United States, such as Premiere, MedAssets, Minnesota Multi-State, and the Federal Supply Schedule ("FSS").

Competition

The Company's target markets have more limited competition due to complexities in formulation, active pharmaceutical ingredient sourcing, materials handling and manufacturing, and regulatory hurdles. Nevertheless, the Company competes with numerous other pharmaceutical companies, including large, global pharmaceutical companies capable of addressing these complexities and hurdles with respect to products that the Company currently produces and products that are in the Company's pipeline. In addition, the Company's products are subject to competition from other generic substitutes and non-prescription alternative therapies.

The Company's branded pharmaceutical products currently face competition from generic substitutes and may continue to face competition from generic substitutes in the future. For a manufacturer to launch a generic substitute (including by the Company, with respect to the generic products that it develops and manufactures), the manufacturer must apply to the FDA for an ANDA showing that the generic substitute is therapeutically equivalent to the reference branded drug product. (See "Government Regulation.")

The primary means of competition among generic drug manufacturers are pricing and contract terms, service levels, and supplier reliability. In addition, generic drug manufacturers compete based on brand recognition and customer loyalty, as well as the manufacturer's ability to produce other formulations that may complement its other generic products. To compete effectively, the Company seeks to consistently produce high-quality, reliable, and effective products. It also establishes active working relationships with each of its customers, continually gathers important market information in order to respond successfully to requests for proposals, maintains sufficient inventories to assure high service levels, and works to reduce product costs by sourcing and qualifying alternative suppliers whenever possible and rebidding product components on a routine basis.

The Company's sales can be impacted by new studies that indicate that a competitor's product has greater efficacy for treating a disease or particular form of a disease than one of the Company's products. If competitors introduce new products and processes with therapeutic or cost advantages, the Company's products can be subject to progressive price reductions and/or decreased volume of sales.

Principal competitors for the types of drugs in which the Company transacts business are as follows:

Hormones and Steroids. Competition for hormone and steroidal drugs is limited because of the small number of plants in the United States capable of safely manufacturing these high-potency compounds. Current generic participants in hormone and steroidal drugs include Creekwood Pharmaceuticals, Endo Pharmaceuticals, Glenmark Pharmaceuticals, Watson Pharmaceuticals, and Teva Pharmaceuticals USA.

Oncolytics. Competitors for oncolytic products include both top-tier generic pharmaceutical companies as well as niche players. Current market participants include Mylan, Par Pharmaceutical Companies, Sandoz, the generic pharmaceuticals division of Novartis AG, Watson Pharmaceuticals, and Teva Pharmaceuticals USA.

Narcotics. Although market share in narcotic products is concentrated among two principal companies, i.e., Purdue Pharma and Mallinckrodt, several other companies with material market share in specific product categories within narcotics include Lannett, Endo Pharmaceuticals, Roxane Laboratories, and Watson Pharmaceuticals.

Generic Industry Trends

In recent years, the generic drug industry has experienced significant consolidation, particularly in established distribution channels and amongst generic drug manufacturers and competitors.

The wholesale distributor network for pharmaceutical products has been subject to increasing consolidation, which has increased the concentration of the Company's wholesale customers. In addition, the number of retail market chains and, in particular, the number of independent drug stores and small chains, has decreased as retail consolidation has occurred, also increasing the concentration of the Company's retail customers. As a result of this trend toward consolidation, a smaller number of companies each control a larger share of pharmaceutical distribution channels.

In addition, consolidation amongst generic pharmaceutical companies has created opportunities when there are fewer competitors. However, as competitors grow larger through consolidation, so do their resources. Larger competitors may be able to aggressively decrease prices in order to gain market share on certain products and may have resources that would allow them to more aggressively market their products to potential customers.

Product Liability

Product liability litigation represents an inherent risk to all firms in the pharmaceutical industry. The Company utilizes traditional third-party insurance policies with regard to its product liability claims. Such insurance coverage at any given time reflects market conditions, including cost and availability, existing at the time the policy is written, and the decision to obtain commercial insurance coverage or to self-insure varies accordingly.

In February 2009, the FDA mandated a "black box" warning for the drug metoclopramide, specifically highlighting the risks of patients developing tardive dyskinesia, a movement disorder, when taking metoclopramide for longer than 12 weeks. As a result, numerous state-level lawsuits were brought against pharmaceutical manufacturers, both branded and generic, that had ever manufactured and/or sold metoclopramide. Among the defendants is the Company, which manufactures the generic version and since 2011 has been manufacturing the branded version under the name Reglan [®]. The plaintiffs in these lawsuits claim to have incurred bodily injuries as a result of ingestion of metoclopramide or Reglan [®] prior to the FDA's black box warning requirement. The allegations involve a failure, based on various state-level consumer protection laws, to adequately warn patients and doctors about the risks of using metoclopramide for longer than 12 weeks as evidenced by the FDA's mandate to strengthen the labeled warning.

As the state-level litigation progressed, the generic pharmaceutical defendants appealed to the U.S. Supreme Court arguing that generic companies could not comply with state laws that required them to strengthen their labels because generic companies are prohibited by federal law from making any changes except those adopted by the brand or mandated by FDA for all manufacturers, e.g. federal pre-emption. The U.S. Supreme Court decided in favor of the generic companies in June 2011 in what is known now as the Mensing decision. While many cases have since been dismissed by state courts, several judges, including in Pennsylvania and California, have allowed the plaintiffs to resubmit their complaints.

At the present time, the Company's management is unable to assess the likely outcome of the remaining cases. The Company's insurance company has assumed the defense of this matter. In addition, the Company's insurance company renewed the Company's product liability insurance on September 1, 2012 and 2013 with absolute exclusions for claims related to Reglan [®] and metoclopramide. The Company cannot provide assurances that the outcome of these matters will not have an adverse effect on its business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow. Furthermore, like all pharmaceutical manufacturers, the Company in the future may be exposed to other product liability claims, which could harm its business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow.

Backlog

The Company had a backlog of \$2.1 million and \$2.0 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, relating to contract manufacturing purchase orders from customers.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, the Company's workforce included 81 full-time employees, including 39 salaried employees, and a flexible direct labor pool of 23 experienced pharmaceutical manufacturing and packaging staff. Of the 81 full-time employees, 53 are in selling, general and administrative, 23 in production and five in research and development.

Seasonality of Business

The Company does not believe its business is subject to seasonality. However, the Company's business can be subject to and affected by the business practices of our business partners. To the extent that the availability of inventory or materials from or development practices of our partners is seasonal, the Company's sales may be subject to fluctuations quarter to quarter or year over year.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following are significant factors known to the Company that could materially harm its business, financial condition or operating results or could cause its actual results to differ materially from its anticipated results or other expectations, including those expressed in any forward-looking statement made in this report. The risks described are not the only risks facing the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to management, or that management currently deems to be immaterial, also may adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and/or operating results. If any of these risks actually occur, the Company's business, financial condition and operating results could suffer significantly. As a result, the market price of our common stock could decline and investors could lose all or part of their investment.

The Company has a history of losses and negative cash flow and cannot offer any assurances that it will ever achieve profitability.

The Company has not been profitable until this year, has an accumulated deficit of \$48.5 million as of December 31, 2013, and has not generated positive cash flows from operations. To bridge the gap between revenues and operating and capital needs, the Company has been dependent on a variety of financing sources, including the issuance of equity securities and convertible notes, and revolving lines of credit.

The Company cannot predict whether it will achieve, sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. If revenues grow more slowly than anticipated, or if operating expenses exceed the Company's expectations or cannot be adjusted accordingly, then the Company's business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows will be materially and adversely affected.

Due to a recent and significant decrease in competition for Esterified Estrogen with Methyltestosterone tablets ("EEMT"), which the Company cannot be certain will continue, the Company's revenue and operating income has increased dramatically since the third quarter of 2013. If the Company experienced increased competition for the product, it could lose market share, be forced to lower prices, or both, any of which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position and results of operations.

The Company's sales of EEMT, which are sold without an approved NDA or ANDA, accounted for approximately 33% of net revenues, but only approximately 24% of cost of sales during the year ended December 31, 2013. Currently, the Company faces no significant competition for its EEMT product because, in the third quarter of 2013, a significant competitor stopped producing EEMT. This has led to a material increase in the Company's market share for the product and enabled the Company to significantly increase the prices it charges for the product. As a result of the Company's price increases, the market size for the product has also increased significantly, which could in turn increase the likelihood of the prior competitor re-entering the market. If the prior competitor or any third party is able to successfully produce, market and distribute a product competitive with EEMT, the Company's sales of EEMT could decrease, potentially materially, with a corresponding reduction in revenues, which would have a material, adverse impact on the Company's business, financial condition, cash flows and stock price.

In addition, as described below, the Company sells EEMT without an approved NDA or ANDA and can provide no assurances that the FDA will not require the Company to seek approval for the product or withdraw it from the market. If the FDA required the Company obtain an approved NDA or ANDA in order to sell EEMT, the Company's business, financial condition, cash flows and stock price would be materially and adversely impacted. The costs of and time involved in obtaining an approved NDA or ANDA would be significant and the Company may determine not to pursue such approvals. Unless the Company were successful in increasing sales of other products to replace any revenue lost from the sale of its EEMT product, whether due to competition, FDA actions or otherwise, its business and stock price would be materially harmed, potentially for the long term. Because of the increase in revenue related to sales of this product, the percentage of the Company's net revenues related to EEMT increased to 33% from 9% for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Certain of the Company's generic products are marketed without approved New Drug Applications ("NDAs") or Abbreviated New Drug Applications ("ANDAs") and the Company can offer no assurances that the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") will not require the Company to either seek approval for these products or withdraw them from the market. In either case, the Company's business, financial position and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Two of the Company's products, EEMT and Opium Tincture, are marketed without approved NDAs or ANDAs. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, net revenues for EEMT were 33% and 9% of total revenue, respectively and net revenues from Opium Tincture were 16% and 20% of total revenue, respectively.

The FDA's policy with respect to the continued marketing of unapproved products appears in the FDA's September 2011 Compliance Policy Guide Sec. 440.100 titled "Marketed New Drugs without Approved NDAs or ANDAs." Under this policy, the FDA has stated that it will follow a risk-based approach with regard to enforcement against marketing of unapproved products. The FDA evaluates whether to initiate enforcement action on a case-by-case basis, but gives higher priority to enforcement action against products in certain categories, such as those with potential safety risks or that lack evidence of effectiveness. While the Company believes that, so long as it complies with applicable manufacturing and labeling standards, the FDA will not take action against it under the current enforcement policy, it can offer no assurances that the FDA will continue this policy or not take a contrary position with any individual product or group of products.

In October 2012, the Company received a telephone call requesting a meeting with the FDA representatives from the Minneapolis district of the FDA to discuss continued manufacturing and distribution of Opium Tincture, which is an unapproved product. That meeting was held on October 25, 2012 by conference telephone call and included FDA representatives from the Office of Compliance at the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research. Counsel to the Company sent a letter to the FDA on November 9, 2012 in support of the Company's position. Although the FDA confirmed receipt of this letter, the Company has received no further response from the FDA. If, as a result of such discussions or otherwise, the FDA were to make a determination that the Company could not continue to sell Opium Tincture as an unapproved product, the Company would be required to seek FDA approval for such product or withdraw such product from the market. If the Company determined to withdraw the product from the market, the Company's net revenues for generic pharmaceutical products would decline materially, and if the Company decided to seek FDA approval, it would face increased expenses and might need to suspend sales of the product until such approval is obtained, and there are no assurances that the Company would receive such approval.

In addition, the Company manufactures a group of products on behalf of a contract manufacturing customer and receives royalties on the customer's sales of products, which are marketed by that customer without an FDA-approved NDA. If the FDA took enforcement action against such customer, the customer may be required to seek FDA approval for the group of products or withdraw them from the market, which could materially adversely affect the Company's contract manufacturing and royalty revenues. The Company's contract manufacturing revenues from this group of unapproved products for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were 6.5% and 6.8% of total revenues, respectively. The Company's royalties on the net sales of these unapproved products for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were 1.1% and 1.4% of total revenues, respectively.

The Company is entirely dependent on periodic approval by the Drug Enforcement Administration for the supply of the active pharmaceutical ingredient needed to make Opium Tincture and inability to obtain such approval would reduce or eliminate revenues from the sale of Opium Tincture. In addition, the Company is subject to strict regulation by the Drug Enforcement Administration and is subject to sanctions if it is unable to comply with related regulatory requirements.

The Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA") regulates certain drug products containing controlled substances, such as opium, pursuant to the U.S. Controlled Substances Act ("CSA"). The CSA and DEA regulations impose specific requirements on manufacturers and other entities that handle these substances including registration, recordkeeping, reporting, storage, security and distribution. Recordkeeping requirements include accounting for the amount of product received, manufactured, stored and distributed. Companies handling controlled substances also are required to maintain adequate security and to report suspicious orders, thefts and significant losses. The DEA periodically inspects facilities for compliance with the CSA and its regulations. Failure to comply with current and future regulations of the DEA could lead to a variety of sanctions, including revocation or denial of renewal of DEA registrations, injunctions, or civil or criminal penalties.

In addition, each year, the Company must submit a request to the DEA for a quota to purchase the amount of active pharmaceutical ingredient needed to manufacture Opium Tincture, one of its major products. Without an approved quota from DEA, the Company would not be able to purchase this ingredient from its supplier. As a result, the Company is entirely dependent upon the DEA to approve, on an annual basis, a quota of active pharmaceutical ingredient that is sufficiently large to support the Company's plans for the continued manufacture of Opium Tincture at commercial levels.

The Company depends on a limited number of suppliers for active pharmaceutical ingredients.

The Company's ability to manufacture and distribute drug products is dependent, in part, upon ingredients and components supplied by others, including entities based outside the United States. The Company purchased approximately 37% and 63% of total costs of goods sold from three suppliers during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Any disruption in the supply of these ingredients or components or any problems in their quality could materially affect the Company's ability to manufacture and distribute drug product and could result in legal liabilities that could materially affect the Company's ability to realize profits or otherwise harm the Company's business, financial, and operating results. As described above, virtually all contracts for the supply of pharmaceutical products by the Company to customers contain "failure to supply" clauses. The ability to source sufficient quantities of active pharmaceutical ingredients ("API") for manufacturing is therefore critical to the Company. The Company sources the raw materials for its products, including API from both domestic and international suppliers. Generally, only a single source of API is qualified for use in each product due to the costs and time required to validate a second source of supply. Changes in API suppliers must usually be approved through a Prior Approval Supplement by the FDA. As the API typically comprises the majority of a product's manufactured cost, and qualifying an alternative is costly and time-consuming, API suppliers must be selected carefully based on quality, reliability of supply and long-term financial stability.

Imported API is subject to inspection by the FDA and FDA can refuse to permit the importation of API for use in products that are marketed without approved NDAs or ANDAs. The Company is entirely dependent on imported API to make EEMT. If the FDA detained or refused to allow the importation of such API, the Company's revenues from the sales of EEMT would be reduced or eliminated and the Company's business, financial position and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

The Company sources certain of the API for its drug products, including those that are marketed without approved NDAs or ANDAs, from international suppliers. From time to time, due to FDA inspections, the Company has experienced temporary disruptions in the supply of certain of such imported API, including EEMT. Any prolonged disruption in the supply of such imported API could materially affect the Company's ability to manufacture and distribute its drug products, such as EEMT, reduce or eliminate the Company's revenues from sales of EEMT, and have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position and operating results.

The Company's anticipated revenue growth and profitability, if achieved, is dependent upon the Company's ability to develop, license, or acquire, and commercialize new products on a timely basis in relation to its competitors' product introductions, and to address all regulatory requirements applicable to the development and commercialization of new products. The Company's failure to do so successfully could impair its growth strategy and plans and could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position and results of operations.

The Company's future revenues and profitability are dependent upon its ability to successfully develop, license or acquire, and commercialize, pharmaceutical products in a timely manner. Product development is inherently risky and time-consuming. Likewise, product licensing involves inherent risks including uncertainties due to matters that may affect the achievement of milestones, as well as the possibility of contractual disagreements with regard to the supply of product meeting specifications and terms such as license scope or termination rights. The development and commercialization process also requires substantial time, effort and financial resources. The Company may not be successful in commercializing products on a timely basis, if at all, which could adversely affect its business, financial position and results of operations.

Before any new prescription drug product can be marketed in the United States, marketing authorization approval is required by the FDA. The process of obtaining regulatory approval to manufacture and market branded and generic pharmaceutical products is rigorous, time consuming, costly and largely unpredictable. The Company may be unable to obtain requisite approvals on a timely basis for branded or generic products that it may develop, license or acquire. Moreover, if the Company obtains regulatory approval for a drug, it may be limited with respect to the indicated uses and delivery methods for which the drug may be marketed, which in turn could restrict its potential market for the drug. Also, for products pending approval, the Company may obtain raw materials or produce batches of inventory. In the event that regulatory approval is denied or delayed, the Company could be exposed to the risk of any such inventory becoming obsolete. The timing and cost of obtaining regulatory approvals could adversely affect the Company's product introduction plans, business, financial position and results of operations.

The approval process for generic pharmaceutical products often results in the FDA granting simultaneous final approval to a number of generic pharmaceutical products at the time a patent claim for a corresponding branded product or other market exclusivity expires. This often forces a generic firm to face immediate competition when it introduces a generic product into the market. Additionally, further generic approvals often continue to be granted for a given product subsequent to the initial launch of the generic product. These circumstances generally result in significantly lower prices, as well as reduced margins, for generic products compared to branded products. New generic market entrants generally cause continued price and margin erosion over the generic product life cycle. As a result, the Company could be unable to grow or maintain market share with respect to generic pharmaceutical products, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's ability to market that product profitably and on its business, financial position and results of operations.

Furthermore, if the Company is unable to address all regulatory requirements applicable to the development and commercialization of new products in a timely manner, its product introduction plans, business, financial position and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

The FDA regulates and monitors all promotion and advertising of prescription drugs after approval. All promotion must be consistent with the conditions of approval and submitted to the agency. Failure to adhere to FDA promotional requirements can result in enforcement letters, warning letters, changes to existing promotional material, and corrective notices to healthcare professionals. Promotion of a prescription drug for uses not approved by the FDA can have serious consequences and result in lawsuits by private parties, state governments and the federal government, significant civil and criminal penalties, and compliance agreements that require the company to change current practices and prevent unlawful activity in the future.

The Company faces vigorous competition from other pharmaceutical manufacturers that threatens the commercial acceptance and pricing of its products. If the Company is unable to successfully compete, such competition could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position and results of operations and cash flows.

The generic pharmaceutical industry is highly competitive. The Company faces intense competition from U.S. and foreign manufacturers, many of whom are significantly larger than the Company. Its competitors may be able to develop products and processes competitive with or superior to the Company's for many reasons, including but not limited to the possibility that they may have:

- greater financial resources;
- proprietary processes or delivery systems;
- larger research and development and marketing staffs;
- larger production capabilities;
- more products; or
- more experience in developing new drugs.

Any significant competitor of the Company, due to one or more of these and other factors, could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

The Company's approved products may not achieve commercialization at levels of market acceptance that allow the Company to achieve profitability, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position and results of operations.

The Company seeks to develop, license or acquire products that it can commercialize at levels of market acceptance that would allow the Company to recoup the costs of development and commercialization, grow market share, and achieve profitability. Even if the Company is able to obtain regulatory approvals for its pharmaceutical products, if the Company fails to accurately predict demand for such products, its business, financial position, and results of operations could be adversely impacted. Levels of market acceptance for products could be impacted by several factors, including but not limited to:

- the availability of alternative products from the Company's competitors;
- the price of the Company's products relative to that of the Company's competitors;
- the effectiveness of the Company's marketing relative to that of the Company's competitors;
- the timing of the Company's market entry;
- the ability to market the Company's products effectively to the retail level; and
- the acceptance of the Company's products by government and private formularies.

Some of these factors are not within the Company's control and, if any arises, the Company's profitability, business, financial position and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Although the Company's male testosterone gel is approved by the FDA, the Company is uncertain as to when Teva will begin to market and sell the male testosterone gel and thus when or if the Company would begin to receive royalties from such sales in light of Teva's settlement agreement with AbbVie Inc.

The Company's male testosterone gel was developed initially by the Company, and then licensed by the Company to Teva for late stage clinical development. Teva submitted an NDA, which was approved by the FDA in February 2012. Subsequent to Teva submitting the NDA, in April 2011, AbbVie Inc., a marketer of a testosterone gel for men, filed a complaint against Teva alleging patent infringement with respect to the male testosterone gel. The Teva/AbbVie patent infringement litigation was settled in December 2011. In light of the settlement agreement, the Company is uncertain as to when or if Teva will begin to market and sell its male testosterone gel and thus when or if the Company would begin to receive royalties from such sales. In addition, the intangible asset related to the Teva license was valued at \$10.9 million in the purchase accounting for the Merger. If Teva does not begin to market or sell its male testosterone gel, the value of the intangible asset could be at risk of impairment, which could result in an impairment charge that could have a material negative impact on the Company's financial results.

Future acquisitions and investments could disrupt the Company's business and harm its financial condition and operating results.

The Company's growth will depend, in part, on its continued ability to develop, commercialize and expand its drug products, including in response to changing regulatory and competitive pressures. In some circumstances, the Company may determine to accelerate its growth through the acquisition of complementary businesses and technologies rather than through internal development. The identification of suitable acquisition candidates or products can be difficult, time-consuming and costly, and the Company may not be able to successfully complete or successfully execute strategies for identified acquisitions. The risks faced in connection with acquisitions include:

- diversion of management time and focus from operating the Company's business to addressing acquisition and/or product integration challenges;
- coordination of research and development and sales and marketing functions;
- retention of key employees from the acquired company;
- integration of the acquired company's accounting, management information, human resources and other administrative systems;
- the need to implement or improve controls, procedures, and policies at a business that prior to the acquisition may have lacked effective controls, procedures and policies;
- liability for activities of the acquired company and/or products before the acquisition, including patent infringement claims, violations of laws, commercial disputes, tax liabilities and other known and unknown liabilities;
- unanticipated write-offs or charges; and
- litigation or other claims in connection with the acquired company or product, including claims from product users, former stockholders or other third parties.

In any acquisition that the Company may undertake, its failure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with any acquisitions and investments could cause the Company to fail to realize the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions or investments, cause it to incur unanticipated liabilities, and harm its business generally. Future acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of the Company's equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, amortization expenses, incremental operating expenses or the write-off of goodwill, any of which could harm the Company's financial condition or operating results.

The Company began its own product development program in 2011 and expects to spend a significant amount of resources on research and development efforts that may not lead to successful product introductions. Failure to successfully introduce products into the market could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position and results of operations.

The Company conducts research and development primarily to enable it to manufacture and market approved pharmaceuticals in accordance with applicable regulations. As the Company seeks to develop and develops new products, its research expenses will increase, potentially significantly. Research and development is expensive and time-consuming. The Company's research and development expenditures may not result in the successful introduction of new pharmaceutical products approved by the FDA. Also, after the Company submits a marketing authorization application for a generic product, the FDA may change standards and/or request that the Company conduct additional studies and, as a result, the Company may incur total research and development costs to develop a particular product in excess of what it anticipated. Finally, the Company cannot be certain that any investment made in developing products will be recovered, even if it is successful in commercialization. To the extent that the Company spends significant resources on research and development efforts and is not able to introduce successful new products as a result of those efforts, its business, financial position and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.

The Company relies on third parties to assist it in its clinical studies. If these third parties do not perform as required contractually or expected, the Company's clinical studies may be extended, delayed or terminated or may need to be repeated, and the Company may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize the product being tested in such studies.

The Company relies on third parties, such as medical institutions, clinical investigators and contract laboratories, to assist it in its clinical studies. The Company is responsible for confirming that its studies are conducted in accordance with applicable regulations and that each of its clinical studies is conducted in accordance with its general investigational plan and protocol. The FDA requires the Company to comply with regulations and standards, commonly referred to as good clinical practices for conducting, monitoring, recording and reporting the results of clinical studies, to assure that data and reported results are accurate and that the clinical study participants are adequately protected. The Company's reliance on these third parties does not relieve it of these responsibilities. If the third parties assisting the Company with its clinical studies do not perform their contractual duties or obligations, do not meet expected deadlines, fail to comply with the FDA's good clinical practice regulations, do not adhere to the Company's protocols or otherwise fail to generate reliable clinical data, the Company may need to enter into new arrangements with alternative third parties and its clinical studies may be extended, delayed or terminated or may need to be repeated, and the Company may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize the product being tested in such studies. In addition, if a third party fails to perform as agreed, the Company's ability to collect damages may be limited contractually.

The Company does not own or license any material patents associated with its products, and its ability to protect and control unpatented trade secrets, know-how and other technological innovation is limited.

Generally, the branded pharmaceutical business relies upon patent protection to ensure market exclusivity for the life of the patent. The Company does not own or license any material patents associated with its products and therefore does not enjoy the same level of intellectual property protection with respect to such products as would a pharmaceutical manufacturer that markets a patented product. The Company has a limited ability to protect and control trade secrets, know-how and other technological innovation, all of which are unpatented. Others independently may develop similar or better proprietary information and techniques and disclose them publicly. Also, others may gain access to the Company's trade secrets, and the Company may not be able to meaningfully protect its rights to its unpatented trade secrets. In addition, confidentiality agreements and other measures may not provide meaningful protection for the Company's trade secrets in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of such information. Failure to protect and control such trade secrets, know-how and innovation could harm the value of the Company's trade secrets, know-how and other technological innovation.

The use of legal, regulatory and legislative strategies by competitors, both branded and generic, including "authorized generics" and citizen's petitions, as well as the potential impact of proposed legislation, may increase the Company's costs associated with the introduction or marketing of the Company's generic products, could delay or prevent such introduction and/or could reduce significantly the Company's profit potential. These factors could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

The Company's competitors, both branded and generic, often pursue legal, regulatory, and/or legislative strategies to prevent or delay competition from generic alternatives to branded products. These strategies include, but are not limited to:

- entering into agreements whereby other generic companies will begin to market an authorized generic, a generic equivalent of a branded product, at the same time generic competition initially enters the market;
- launching a generic version of their own branded product at the same time generic competition initially enters the market;
- filing citizen's petitions with the FDA or other regulatory bodies, including timing the filings so as to thwart generic competition by causing delays of the Company's product approvals;
- seeking to establish regulatory and legal obstacles that would make it more difficult to demonstrate bioequivalence or meet other approval requirements;
- initiating legislative and regulatory efforts to limit the substitution of generic versions of branded pharmaceuticals;
- filing suits for patent infringement that may delay regulatory approval of generic products;

- introducing "next-generation" products prior to the expiration of market exclusivity for the reference product, which often materially reduces the demand for the first generic product for which the Company seeks regulatory approval;
- obtaining extensions of market exclusivity by conducting clinical trials of branded drugs in pediatric populations or by other potential methods;
- persuading regulatory bodies to withdraw the approval of branded name drugs for which the patents are about to expire, thus allowing the branded name company to obtain new patented products serving as substitutes for the products withdrawn; and
- seeking to obtain new patents on drugs for which patent protection is about to expire.

If the Company cannot compete with such strategies, the Company's business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows could be materially negatively impacted.

Companies with greater resources than the Company could lobby Congress and other regulators for additional regulations that would benefit their situations but would negatively impact the Company.

The Company is at the early stages of growth and currently does not engage in lobbying activities. In the United States, some companies have lobbied Congress for amendments to the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984 (the "Hatch-Waxman Act") that would give them additional advantages over generic competitors. For example, although the term of a company's drug patent can be extended to reflect a portion of the time an NDA is under regulatory review, some companies have proposed extending the patent term by the full amount of time spent in clinical trials rather than by only one half of the time that is currently permitted.

If proposals like these were to become effective, the Company's entry into the market and its ability to generate revenues associated with new products may be delayed, reduced or eliminated, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

The Company faces significant uncertainty with respect to the litigation brought against it and other manufacturers of metoclopramide and cannot provide assurances that the outcome of the matter will not have an adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations and/or cash flows from operations. In addition, the Company may be exposed to other product liability claims in the future.

All manufacturers of the drug Reglan [®] and its generic equivalent metoclopramide, including the Company, are facing allegations from plaintiffs in various states, including California, New Jersey and Pennsylvania, claiming bodily injuries as a result of ingestion of metoclopramide or its brand name, Reglan [®], prior to the FDA's February 2009 Black Box warning requirement. In August 2012, the Company was dismissed with prejudice from all New Jersey cases. Management considers the Company's exposure to this litigation to be limited due to several factors: (1) the only generic metoclopramide manufactured by the Company prior to the implementation of the FDA's warning requirement was an oral solution introduced after May 28, 2008; (2) the Company's market share for the oral solution was a very small portion of the overall metoclopramide market; and (3) once the Company received a request for change of labeling from the FDA, it submitted its proposed changes within 30 days, and such changes were subsequently approved by the FDA.

At the present time, management is unable to assess the likely outcome of the cases in the remaining states. The Company's insurance company has assumed the defense of this matter. In addition, the Company's insurance company renewed the Company's product liability insurance on September 1, 2012 and 2013 with absolute exclusions for claims related to Reglan [®] and metoclopramide. Management cannot provide assurances that the outcome of these matters will not have an adverse effect on its business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow. Furthermore, like all pharmaceutical manufacturers, the Company in the future may be exposed to other product liability claims, which could harm its business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow.

The Company's management does not have significant experience in addressing the extensive regulations that the Company must comply with as a public company and is required to devote substantial time to comply with public company regulations.

As a public company, the Company is required to comply with significant legal, accounting and other requirements that ANIP Acquisition Company did not face as a private company and as such, has incurred significant regulatory compliance-related expenses. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act as well as rules implemented by the SEC and The NASDAQ Global Market, impose various requirements on public companies, including those related to corporate governance practices. The Company's management and other personnel devote a substantial amount of time to these requirements. Certain members of the Company's management do not have significant experience in addressing these requirements. Moreover, these rules and regulations have increased the company's legal and financial compliance costs relative to those of previous years and make some activities more time consuming and costly.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that the Company maintain effective internal control for financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. In particular, the Company must perform system and process evaluation and testing of its internal control over financial reporting to allow management to report on the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO") provides a framework for companies to assess and improve their internal control systems. The Company's compliance with these requirements has required that it incur substantial accounting and related expenses and expend significant management efforts. Moreover, if the Company is not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, is unable to assert that its internal controls over financial reporting are effective, or identifies deficiencies in its internal control over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses, investors could lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of the Company's financial reports, the market price of the Company's common stock could decline and the Company could be subject to sanctions or investigations by The NASDAQ Global Market, the SEC or other regulatory authorities.

The Company has very limited staffing and is dependent upon key employees, the loss of some of which could adversely affect its operations. Competition for talent is intense; if the Company cannot attract and retain personnel, the growth and success of the business could be adversely affected.

The Company's success is dependent upon the efforts of a relatively small management team and staff. The Company has no redundancy of personnel in key development areas, including clinical, regulatory, strategic planning and finance. The Company has employment arrangements in place with its executive and other officers, but none of these executive and other officers is bound legally to remain employed with the Company for any specific term. The Company does not have key person life insurance policies covering its executive and other officers or any of its other employees. If key individuals leave the Company, its business could be affected adversely if suitable replacement personnel are not recruited quickly. The population in northern Minnesota, where the Company's manufacturing resources are located, is small, and as a result, there are a limited number qualified personnel available in all functional areas, which could make it difficult to retain and attract the qualified personnel necessary for the development and growth of the Company's business.

The continuing trend toward consolidation of certain customer groups could result in declines in the sales volume and prices of the Company's products, and increased fees charged by customers, each of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Consolidation among wholesale distributors, chain drug stores, and group purchasing organizations has resulted in a smaller number of companies, each controlling a larger share of pharmaceutical distribution channels. For example, the Company's net revenues are concentrated among three customers representing 27%, 18% and 10% of net revenues, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2013. As of December 31, 2013, accounts receivable from these three customers was approximately 68% of the Company's net accounts receivable. Drug wholesalers and retain pharmacy chains, which represent an essential part of the distribution chain of generic pharmaceutical products, have undergone, and are continuing to undergo, significant consolidation. This consolidation may result in declines in sales volume for the Company if a customer is consolidated into another company that purchases products from a competitor. In addition, the consolidation of drug wholesalers and retail pharmacy chains could result in these groups gaining additional purchasing leverage and consequently increasing the product pricing pressures facing the Company's business and enabling those groups to charge increased fees to the Company. Additionally, the emergence of large buying groups representing independent retail pharmacies and the prevalence and influence of managed care organizations and similar institutions potentially enable those groups to extract price discounts on the Company's products. The result of these developments may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

The Company's operations might be interrupted by the occurrence of a natural disaster or other catastrophic event.

The Company's principal operations are conducted in northern Minnesota. Natural disasters or other catastrophic events could disrupt the Company's operations or those of its strategic partners, contractors and vendors. Even though the Company believes it carries commercially reasonable business interruption and liability insurance, and its contractors may carry liability insurance that protect the Company in certain events, the Company might suffer losses as a result of business interruptions that exceed the coverage available under its and its contractors' insurance policies or for which it or its contractors do not have coverage. Any natural disaster or catastrophic event could have a significant negative impact on the Company's operations and financial results, and could delay its efforts to identify and execute any strategic opportunities.

The Company has two manufacturing facilities producing a substantial portion of its products. Production at any one of these facilities could be interrupted, which could cause the Company to fail to deliver sufficient product to customers on a timely basis and have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

The Company's manufacturing capacity is based in two facilities. While these facilities are sufficient for the Company's current needs, the facilities are highly specialized and any damage to or need for replacement of all or any significant function of the Company's facilities could be very costly and time-consuming and could impair or prohibit production and shipping. A significant disruption at any one of the facilities, even on a short-term basis, whether due to a labor strike, adverse quality or compliance observation, vandalism, storm or other environmental damage, or other events could impair the Company's ability to produce and ship products to the market on a timely basis and, among other consequences, could subject the Company to claims from customers. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Virtually all contracts for the supply of pharmaceutical products by the Company to its customers contain "failure to supply" clauses. Under these clauses, if the Company is unable to supply the requested quantity of product within a certain period after receipt of a customer's purchase order, the customer is entitled to procure a substitute product elsewhere and the Company must reimburse its customer for the difference between the Company's contract price and the price the customer was forced to pay to procure the substitute product. This difference can be substantial because of the much higher spot price at which the customer must cover its requirements, and can be far in excess of the revenue that the Company would otherwise have received on the sale of its own product. The ability to produce and ship a sufficient quantity of product is therefore critical to the Company. Failure to deliver products could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

The Company's ability to utilize its net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards in the future is subject to substantial limitations.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("the Code"), if a corporation undergoes an "ownership change" (generally defined as a greater than 50 percent change (by value) in its equity ownership over a three-year period), the corporation's ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes to offset its post-change income may be limited. Further, if the historic business of BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("BioSante") is not treated as being continued by the Company for the two-year period beginning on the date of the Merger (referred to as the "continuity of business requirement"), the pre-transaction net operating loss carryforward deductions become substantially reduced or unavailable for use by the surviving corporation in the transaction. In 2009, an "ownership change" occurred with respect to BioSante, and the Merger resulted in another "ownership change" of the Company. Although the Company does not currently believe that ANIP Acquisition Company experienced an ownership change as a result of the Merger, due to the complexity of certain aspects of the applicable regulations, there is no assurance that the IRS will not successfully challenge this determination. Accordingly, the Company's ability to utilize BioSante's (and, if successfully challenged by the IRS, ANIP Acquisition Company's) net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may be substantially limited. These limitations, in turn, could result in increased future tax payments for the Company, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of the Company.

Under Section 384 of the Code, available net operating loss carryovers of BioSante or ANIP Acquisition Company may not be available to offset certain gains arising after the Merger from assets held by the other corporation at the effective time of the Merger. This limitation will apply to the extent that the gain is attributable to an unrealized built-in-gain in the assets of BioSante or ANIP Acquisition Company existing at June 19, 2013, the date of the Merger. To the extent that any such gains are recognized in the five year period after the Merger upon the disposition of any such assets, the net operating loss carryovers of the other corporation will not be available to offset such gains (but the net operating loss carryovers of the corporation that owned such assets will not be limited by Section 384 although they may be subject to other limitations under Section 382 as described above).

Management uses a variety of estimates, judgments, and assumptions in preparing the Company's consolidated financial statements. Estimates, judgments, and assumptions are inherently subject to change, and any such changes could result in corresponding changes to the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and income. Any such changes could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position and results of operations.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") requires management to make estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the period. There are inherent uncertainties involved in estimates, judgments and assumptions, and any changes in estimates, judgments and assumptions used could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position and results of operations.

In the consolidated financial statements included in the periodic reports filed with the SEC, estimates, judgments, and assumptions are used for, but not limited to, revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, accruals for chargebacks, returns and other allowances, allowance for inventory obsolescence, stock-based compensation, valuation of intangible assets, allowances for contingencies and litigation, deferred tax valuation allowance, and the depreciable lives of fixed assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates, judgments and assumptions are inherently subject to change in the future, and any such changes could result in corresponding changes to the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and income. Any such changes could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position, and results of operations.

The Company's policies regarding returns, allowances and chargebacks, and marketing programs adopted by wholesalers may reduce revenues in future fiscal periods.

Based on industry practice, the Company, like other generic drug manufacturers, has agreements with customers allowing chargebacks, product returns, administrative fees, and other rebates. Under many of these arrangements, the Company may match lower prices offered to customers by competitors. If the Company chooses to lowers its prices, it generally gives the customer a credit on the products that the customer is holding in inventory, which could reduce sales revenue and gross margin for the period the credit is provided. Like its competitors, the Company also gives credits for chargebacks to wholesalers that have contracts with the Company for their sales to hospitals, group purchasing organizations, pharmacies or other customers. A chargeback is the difference between the price the wholesaler pays and the price that the wholesaler's end-customer pays for a product. Although the Company establishes reserves based on prior experience and management's best estimates of the impact that these policies may have in subsequent periods, the Company cannot ensure that its reserves are adequate or that actual product returns, allowances and chargebacks will not exceed management's estimates.

The Company may become subject to federal and state false claims litigation brought by private individuals and the government.

The Company is subject to state and federal laws that govern the submission of claims for reimbursement. The Federal False Claims Act ("FFCA"), also known as Qui Tam, imposes civil liability and criminal fines on individuals or entities that knowingly submit, or cause to be submitted, false or fraudulent claims for payment to the government. Violations of the FFCA and other similar laws may result in criminal fines, imprisonment, and civil penalties for each false claim submitted and exclusion from federally funded health care programs, including Medicare and Medicaid. The FFCA also allows private individuals to bring a suit on behalf of the government against an individual or entity for violations of the FFCA. These suits, also known as Qui Tam actions, may be brought by, with only a few exceptions, any private citizen who has material information of a false claim that has not yet been previously disclosed. These suits have increased significantly in recent years because the FFCA allows an individual to share in any amounts paid to the federal government as a result of a successful Qui Tam action. If the Company's past or present operations are found to be in violation of any of such laws or other applicable governmental regulations, it may be subject to civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, exclusion from federal health care programs, and/or the curtailment or restructuring of its operations. Any penalties, damages, fines, curtailment, or restructuring of operations could adversely affect the Company. Actions brought against the Company for violations of these laws, even if successfully defended, could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position and results of operations.

The Company's reporting and payment obligations under the Medicaid rebate program and other governmental purchasing and rebate programs are complex and may involve subjective decisions.

The regulations regarding reporting and payment obligations with respect to Medicaid reimbursement and rebates and other governmental programs are complex. The Company's calculations and methodologies are subject to review and challenge by governmental agencies, and it is possible that such reviews could result in changes. In addition, because the Company's processes for these calculations and the judgments involved in making these calculations involve subjective decisions and complex methodologies, these calculations are subject to the risk of errors. Any determination by governmental agencies that the Company has failed to comply with its reporting and payment obligations could subject it to penalties and sanctions, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position and results of operations.

Healthcare reform legislation could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In recent years, there have been numerous initiatives on the federal and state levels for comprehensive reforms affecting the payment for, the availability of and reimbursement for healthcare services in the United States, and it is likely that federal and state legislatures and health agencies will continue to focus on health care reform in the future. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act ("PPACA") and the Health Care and Education and Reconciliation Act of 2010, which amends the PPACA (collectively, "the ACA"), were signed into law in March 2010. While the ACA may increase the number of patients who have insurance coverage for the Company's products and may otherwise increase drug coverage, they also include provisions such as, among others, the assessment of a pharmaceutical manufacturer fee, the requirement that manufacturers provide discounts to Medicare beneficiaries through the Medicare Coverage Gap Discount program, and an increase in the amount of rebates that manufacturers pay for coverage of their drugs by Medicaid programs.

The cost-containment measures that government programs and healthcare insurers are instituting both as a result of general cost pressure in the industry and healthcare reforms contained in the ACA may prevent the Company from maintaining prices for its products that are sufficient for the Company to realize profits and may otherwise significantly harm its business, financial condition and operating results. In addition, to the extent that the Company's approved products are marketed outside of the United States, foreign government pricing controls and other regulations may prevent the Company from maintaining prices for such products that are sufficient for the Company to realize profits and may otherwise significantly harm its business, financial condition and operating results.

The Company is unable to predict the future course of federal or state healthcare legislation. The ACA and further changes in the law or regulatory framework that reduce the Company's revenues or increase its costs could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

The Company is subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations, and complying with these may cause the Company to incur significant additional costs.

The pharmaceutical industry is subject to regulation by various federal authorities, including principally the FDA and, to a lesser extent, the DEA, and state governmental authorities. Federal and certain state statutes and regulations govern or influence the testing, manufacturing, packing, labeling, storing, record keeping, safety, approval, advertising, promotion, sale and distribution of the Company's products. Noncompliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements can have a broad range of consequences, including warning letters, fines, seizure of products, product recalls, total or partial suspension of production and distribution, refusal to approve NDAs or other applications or revocation of approvals previously granted, withdrawal of product from marketing, injunction, withdrawal of licenses or registrations necessary to conduct business, disqualification from supply contracts with the government, civil penalties, debarment and criminal prosecution.

The Company's research, product development and manufacturing activities have involved the controlled use of hazardous materials, and the Company may incur significant costs as a result of the need to comply with numerous laws and regulations. The Company is subject to laws and regulations enforced by the FDA, the DEA, and other regulatory statutes including the Occupational Safety and Health Act ("OSHA"), the Environmental Protection Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, and other current and potential federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of the Company's products, materials used to develop and manufacture such products, and resulting waste products. For example, certain of the Company's products, including EEMT, must be manufactured in a fully contained environment due to their potency and/or toxicity, and compliance with related OSHA requirements is costly.

The Company cannot completely eliminate the risk of contamination or injury, by accident or as the result of intentional acts, from these materials. In the event of an accident, the Company could be held liable for any damages that result, and any resulting liability could exceed its resources. The Company may also be required to incur significant costs to comply with environmental laws and regulations in the future. The Company is also subject to laws generally applicable to businesses, including but not limited to, federal, state and local regulations relating to wage and hour matters, employee classification, mandatory healthcare benefits, unlawful workplace discrimination and whistle-blowing. Any actual or alleged failure to comply with any regulation applicable to its business or any whistle-blowing claim, even if without merit, could result in costly litigation, regulatory action or otherwise harm the Company's business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flow and future prospects.

If third-party payers deny coverage, substitute another company's generic product for the Company's product, or offer inadequate levels of reimbursement, the Company may not be able to market its products effectively or it may be required to offer its products at prices lower than anticipated.

Third-party payers increasingly are challenging the prices charged for medical products and services. For example, third-party payers may deny coverage, choose to provide coverage for a competitor's bioequivalent product rather than the Company's product, or offer inadequate levels of reimbursement if they determine that a prescribed product has not received appropriate clearances from the FDA, or foreign equivalent, or other government regulators, is not used in accordance with cost-effective treatment methods as determined by the third-party payer, or is experimental, unnecessary or inappropriate. Prices also could be driven down by health maintenance organizations that control or significantly influence purchases of healthcare services and products. If third-party payers deny coverage or offer inadequate levels of reimbursement, the Company may not be able to market its products effectively or it may be required to offer its products at prices lower than anticipated.

The Company relies significantly on information technology and any failure, inadequacy, interruption or security lapse of that technology, including any cybersecurity incidents, could harm management's ability to operate the business effectively.

The Company relies significantly on its information technology and manufacturing infrastructure to effectively manage and maintain inventory and financial reports, to manufacture and ship products to customers and to invoice them in a timely manner. Any failure, accidents, inadequacy, or interruption of that infrastructure or security lapse of that technology, including cybersecurity incidents, could harm management's ability to operate the business effectively. Management's ability to manage and maintain inventory and financial reports, to manufacture and ship products to customers and invoice them timely depends significantly on the Company's general ledger, its contracted electronic data interface system, and other information systems. Cybersecurity attacks in particular are evolving and include, but are not limited to, malicious software, attempts to gain unauthorized access to data and other electronic security breaches that could lead to disruptions in systems, misappropriation of confidential or otherwise protected information and corruption of data. Cybersecurity incidents resulting in the failure of the Company's general ledger, its contracted electronic data interface system, and other information systems to operate effectively or to integrate with other systems, or a breach in security or other unauthorized access of these systems, may affect management's ability to manage and maintain inventory and financial reports, and result in delays in product fulfillment and reduced efficiency of operations. A breach in security, unauthorized access resulting in misappropriation, theft, or sabotage with respect to proprietary and confidential information, including research or clinical data could require significant capital investments to remediate any such failure, problem or breach, all of which could adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

After completion of the June 19, 2013 merger of BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("BioSante") and ANIP Acquisition Company (the "Merger"), the Company possesses not only all of the assets but also all of the liabilities of both BioSante and ANIP Acquisition Company. Discovery of previously undisclosed or unknown liabilities could have an adverse effect on the Company's business, operating results and financial condition.

Acquisitions involve risks, including inaccurate assessment of undisclosed, contingent or other liabilities or problems. After completion of the Merger, the Company possesses not only all of the assets, but also all of the liabilities of both BioSante and ANIP Acquisition Company. Although BioSante conducted a due diligence investigation of ANIP Acquisition Company and its known and potential liabilities and obligations, and ANIP Acquisition Company conducted a due diligence investigation of BioSante and its known and potential liabilities and obligations, it is possible that undisclosed, contingent or other liabilities or problems may arise after completion of the merger, which could have an adverse effect on the combined company's business, operating results and financial condition.

A substantial number of shares of the Company's common stock is held by former stockholders of ANIP Acquisition Company and management, including by persons and entities that are not subject to legal restrictions on the resale of Company common stock. As part of the Merger, these shares were subject to a lock-up period, which expired six months after the Merger. If a substantial number of these shares are sold, in particular over a short period of time, it could adversely affect the market price of the Company's common stock.

Sales by significant stockholders of a substantial number of shares of the Company's common stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales could occur, could adversely affect the market price of such shares and could materially impair the Company's ability to raise capital through equity offerings in the future. The Company is unable to predict what effect, if any, substantial market sales of securities held by significant stockholders, directors or officers of the Company, or the availability of these securities for future sale could have on the market price of the Company's common stock.

The Company's principal stockholders, directors and executive officers own a significant percentage of the Company's stock and will be able to exercise significant influence over the Company's affairs.

The Company's current principal stockholders, directors and executive officers beneficially own approximately 52.0% of the Company's outstanding capital stock entitled to vote as of December 31, 2013. As a result, these stockholders, if acting together, would be able to influence or control matters requiring approval by the Company's stockholders, including the election of directors and the approval of mergers, acquisitions or other extraordinary transactions. They may also have interests that differ from stockholders generally and may vote in a way with which other stockholders disagree and which may be adverse to their interests. This concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change of control of the Company, could deprive stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their common stock as part of a sale of the Company, and might ultimately affect the market price of the Company's common stock.

Raising additional funds by issuing additional equity securities may cause dilution to existing stockholders. Raising additional funds by issuing new debt financing may restrict the Company's operations.

The Company may seek to raise additional funds through the issuance of additional equity or equity-linked securities. If the Company were to raise funds through the issuance of additional equity or equity-linked securities, the percentage ownership of its stockholders could be diluted, potentially significantly, and these newly issued securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of its existing stockholders. In addition, the issuance of any equity securities could be at a discount to the then-prevailing market price.

If the Company requires new debt financing, there is no assurance that such a transaction will be available on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all. In addition, the Company could be subject to onerous repayment terms or covenants that restrict its ability to operate its business and make distributions to its stockholders. These restrictive covenants may include limitations on additional borrowing and specific restrictions on the use of the Company's assets, as well as prohibitions on the ability of the Company to create liens, pay dividends, redeem its stock or make investments. There is no assurance that any equity or debt financing transaction will be available on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all.

The trading price of the Company's common stock has been volatile, and an investment in the Company's common stock could decline in value.

The price of the Company's common stock has fluctuated in the past, has increased significantly since the completion of the Merger, and is likely to continue to fluctuate in the future. The securities of small capitalization, pharmaceutical companies, including the Company, from time-to- time experience significant price fluctuations, often unrelated to the operating performance of these companies. In particular, the market price of the Company's common stock may fluctuate significantly due to a variety of factors, many of which are beyond the Company's control and that may not be related to its operating performance, including, but not limited to:

- general stock market and general economic conditions in the United States and abroad, even if not directly related to the Company or its business;
- any inability to manufacture EEMT, whether due to FDA determinations or otherwise;
- disruptions in the supply of API and other ingredients used in the Company's current and planned products;
- actual or anticipated governmental agency actions, including in particular decisions or actions by the FDA or FDA advisory committee panels with respect to the Company's current products, products in development, or its competitors' products;
- changes in anticipated or actual timing of the Company's product development programs;
- competition in the Company's industry;
- the Company entering into new strategic partnering arrangements or termination of existing strategic partnering arrangements;
- public concern as to the safety or efficacy of the Company's products;
- the Company's need and ability to obtain additional financing;

- changes in laws or regulations applicable to the Company's products or business;
- period-to-period fluctuations in the Company's financial results;
- changes in key management;
- sales of shares of the Company's common stock by the Company or its stockholders;
- failure of securities analysts to initiate and maintain coverage of the Company and, with respect to any analyst coverage, the Company's failure to meet analyst estimates or the expectations of investors;
- announcements by the Company or its competitors of new products or services;
- the public's reaction to the Company's press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;
- rumors and market speculation involving the Company or other companies in the Company's business;
- actual or anticipated changes in the Company's operating results or fluctuations in its operating results;
- actual or anticipated developments in the Company's business, its competitors' businesses or the competitive landscape generally;
- litigation involving the Company, its industry or both, or investigations by regulators into the Company's operations or those of its competitors;
- announced or completed acquisitions of businesses or products by the Company or its competitors;
- new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to the Company's business;
- changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles; and
- slow or negative growth of the Company's products or markets.

In addition, the occurrence of any of the risks described in this report or in subsequent reports the Company files with or submits to the SEC from time to time could have a material and adverse impact on the market price of the Company's common stock. Securities class action litigation is sometimes brought against a company following periods of volatility in the market price of its securities or for other reasons. The Company currently is subject to such litigation. Securities litigation, whether with or without merit, could result in substantial costs and divert management's attention and resources, which could harm the Company's business and financial condition, as well as the market price of the Company's common stock.

If shareholder approval is received to increase the number of shares available for issuance under the Company's Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2008 Plan"), it could increase dilution for shareholders and the Company could incur significant expense in accounting for stock-based compensation granted under the 2008 Plan.

On July 12, 2013, the Company's Board of Directors approved grants of stock options to employees, including certain executive officers, under the 2008 Plan, subject to shareholder approval of an increase in the total shares available for issuance under the 2008 Plan, which the Company intends to seek at its next annual meeting in 2014. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had grants of 325 thousand common stock options outstanding pending shareholder approval. These grants were approved by the board on July 12, 2013, but expense related to these stock options will begin to be recognized only upon shareholder approval. While stock compensation expense is not material for the year ended December 31, 2013, if shareholders approve the increase in the total shares available for issuance under the 2008 Plan and the previously-approved stock options are issued, the stock compensation expense would be significantly greater and changes to the estimates involved in the calculation of stock compensation expense could have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial statements. Based on stock price information at December 31, 2013, if the increase in total shares available for issuance under the 2008 Plan had been approved on December 31, 2013 and these options had been issued as of December 31, 2013, there would have been approximately \$5.0 million of expense related to these options, to be expensed over the remainder of the four year service period. However, because the stock compensation expense will be calculated based on the stock price as of the date of approval by the shareholders, the actual expense could be materially higher or lower, depending on the Company's stock price as of that date. Furthermore, if additional grants are made under the 2008 Plan, the Company could incur significant expense related to stock-based compensation in future periods, and shareholders could find their holdings diluted by the increase in shares.

Continuing studies of the Company's products could result in a negative result, which could require discontinuance of product marketing, or other risk management programs.

Continuing studies of the proper utilization, safety and efficacy of pharmaceutical products are being conducted by the industry, government agencies and others. Such studies, which increasingly employ sophisticated methods and techniques, can call into question the utilization, safety and efficacy of previously marketed products, including those produced by the Company. In some cases, studies have resulted, and in the future may result, in the discontinuance of product marketing or other risk management programs such as the need for a patient registry. These situations, should they occur with respect to any products of the Company, could have a material adverse effect on the Company's profitability, business, financial position and results of operations.

Uncertainties associated with the impact of published studies regarding the adverse health effects of certain forms of hormone therapy could affect adversely the market for the Company's hormone products.

The market for hormone therapy products has been affected negatively by the Women's Health Initiative ("WHI") study and other studies that have found that the overall health risks from the use of certain hormone therapy products may exceed the benefits from the use of those products among postmenopausal women. In July 2002, the National Institutes of Health ("NIH") released data from its WHI study on the risks and benefits associated with long-term use of oral hormone therapy by women. The NIH announced that it was discontinuing the arm of the study investigating the use of oral estrogen/progestin combination hormone therapy products after an average follow-up period of 5.2 years because the product used in the study was shown to cause an increase in the risk of invasive breast cancer. The study also found an increased risk of stroke, heart attacks and blood clots and concluded that overall health risks exceeded benefits from use of combined estrogen plus progestin among postmenopausal women. Also, in July 2002, results of an observational study sponsored by the National Cancer Institute on the effects of estrogen therapy were announced. The main finding of the study was that postmenopausal women who used estrogen therapy for 10 or more years had a higher risk of developing ovarian cancer than women who never used hormone therapy. In October 2002, a significant hormone therapy study being conducted in the United Kingdom also was halted. In March 2004, the NIH announced that the estrogen-alone study was discontinued after nearly seven years because the NIH concluded that estrogen alone does not affect (either increase or decrease) heart disease, the major question being evaluated in the study. The findings indicated a slightly increased risk of stroke as well as a decreased risk of hip fracture and breast cancer. Preliminary data from the memory portion of the WHI study suggested that estrogen alone may possibly be associated with a slight increase in the risk of dementia or mild cognitive impairment.

Researchers continue to analyze data from both arms of the WHI study and other studies. Some reports indicate that the safety of estrogen products may be affected by the age of the woman at initiation of therapy. The markets for female hormone therapies for menopausal symptoms declined as a result of these published studies. The release of any follow-up or other studies that show adverse effects from hormone therapy, including in particular, hormone therapies similar to the Company's products, also could affect adversely the Company's business.

Provisions in the Company's charter documents and Delaware law could discourage or prevent a takeover, even if an acquisition would be beneficial to the Company's stockholders.

Provisions of the Company's certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire the Company, even if doing so would be beneficial to its stockholders. These provisions include:

- authorizing the issuance of "blank check" preferred shares that could be issued by the Company's board of directors to increase the number of outstanding shares and thwart a takeover attempt;
- prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors, which would otherwise allow less than a majority of stockholders to elect director candidates:
- advance notice provisions in connection with stockholder proposals and director nominations that may prevent or hinder any attempt
 by the Company's stockholders to bring business to be considered by its stockholders at a meeting or replace its board of directors;
 and
- as a Delaware corporation, the Company is also subject to provisions of Delaware law, including Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation law, which prevents certain stockholders holding more than 15% of the Company's outstanding common stock from engaging in certain business combinations without approval of the holders of at least two-thirds of its outstanding common stock not held by such 15% or greater stockholder.

Any provision of the Company's certificate of incorporation and bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change in control could limit the opportunity for the Company's stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of the Company's common stock, and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for its common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

The Company's corporate offices are located at 210 Main Street West, Baudette, Minnesota 56623. The Company-owned facility includes oral solid dose and liquid manufacturing and packaging, warehouse facilities, analytical, stability and microbiological laboratory space, and employee, office and mechanical space. The Company also owns a manufacturing facility that includes oral solid dose manufacturing and packaging for pharmaceutical products that must be manufactured in a fully contained environment, warehouse facilities, and employee, office and mechanical space. This facility is also located in Baudette, Minnesota.

The Company has leased office space for its financial headquarters in Wilmington, Delaware. The lease will expire in September 2018. The Company also leases office space in Laguna Beach, California for an executive office. This lease will expire in February 2016.

Management considers its leased and owned properties suitable and adequate for its current and foreseeable needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

A discussion of legal matters as of December 31, 2013 follows:

Shareholder Class Action and Derivative Lawsuits

On February 3, 2012, a purported class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois under the caption Thomas Lauria, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated v. BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Stephen M. Simes naming the Company and its former President and Chief Executive Officer, Stephen M. Simes, as defendants. The complaint alleges that certain of the Company's disclosures relating to the efficacy of LibiGel [®] and its commercial potential were false and/or misleading and that such false and/or misleading statements had the effect of artificially inflating the price of the Company's securities resulting in violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, Rule 10b-5 and Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.

Although a substantially similar complaint was filed in the same court on February 21, 2012, such complaint was voluntarily dismissed by the plaintiff in April 2012. The plaintiff sought to represent a class of persons who purchased the Company's securities between February 12, 2010 and December 15, 2011, and sought unspecified compensatory damages, equitable and/or injunctive relief, and reasonable costs, expert fees and attorneys' fees on behalf of such purchasers. On November 6, 2012, the plaintiff filed a consolidated amended complaint. On December 28, 2012, the Company and Mr. Simes filed motions to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint. On September 11, 2013, the Illinois district court judge granted defendants' motions to dismiss, without prejudice, and gave plaintiffs 28 days to file an amended complaint. The plaintiffs did not file an amended complaint and the matter has been concluded.

On May 7, 2012, Jerome W. Weinstein, a purported stockholder of the Company, filed a shareholder derivative action in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois under the caption Weinstein v. BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. et al., naming the Company's directors as defendants and the Company as a nominal defendant. A substantially similar complaint was filed in the same court on May 22, 2012 and another substantially similar complaint was filed in the Circuit Court for Cook County, Illinois, County Department, Chancery Division, on June 27, 2012. The suits generally related to the same events that are the subject of the class action litigation described above. The complaints allege breaches of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, gross mismanagement and unjust enrichment as causes of action occurring from at least February 2010 through December 2011. The complaints seek unspecified damages, punitive damages, costs and disbursements and unspecified reform and improvements in the Company's corporate governance and internal control procedures.

On September 24, 2012, the United States District Court consolidated the two shareholder derivative cases before it and on November 20, 2012, the plaintiffs filed their consolidated amended complaint. On January 11, 2013, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint. On September 11, 2013, the Illinois district court judge granted defendants' motions to dismiss, without prejudice, and gave plaintiffs 28 days to file an amended complaint. The plaintiffs did not file an amended complaint and the district court matter has been concluded.

On November 27, 2012, the plaintiff in the shareholder derivative action pending in Illinois state court filed an amended complaint. On January 18, 2013, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint. On July 1, 2013, the Illinois state court judge granted defendants' motions to dismiss, without prejudice, and gave plaintiffs until July 31, 2013 to file an amended complaint. On September 9, 2013, the Illinois state court judge granted defendants' motion to dismiss, with prejudice. On October 9, 2013, the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal to Illinois state appellate court. The Company believes the state court complaint is without merit and will continue to defend the action vigorously.

Management is unable to predict the outcome of the remaining lawsuit and the possible loss or range of loss, if any, associated with its resolution or any potential effect the lawsuit may have on the Company's operations. Depending on the outcome or resolution of the remaining lawsuit, it could have a material effect on the Company's operations, including its financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. No amounts have been accrued related to this legal action as of December 31, 2013.

Louisiana Medicaid Lawsuit

On September 11, 2013, the Attorney General of the State of Louisiana filed a lawsuit in Louisiana state court against the Company and numerous other pharmaceutical companies, under various state laws, alleging that each defendant caused the state's Medicaid agency to provide reimbursement for drug products that allegedly were not approved by the FDA and therefore allegedly not reimbursable under the federal Medicaid program. The lawsuit relates to three cough and cold prescription products manufactured and sold by the Company's former Gulfport, Mississippi operation, which was sold in September 2010. Through its lawsuit, the state seeks unspecified damages, statutory fines, penalties, attorney's fees and costs. On October 15, 2013, the defendants removed the lawsuit to the U.S. District Court. On November 14, 2013, the state filed a motion to remand the lawsuit to the Louisiana state court. While the Company cannot predict the outcome of the lawsuit at this time, it could be subject to material damages, penalties and fines. The Company intends to vigorously defend against all claims in the lawsuit.

Other Commitments and Contingencies

All manufacturers of the drug Reglan [®] and its generic equivalent metoclopramide, including the Company, are facing allegations from plaintiffs in various states claiming bodily injuries as a result of ingestion of metoclopramide or its brand name Reglan ® prior to the FDA's February 2009 Black Box warning requirement. The Company has been named and served in 85 separate complaints, including three in Pennsylvania, nine in New Jersey, and 73 in California, covering 2,934 plaintiffs in total. In August 2012, the Company was dismissed with prejudice from all New Jersey cases. Management considers the Company's exposure to this litigation to be limited due to several factors: (1) the only generic metoclopramide manufactured by the Company prior to the implementation of the FDA's warning requirement was an oral solution introduced after May 28, 2008; (2) the Company's market share for the oral solution was a very small portion of the overall metoclopramide market; and (3) once the Company received a request for change of labeling from the FDA, it submitted its proposed changes within 30 days, and such changes were subsequently approved by the FDA. At the present time, management is unable to assess the likely outcome of the remaining cases. The Company's insurance company has assumed the defense of this matter. In addition, the Company's insurance company renewed the Company's product liability insurance on September 1, 2012 and 2013 with absolute exclusions for claims related to Reglan ® and metoclopramide. Management is unable to predict the outcome of these matters and the possible loss or range of loss, if any, associated with their resolution or any potential effect the legal action may have on the Company's operations. Furthermore, management cannot provide assurances that the outcome of these matters will not have an adverse effect on its business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flow. Like all pharmaceutical manufacturers, the Company in the future may be exposed to other product liability claims, which could harm its business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

The Company's common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol "ANIP." The following table shows the high and low sales price for ANIP common stock as reported by the NASDAQ Global Market for each quarter in the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, as adjusted for the one-for-six reverse stock splits that occurred on June 4, 2012 and July 17, 2013:

| | | | | Common S | Stock Pri | ice | | |
|----------------|------|-------|-----|----------|-----------|-------|-----|-------|
| | | 20 |)13 | | | 20 |)12 | _ |
| | High | | Low | | High | | Low | |
| First Quarter | \$ | 9.48 | \$ | 6.60 | \$ | 44.28 | \$ | 15.84 |
| Second Quarter | \$ | 8.64 | \$ | 4.80 | \$ | 27.36 | \$ | 12.00 |
| Third Quarter | \$ | 9.94 | \$ | 5.46 | \$ | 15.72 | \$ | 7.26 |
| Fourth Quarter | \$ | 23.00 | \$ | 9.75 | \$ | 11.82 | \$ | 6.48 |

Stockholder Information

As of February 14, 2014, there were approximately 200 shareholders of record of the Company's common stock, as well as approximately 22 thousand beneficial shareholders, and six holders of record of Class C stock.

Dividends

The Company has not paid cash dividends in the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. The Company does not anticipate paying cash dividends in the near term.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities and Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

Performance Graph

Not required due to Smaller Reporting Company status.

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

Not required due to Smaller Reporting Company status.

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Please read the following discussion in conjunction with Item 1A. ("Risk Factors") and the Company's audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report. Some of the statements in the following discussion are forward-looking statements. See the discussion about forward-looking statements in Item 1. ("Business").

Overview

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company") is an integrated specialty pharmaceutical company developing, manufacturing, and marketing branded and generic prescription pharmaceuticals. The Company's targeted areas of product development currently include narcotics, oncolytics (anti-cancers), hormones and steroids, and complex formulations involving extended release and combination products. The Company has two pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities located in Baudette, Minnesota that are capable of producing oral solid dose products, as well as liquids and topicals, narcotics, and potent products that must be manufactured in a fully-contained environment. The Company's strategy is to continue to use these manufacturing assets to develop, produce, and distribute niche generic pharmaceutical products.

On June 19, 2013, BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("BioSante") acquired ANIP Acquisition Company ("ANIP") in an all-stock, tax-free reorganization (the "Merger"), in which ANIP became a wholly-owned subsidiary of BioSante. BioSante was subsequently renamed ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The Merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisition pursuant to which ANIP was considered the acquiring entity for accounting purposes. As such, ANIP's historical results of operations replace BioSante's historical results of operations for all periods prior to the Merger. The results of operations of both companies are included in the Company's consolidated financial statements for all periods after completion of the Merger.

Recent Developments

The Company's strategy is to use its assets to develop and acquire, manufacture, and market branded and generic specialty prescription pharmaceuticals. By developing and acquiring carefully-considered prescription pharmaceutical products, management believes the Company will be able to continue to grow its business, expand and diversify its product portfolio, and create long-term value for its investors.

In August 2013, the Company entered into an agreement with Sofgen to develop an oral soft gel prescription product indicated for cardiovascular health. The product will be subject to an abbreviated new drug application ("ANDA") filing once developed. Sofgen will be responsible for the development, manufacturing and regulatory submission of the product, including preparation of the ANDA, and the Company will be responsible for the marketing and distribution of the product in the U.S.

In December 2013, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire the ANDAs for 31 previously marketed generic drug products from Teva Pharmaceuticals for \$12.5 million in cash and a percentage of future gross profits from product sales. An initial payment of \$8.5 million was paid on January 2, 2014, and the balance will be paid upon receipt of hard copy materials, which receipt shall not exceed ninety (90) days from the date of agreement. The acquisition, which the Company accounted for as an asset acquisition, included 20 solid-oral immediate release products, four extended release products, and seven liquid products. All of the products have been previously approved by U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") as ANDAs.

General

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage that items in the Company's consolidated statements of operations bear to net revenues.

| | Years Ended December 31, | | | |
|--|--------------------------|---------|--|--|
| | 2013 | 2012 | | |
| Net revenues | 100.0 % | 100.0 % | | |
| Operating expenses | | | | |
| Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) | 33.2 % | 45.0 % | | |
| Research and development | 5.7 % | 5.7 % | | |
| Selling, general and administrative | 54.5 % | 46.7 % | | |
| Depreciation and amortization | 3.6 % | 2.8 % | | |
| Operating income (loss) from continuing operations | 3.0 % | (0.2)% | | |
| | | | | |
| Interest expense | 1.6 % | 6.5 % | | |
| Other expense | 1.0 % | 1.2 % | | |
| Net income (loss) from continuing operations | 0.4 % | (7.7)% | | |
| Gain on discontinued operation | 0.6 % | 0.3 % | | |
| Net income (loss) | 1.0 % | (7.4)% | | |

The following table summarizes the Company's results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

| | Years Ended Decembe | | | | |
|--|---------------------|--------|----|---------|--|
| (in thousands) | | 2013 | | 2012 | |
| Net revenues | \$ | 30,082 | \$ | 20,371 | |
| Operating expenses | | | | | |
| Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) | | 9,974 | | 9,167 | |
| Research and development | | 1,712 | | 1,158 | |
| Selling, general and administrative | | 16,388 | | 9,521 | |
| Depreciation and amortization | | 1,110 | | 567 | |
| Operating income (loss) from continuing operations | | 898 | | (42) | |
| | | | | Ì | |
| Interest expense | | 467 | | 1,327 | |
| Other expense | | 305 | | 241 | |
| Net Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operations | | | | | |
| Before (Provision) Benefit for Income Taxes | | 126 | | (1,610) | |
| | | | | | |
| (Provision) benefit for income taxes | | (20) | | 36 | |
| Net income (loss) from continuing operations | | 106 | | (1,574) | |
| • | | | | | |
| Gain on discontinued operation | | 195 | | 68 | |
| Net income (loss) | \$ | 301 | \$ | (1,506) | |

Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Net Revenues

| (in thousands) | Years Ended December 31, | | | | | |
|------------------------------------|--------------------------|--------|----|--------|-------------|-------------|
| | | 2013 | | 2012 | Change | % Change |
| Generic pharmaceutical products | \$ | 19,281 | \$ | 10,157 | \$ 9,124 | 89.8 % |
| Branded pharmaceutical products | | 3,370 | | 1,829 | 1,541 | 84.3 % |
| Contract manufacturing | | 6,018 | | 7,557 | (1,539) | (20.4)% |
| Contract services and other income | | 1,413 | | 828 | 585 | 70.7 % |
| | | | | | | |
| Total net revenues | \$ | 30,082 | \$ | 20,371 | \$ 9,711 | 47.7 % |

The Company has historically derived substantially all of its revenues from sales of generic and branded pharmaceutical products, contract manufacturing, and contract services, which include product development services, laboratory services, and royalties on net sales of certain contract manufactured products. Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 was \$30.1 million compared to \$20.4 million for 2012.

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased \$9.7 million, or 47.7%, compared to 2012, primarily as a result of the following factors:

• Net revenues for generic pharmaceutical products were \$19.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, an increase of 89.8% compared to \$10.2 million for 2012. A primary reason for the \$9.1 million increase was an \$8.1 million increase in revenue related to Esterified Estrogen with Methyltestosterone tablets ("EEMT"), which was the result of increases in both market share and prices per bottle, due to a significant decrease in competition, beginning in the third quarter of 2013, which the Company cannot be certain will continue. For the year ended December 31, 2013, EEMT comprised 33% of the Company's net sales, a substantial increase over the prior year wherein EEMT comprised only 9% of the Company's net sales. In the third quarter of 2013, a significant competitor stopped producing EEMT, which led to a material increase in the Company's market share for the product and enabled the Company to significantly increase the price it charges for the product. Market share gains on Opium Tincture and Fluvoxamine Maleate tablets also contributed to increased generic product revenues.

As discussed further under Item 1. Business – Government Regulations – Unapproved Products, the Company markets EEMT and Opium Tincture without FDA-approved NDAs or ANDAs. The FDA's policy with respect to the continued marketing of unapproved products appears in the FDA's September 2011 Compliance Policy Guide Sec. 440.100 titled "Marketed New Drugs without Approved NDAs or ANDAs." Under this policy, the FDA has stated that it will follow a risk-based approach with regard to enforcement against marketing of unapproved products. The FDA evaluates whether to initiate enforcement action on a case-by-case basis, but gives higher priority to enforcement action against products in certain categories, such as those with potential safety risks or that lack evidence of effectiveness. While the Company believes that, so long as it complies with applicable manufacturing and labeling standards, the FDA will not take action against it under the current enforcement policy, it can offer no assurances that the FDA will continue this policy or not take a contrary position with any individual product or group of products. The Company's combined net revenues for these products for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were \$14.6 million and \$6.0 million, respectively.

- Net revenues for branded pharmaceutical products were \$3.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, an increase of 84.3% compared to \$1.8 million for the same period in 2012. The primary reason for the increase was higher unit sales of Reglan [®] tablets. Higher unit sales of Cortenema [®] contributed to the increase to a lesser extent.
- Contract manufacturing revenues were \$6.0 million for the year ended December 31 2013, a decrease of 20.4% from \$7.6 million for 2012, due to decreased orders from contract manufacturing customers during the 2013 period. One group of products that the Company manufactures on behalf of a contract customer is marketed by that customer without an FDA-approved NDA. If the FDA took enforcement action against such customer, the customer may be required to seek FDA approval for the group of products or withdraw them from the market. The Company's contract manufacturing revenue for the group of unapproved products for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 was \$2.0 million and \$1.4 million, respectively.
- Contract services and other income were \$1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, an increase of 70.7% from approximately \$0.8 million for 2012, due to a \$0.5 million non-recurring payment from Teva in relation to the Teva license agreement acquired in the Merger. The Company receives royalties on the net sales of a group of contract-manufactured products, which are marketed by the contract customer without an FDA-approved NDA. If the FDA took enforcement action against such customer, the customer may be required to seek FDA approval for the group of products or withdraw them from the market. The Company's royalties on the net sales of these unapproved products for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were \$330 thousand and \$284 thousand, respectively.

Cost of Sales (Exclusive of Depreciation and Amortization)

| (in thousands) | Y | Years Ended December 31, | | | | | |
|---|----|--------------------------|----|-------|----|------|-------------|
| | | 2012 | | 2012 | CI | | % Change |
| | | 2013 | | 2012 | CI | ange | Change |
| Cost of sales (excl. depreciation and amortization) | \$ | 9,974 | \$ | 9,167 | \$ | 807 | 8.8 % |

Cost of sales consists of direct labor, including manufacturing and packaging, active and inactive pharmaceutical ingredients, freight costs, and packaging components. Cost of sales does not include depreciation and amortization expense, which is reported as a separate component of operating expenses on the Company's consolidated statements of operations.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, cost of sales increased to \$10.0 million from \$9.2 million for 2012, an increase of \$0.8 million or 8.8%, primarily as a result of an increase in sales of generic and branded pharmaceutical products.

Cost of sales as a percentage of net revenues decreased to 33.2% during the year ended December 31, 2013 from 45.0% for 2012, primarily as a result of a price increase for EEMT. Sales of EEMT provided approximately 33% of total net revenues, but only approximately 24% of cost of sales in 2013. In addition, the Company experienced decreases in the costs of raw materials for Fluvoxamine Maleate tablets and EEMT, which were the result of establishing long-term supply agreements with vendors.

The Company sources the raw materials for its products, including active pharmaceutical ingredients ("API"), from both domestic and international suppliers. As discussed in Item 1. Business – Manufacturing, Suppliers and Raw Materials, only a single source of API is generally qualified for use in each product due to the costs and time required to validate a second source of supply. Changes in API suppliers usually must be approved by the FDA, which can take 18 months or longer. As a result, the Company is dependent upon its current vendors to supply reliably the API required for ongoing product manufacturing. In addition, certain of the Company's API for its drug products, including those that are marketed without approved NDAs or ANDAs, are sourced from international suppliers. From time to time the Company has experienced temporary disruptions in the supply of certain of such imported API due to FDA inspections.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company purchased approximately 37% of total costs of sales from three suppliers. As of December 31, 2013, amounts payable to these suppliers was immaterial.

The Company has supply agreements with two vendors that include purchase minimums. Pursuant to these agreements, the Company will be required to purchase a total of \$2.2 million of API from these two vendors in the year ended December 31, 2014.

Other Operating Expenses

| (in thousands) | Y | Years Ended December 31, | | | | | |
|-------------------------------------|----------|--------------------------|----|--------|----|--------|---------------|
| | | 2013 | | 2012 | | Change | % Change |
| Research and development | \$ | 1,712 | \$ | 1,158 | \$ | 554 | 47.8 % |
| Selling, general and administrative | | 16,388 | | 9,521 | | 6,867 | 72.1 % |
| Depreciation and amortization | <u> </u> | 1,110 | | 567 | | 543 | 95.8 % |
| Total other operating expenses | \$ | 19,210 | \$ | 11,246 | \$ | 7,964 | <u>70.8</u> % |

Other operating expenses consist of research and development costs, selling, general and administrative expenses, and depreciation and amortization. For year ended December 31, 2013, other operating expenses increased to \$19.2 million from \$11.2 million for the same period in 2012, an increase of \$8.0 million, or 70.8%, primarily as a result of the following factors:

- Research and development expenses increased from \$1.2 million in 2012 to \$1.7 million in 2013, due to increased expenses incurred with respect to the RiconPharma and Sofgen collaborative arrangements. The Company anticipates that research and development costs will continue to increase based on the Company's strategy to expand its product portfolio.
- Selling, general and administrative expenses increased from \$9.5 million in 2012 to \$16.4 million in 2013, primarily as a result of \$6.2 million of expenses incurred relating to the Merger, including \$4.5 million of non-cash transaction bonuses paid to the Company's executives upon completion of the Merger. In addition, one-time bonuses paid to certain officers after completion of the merger and increases in personnel contributed to the increase in expense.
- Depreciation and amortization increased from \$0.6 million in 2012 to \$1.1 million in 2013, an increase of 95.8%, due to amortization of the Teva license acquired in the Merger. The Teva license is being amortized over its estimated useful life of 11 years.

The Company expects other operating expenses to continue to increase in the future to support anticipated additional revenue growth, as well as from anticipated additional research and product development costs.

Other Expenses

| (in thousands) | Yes | ars Ended Dec | ember 31, | | |
|----------------------|-----|---------------|-----------|--------|-------------|
| | 2 | 013 | 2012 | Change | % Change |
| Interest expense | \$ | 467 \$ | 1,327 | \$ (8) | 60) (64.8)% |
| Other expense | | 305 | 241 | (| 64 26.4 % |
| | | | | | |
| Total other expenses | \$ | 772 \$ | 1,568 | \$ (7) | 96) (50.8)% |

For the year ended December 31, 2013, other expenses decreased to \$0.8 million from \$1.6 million in 2012, a decrease of \$0.8 million, or 50.8%, primarily as a result of the following factors:

- Interest expense decreased from \$1.3 million to \$0.5 million. In June 2012, all of ANIP's subordinated debt was converted to Series D convertible preferred stock. In addition, the Company paid down its revolving line of credit in the second quarter of 2013, in connection with the Merger. The resulting reductions from both the subordinated debt conversion and repayment of the revolving line of credit were partially offset by an early termination fee and accelerated amortization of deferred loan costs incurred upon repayment of the line of credit.
- Other expense increased from \$0.2 million to \$0.3 million as a result of payments totaling \$0.4 million to certain of the Company's investors for monitoring and advisory fees, partially offset by other income from the third quarter resulting from the settling of several aged liabilities.

Gain on Discontinued Operation

| (in thousands) | Yea | rs Ended Dece | mber 31, | | |
|--|-----|---------------|----------|--------|----------|
| | 20 | 013 | 2012 | Change | % Change |
| Gain on discontinued operation, net of tax | \$ | 195 \$ | 68 | \$ 127 | 187.6 % |

Gain on discontinued operation consists of revenue and expenses associated with the Company's over-the-counter pharmaceutical products operation in Gulfport, Mississippi. This operation was sold in September 2010.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, gain on discontinued operation, net of \$38 thousand of tax, was the result of finalizing a portion of the discontinued operation's remaining liabilities. For the year ended December 31, 2012, gain on discontinued operation, net of \$36 thousand of tax, consisted of various vendor settlements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table highlights selected liquidity and working capital information from the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

| (in thousands) | December 31, | | | |
|--------------------------------|--------------|--------|----|-------|
| | | 2013 | | 2012 |
| Cash and cash equivalents | \$ | 11,105 | \$ | 11 |
| Accounts receivable, net | | 12,513 | | 5,432 |
| Inventories | | 3,518 | | 2,810 |
| Prepaid expenses | | 580 | | 313 |
| Total current assets | \$ | 27,716 | \$ | 8,566 |
| | ' <u>-</u> | | | |
| Accounts payable | \$ | 1,429 | \$ | 1,994 |
| Accrued expenses | | 1,326 | | 927 |
| Returned goods reserve | | 736 | | 411 |
| Deferred revenue | | 47 | | 315 |
| Borrowing under line of credit | | = | _ | 4,065 |
| Total current liabilities | \$ | 3,538 | \$ | 7,712 |

At December 31, 2013, the Company had approximately \$11.1 million in cash and cash equivalents. On January 2, 2014 the Company paid \$8.5 million to Teva Pharmaceuticals as the first installment in a transaction in which the Company acquired ANDAs for 31 products for \$12.5 million. The remaining \$4 million will be paid from funds stemming from operating cash flows. At December 31, 2012, the Company had \$11 thousand in cash and cash equivalents and unused availability of \$0.9 million under its then-existing line of credit.

The Company believes that the combination of its current cash and cash equivalents and other financial resources, consisting of current working capital and anticipated future operating revenue, will be sufficient to enable it to meet its working capital requirements for at least the next 12 months. If the Company's assumptions underlying estimated revenue and expenses prove to be wrong, or if its cash requirements change materially as a result of shifts in its business or strategy, the Company may require additional financing. The Company does not currently have any bank credit lines. If in the future the Company does not turn profitable or generate cash from operations as anticipated and additional capital is needed to support operations, management may be unable to obtain such financing, or obtain it on favorable terms, in which case the Company may be required to curtail development of new products, limit expansion of operations or accept financing terms that are not as attractive as desired.

The Company has never generated positive cash flows from operations. To bridge the gap between revenues and operating and capital needs, the Company has, in the past, relied on a variety of financing sources, including the issuance of equity and equity-linked securities and revolving lines of credit. The Company's consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis that assumes that it will continue as a going concern and which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. These statements do not include any adjustments that might result if the carrying amount of recorded assets and liabilities are not realized.

The Company's primary cash requirements are to fund operations, including research and development programs and collaborations, to support general and administrative activities, and to fund acquisitions of products or businesses. The Company's future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:

- proportions of net revenues comprised of contract manufacturing and sales of the Company's generic and branded products;
- pricing and payment terms with customers;

- costs of raw materials and payment terms with suppliers;
- capital expenditures and equipment purchases to support product launches; and
- business and product acquisitions.

Consolidation among wholesale distributors, chain drug stores and group purchasing organizations has resulted in a smaller number of companies each controlling a larger share of pharmaceutical distribution channels. The Company's net revenues were concentrated among three customers representing 27%, 18%, and 10% of net revenues, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2013. As of December 31, 2013, accounts receivable from these three customers totaled approximately 68% of the Company's net accounts receivable. As a result, negotiated payment terms with these customers have a material impact on the Company's liquidity and working capital.

Two of the Company's generic pharmaceutical products, EEMT and Opium Tincture, account for approximately 33% and 16% of the Company's net revenues in 2013, respectively, versus 9% and 20% of net revenues in 2012, respectively. As a result, market pricing for these products, combined with the costs of raw materials and payment terms with suppliers, have a material impact on the Company's liquidity and working capital. The increase in revenue related to EEMT has had a significant impact on the Company's financial results and if revenues from EEMT were to decrease substantially or entirely, it would have a material, negative impact on the Company's cash flows and liquidity.

Sources and Uses of Cash

Debt Financing

At December 31, 2013, all of the Company's previous lines of credit had either expired or were repaid and terminated, with no amounts outstanding. In June 2012, the Company entered into a new revolving loan agreement with a commercial bank in the amount of \$5.0 million. As of December 31, 2012, approximately \$4.1 million was outstanding under the loan agreement, at an effective interest rate of 6.0%. The Company was not in compliance with certain covenants under the loan agreement as of December 31, 2012. The Company obtained a waiver from its lender, the loan covenants were revised, and the revolver loan limit was increased to \$6 million. The Company remained in compliance with the revised covenants until the loan was repaid in June 2013.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had approximately \$11.1 million in cash and cash equivalents. At December 31, 2012, the Company had approximately \$11 thousand in cash and cash equivalents and unused availability under its line of credit of approximately \$0.9 million.

Equity Financing

In December 2013, a warrant-holder exercised warrants to purchase approximately 90 thousand shares at \$9 per share. The Company received \$0.8 million as a result of this exercise.

Uses of Cash

On January 2, 2014 the Company paid \$8.5 million to Teva Pharmaceuticals as the first installment in a transaction in which the Company acquired ANDAs for 31 products for \$12.5 million.

Discussion of Cash Flows

The following table summarizes the net cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in) operating activities, investing activities and financing activities for the periods indicated:

| (in thousands) | Years ended December 31, | | | | |
|----------------------|--------------------------|-------|--|--|--|
| | 2013 | 2012 | | | |
| Operating Activities | \$ (5,484) \$ | (137) | | | |
| Investing Activities | \$ 20,267 \$ | (292) | | | |
| Financing Activities | \$ (3,689) \$ | 440 | | | |

Net Cash Used In/Provided By Operations

Net cash used in operating activities was \$5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to \$0.1 million during the same period in 2012, an increase in the use of cash of \$5.3 million between the periods. This increase was due to changes in current assets and current liabilities, partially offset by the change from a net loss in 2012 to net income in 2013. There was a \$6.0 million increase in cash provided in 2013 due to the Company's net income/(loss) from continuing operations, after adjusting for non-cash expenses. \$1.8 million of this increase was due to the change from a net loss in 2012 to net income in 2013. In addition, increases in non-cash expenses, primarily due to \$4.4 million of non-cash expenses related to the Merger and a \$0.5 million increase in depreciation and amortization expense were partially offset by a \$0.9 million decrease in non-cash interest relating to equity-linked securities and loan cost amortization.

Increases in current assets and decreases in current liabilities (in each case a use of cash) for the year ended December 31, 2013 totaled \$11.4 million compared to \$0.1 million for the same period in 2012, an increase of approximately \$11.3 million between the periods. Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses increased by \$6.8 million and \$0.1 million more in the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, than in the prior year periods. The increase in accounts receivable was due to increased sales in the third and fourth quarters of 2013. Accrued compensation and accounts payable decreased by \$2.9 million and \$1.4 million more in the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, than in the prior year periods. Finally, accrued expenses increased by \$0.2 million less than it increased in the prior year.

Net Cash Provided by/Used in Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 was \$20.3 million, principally due to \$18.2 million of cash acquired in the Merger and the release of \$2.2 million of restricted cash held for severance payments, partially offset by capital expenditures during the period. Net cash used in investing activities was \$0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 and related primarily to capital expenditures.

Net Cash Used in/Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was \$3.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, resulting primarily from the \$4.1 million repayment in June 2013 of the Company's revolving line of credit in connection with the Merger and \$0.4 million of treasury stock repurchases, partially offset by \$0.8 million of proceeds received for a warrant exercised in December 2013. Net cash provided by financing activities was \$0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, which included \$1.0 million in increased borrowings under ANI's revolving line of credit, net of payment of debt issuance costs of \$0.3 million and \$0.3 million in note payable repayments.

Critical Accounting Estimates

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is based on the Company's consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. In the Company's consolidated financial statements, estimates are used for, but not limited to, stock-based compensation, allowance for doubtful accounts, accruals for chargebacks, returns and other allowances, allowance for inventory obsolescence, valuation of derivative liabilities, accruals for contingent liabilities, fair value of long-lived assets, deferred taxes and valuation allowance, and the depreciable lives of fixed assets.

On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates these estimates and assumptions, including those described below. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates and assumptions form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Due to the estimation processes involved, the following summarized accounting policies and their application are considered to be critical to understanding the Company's business operations, financial condition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized for product sales and contract manufacturing product sales upon passing of risk and title to the customer, when estimates of the selling price and discounts, rebates, promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, and other potential adjustments are reasonably determinable, collection is reasonably assured, and the Company has no further performance obligations. Contract manufacturing arrangements are typically less than two weeks in duration, and therefore the revenue is recognized upon completion of the aforementioned factors rather than using a proportional performance method of revenue recognition. The estimates for discounts, rebates, promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, and other potential adjustments reduce gross revenues to net revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, and are presented as current liabilities or reductions in accounts receivable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets (see "Accruals for Chargebacks, Returns, and Other Allowances"). Historically, the Company has not entered into revenue arrangements with multiple elements.

Occasionally, the Company engages in contract services, which include product development services, laboratory services, and royalties on net sales of certain contract manufactured products. For these services, revenue is recognized according to the terms of the agreement with the customer, which sometimes include substantive, measurable risk-based milestones, and when the Company has a contractual right to receive such payment, the contract price is fixed or determinable, the collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured, and the Company has no further performance obligations under the agreement. The Company recognized \$1.4 million and \$0.8 million of revenue related to contract services in 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Company's revenue recognition accounting methodologies contain uncertainties because they require management to make assumptions and to apply judgment to estimate the amount of discounts, rebates, promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, and other potential adjustments, which are accounted for as reductions to revenue. These estimates are based on historical experience.

The Company has not made any material changes to its revenue recognition policies during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. Management believes it is unlikely that there will be a material change in the future estimates or assumptions used to measure estimates for discounts, rebates, promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, and other potential adjustments. However, if actual results were not consistent with management's estimates, the Company could be exposed to losses or gains that could be material, as any changes to these estimates could cause an increase or decrease in revenue recognized during the year. For example, if there were a 10% change to these adjustments throughout the year, Net Revenues and Net Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operations before (Provision)/Benefit for Income Taxes for the year ended December 31, 2013 would be affected by \$3.3 million.

Accruals for Chargebacks, Returns and Other Allowances

The Company's generic and branded product revenues are typically subject to agreements with customers allowing chargebacks, product returns, administrative fees, and other rebates and prompt payment discounts. The Company accrues for these items at the time of sale based on the estimates and methodologies described below. In the aggregate, these accruals, reflected as a decrease to gross sales, exceed 60% of generic and branded gross product sales, reduce gross revenues to net revenues in the consolidated statements of operations, and are presented as current liabilities or reductions in accounts receivable in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company continually monitors and re-evaluates the accruals as additional information becomes available, which includes, among other things, updates to trade inventory levels and customer product mix. The Company makes adjustments to the accruals at the end of each reporting period, to reflect any such updates to the relevant facts and circumstances. Accruals are relieved upon receipt of payment from or issuance of credit to the customer.

Chargebacks

As discussed in Note 1 of Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company estimates the amount of chargebacks based its actual historical experience. A number of factors influence current period chargebacks by impacting the average selling price ("ASP") of products, including customer mix, negotiated terms, product sales mix, volume of off-contract purchases, and wholesale acquisition cost ("WAC").

The Company has not made any material changes to its policy for estimating chargeback accruals during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. Management believes it is unlikely that there will be a material change in the future estimates or assumptions used to measure chargeback estimates. However, if actual results were not consistent with management's estimates, the Company could be exposed to losses or gains that could be material, as changes to chargeback estimates could cause an increase or decrease in revenue recognized during the year and increase or decrease accounts receivable. If there were a 10% change in the chargeback estimates throughout the year, the Company's net earnings would be affected by \$2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Returns

As discussed in Note 1 of Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company's estimate for returns is based upon its historical experience with actual returns. While such experience has allowed for reasonable estimation in the past, history may not always be an accurate indicator of future returns.

The Company has not made any material changes to its policy for estimating returns during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. Management believes it is unlikely that there will be a material change in the future estimates or assumptions used to measure estimates of goods returned. However, if actual results were not consistent with management's estimates, the Company could be exposed to losses or gains that could be material, as changes to returns estimates could cause an increase or decrease in revenue recognized during the year and decrease or increase the returned goods reserve. If there were a 10% change in the returns estimates throughout the year, the Company's net earnings would be affected by \$0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Administrative Fees and Other Rebates

As discussed in Note 1 of Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company accrues for fees and rebates, by product by wholesaler, at the time of sale based on contracted rates, ASPs, and on-hand inventory counts obtained from wholesalers.

The Company has not made any material changes to its policy for estimating administrative fee accruals during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. Management believes it is unlikely that there will be a material change in the future estimates or assumptions used to measure estimates of administrative fees. However, if actual results were not consistent with management's estimates, the Company could be exposed to losses or gains that could be material, as changes to these estimates could cause an increase or decrease in revenue recognized during the year and increase or decrease accounts receivable. If there were a 10% change in the administrative fees estimates throughout the year, the Company's net earnings would be affected by \$0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Prompt Payment Discounts

As discussed in Note 1 of Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company reserves for sales discounts based on invoices outstanding, assuming, based on past experience, that 100% of available discounts will be taken.

The Company has not made any material changes to its policy for estimating prompt payment discounts accruals during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. Management believes that it is unlikely that there will be a material change in the future estimates or assumptions used to measure estimates of prompt payment discounts. If customers do not take 100% of available discounts as estimated by the Company, the Company could need to re-adjust its methodology for calculating the prompt payment discount reserve. If there were a 10% decrease in the prompt payment discounts estimates throughout the year, the Company's net earnings would increase by \$0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of rights to produce pharmaceutical products and a license. These intangible assets were recorded at fair value and are stated net of accumulated amortization.

The rights and licenses are amortized over their remaining estimated useful lives, ranging from two to 11 years, based on the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives directly impact the amount of amortization expense recorded for these assets on a quarterly and annual basis.

In addition, the Company tests for impairment of definite-lived intangible assets when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. Judgment is used in determining when these events and circumstances arise. If it is determined that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable, judgment and estimates are used to assess the fair value of the assets and to determine the amount of any impairment loss.

Goodwill

Goodwill relates to the Merger and represents the excess of the total purchase consideration over the fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities, using the purchase method of accounting. Goodwill is not amortized, but is subject to periodic review for impairment. As a result, the amount of goodwill is directly impacted by the estimates of the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

In addition, goodwill is reviewed annually, as of October 31, and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the goodwill might not be recoverable. Judgment is used in determining when these events and circumstances arise. The Company performs its review of goodwill on its one reporting unit. If it is determined that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable, judgment and estimates are used to assess the fair value of the assets and to determine the amount of any impairment loss.

The carrying value of goodwill at December 31, 2013 was \$1.8 million. Management believes it is unlikely that there will be a material change in the future estimates or assumptions used to test for impairment losses on goodwill. However, if actual results are not consistent with management's estimates or assumptions, the Company may be exposed to an impairment charge that could be material.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan that includes stock options and restricted stock, which are awarded in exchange for employee and non-employee director services. The Company recognizes the estimated fair value of stock-based awards and classifies the expense where the underlying salaries are classified, For the year ended December 31, 2013, all stock-based awards were classified as sales, general and administrative expense in the accompanying statements of operations. Stock-based compensation cost for stock options is determined at the grant date using an option pricing model and stock-based compensation cost for restricted stock is based on the closing market price of the stock at the grant date. The value of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the employee's requisite service period.

Valuation of stock awards requires management to make assumptions and to apply judgment to determine the fair value of the awards. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the Company's stock price, dividend yields, future employee turnover rates, and future employee stock option exercise behaviors. Changes in these assumptions can affect the fair value estimate.

Estimation of awards that will ultimately vest requires judgment for the amounts that will be forfeited due to failure to fulfill service conditions. To the extent actual results or updated estimates differ from current estimates, such amounts are recorded as a cumulative adjustment in the period estimates are revised. Changes in estimates could affect compensation expense within individual periods.

On July 12, 2013, the Company's Board of Directors approved grants of stock options to employees, including certain executive officers, under the 2008 Plan, subject to shareholder approval of an increase in the total shares available for issuance under the 2008 Plan, which the Company intends to seek at its next annual meeting in 2014. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had grants of 325 thousand common stock options outstanding pending shareholder approval. These grants were approved by the board on July 12, 2013, but expense related to these stock options will begin to be recognized only upon shareholder approval. While stock compensation expense is not material for the year ended December 31, 2013, if shareholders approve the increase in the total shares available for issuance under the 2008 Plan and the previously-approved stock options are issued, the stock compensation expense would be significantly greater and changes to the estimates involved in the calculation of stock compensation expense could have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial statements. Based on stock price information at December 31, 2013, if the increase in total shares available for issuance under the 2008 Plan had been approved on December 31, 2013 and these options had been issued as of December 31, 2013, there would have been approximately \$5.0 million of expense related to these options, to be expensed over the remainder of the four year service period. However, because the stock compensation expense will be calculated based on the stock price as of that date. Estimates and assumptions are based upon information currently available. However, if actual results are not consistent with current estimates or assumptions, the Company could be exposed to changes in stock-based compensation expense that could be material.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that such tax rate changes are enacted. The measurement of a deferred tax asset is reduced, if necessary, by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Management uses a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, as well as guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties and financial statement reporting disclosures. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The Company has not identified any uncertain income tax positions that could have a material impact to the consolidated financial statements. The Company is subject to taxation in various United States jurisdictions and remains subject to examination by taxing jurisdictions for the years 1998 and all subsequent periods due to the availability of net operating loss carryforwards. To the extent the Company prevails in matters for which a liability has been established, or is required to pay amounts in excess of its established liability, the Company's effective income tax rate in a given financial statement period could be materially affected. An unfavorable tax settlement generally would require use of the Company's cash and may result in an increase in the Company's effective income tax rate in the period of resolution. A favorable tax settlement may reduce the Company's effective income tax rate and would be recognized in the period of resolution.

The Company considers potential tax effects resulting from discontinued operations and records intra-period tax allocations, when those effects are deemed material. The Company's effective income tax rate is also affected by changes in tax law, the level of earnings and the results of tax audits.

Although management believes that the judgments and estimates discussed herein are reasonable, actual results could differ, and the Company may be exposed to losses or gains that could be material.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued guidance related to additional reporting and disclosure of amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income ("OCI"). Under this new guidance, companies are required to disclose the amount of income or loss reclassified out of OCI to each respective line item on the income statement where net income is presented. The guidance allows companies to elect whether to disclose the reclassification either in the notes to the financial statements, or on the face of the income statement. The adoption of this standard in 2013 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

In July 2012, the FASB issued accounting guidance to simplify the evaluation for impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets. Under the updated guidance, an entity has the option of first performing a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired before proceeding to the quantitative impairment test under which it would calculate the asset's fair value. When performing the qualitative assessment, the entity must evaluate events and circumstances that may affect the significant inputs used to determine the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset. The adoption of this standard in 2013 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of each of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC.

Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

Not required due to Smaller Reporting Company status.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not required due to Smaller Reporting Company status.

Item 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary (the "Company") as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders' equity/(deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2013. The financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York February 28, 2014

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

| | Dec | December 31, 2013 | | cember 31, 2012 |
|---|------------------|----------------------|-----------|--------------------|
| Assets | | | | |
| Current Assets | | | | |
| Cash and cash equivalents | \$ | 11,105 | \$ | 11 |
| Accounts receivable, net of \$5,104 and \$6,124 of adjustments for chargebacks | | | | |
| and other allowances at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively | | 12,513 | | 5,432 |
| Inventories, net | | 3,518 | | 2,810 |
| Prepaid expenses | | 580 | | 313 |
| Total Current Assets | | 27,716 | | 8,566 |
| 10th 0th 15500 | | | | |
| Property and Equipment, net | | 4,537 | | 4,880 |
| Deferred loan costs, net | | - | | 217 |
| Intangible assets, net | | 10,409 | | 85 |
| Goodwill | | 1,838 | | - |
| ood in In | | 1,000 | | |
| Total Assets | \$ | 44,500 | \$ | 13,748 |
| Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity/(Deficit) | | | | |
| Current Liabilities | | | | |
| Accounts payable | \$ | 1,429 | \$ | 1,994 |
| Accrued expenses | Ψ | 1,326 | Ψ | 927 |
| Returned goods reserve | | 736 | | 411 |
| Deferred revenue | | 47 | | 315 |
| Borrowings under line of credit | | - | | 4,065 |
| Total Current Liabilities | | 3,538 | | 7,712 |
| Total Current Elabilities | | 3,330 | | 7,712 |
| Commitments and Contingencies (Note 14) | | | | |
| Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (Note 9) | | _ | | 48,751 |
| redecimate convertible referred block (Note 7) | | | | 10,731 |
| Stockholders' Equity/(Deficit) | | | | |
| Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value, 33,333,334 shares authorized; 9,629,174 shares | | | | |
| issued and 9,619,941 shares outstanding at December 31, 2013; 4,070,373 shares | | | | |
| issued and outstanding at December 31, 2012 | | 1 | | _ |
| Class C Special Stock, \$0.0001 par value, 781,281 shares authorized; 10,868 shares | | • | | |
| issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively | | _ | | _ |
| Preferred Stock, \$0.0001 par value, 1,666,667 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and | | | | |
| outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively | | - | | - |
| Treasury stock, 9,233 shares of common stock, at cost, at December 31, 2013 | | (68) | | - |
| Additional paid-in capital | | 89,501 | | 1,083 |
| Accumulated deficit | | (48,472) | | (43,798) |
| Total Stockholders' Equity/(Deficit) | | 40,962 | | (42,715) |
| | Φ. | 44.500 | Φ. | 10.740 |
| Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity/(Deficit) | <u>\$</u> | 44,500 | <u>\$</u> | 13,748 |
| The accompanying notes are an integra | al part of these | consolidated | tinanci | ial statements. |

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

| | Years ended Decem 2013 | ber 31, 2012 |
|--|-------------------------------|-----------------|
| Net Revenues | \$ 30,082 \$ | 20,371 |
| Operating Expenses | | |
| Cost of sales (excluding depreciation and amortization) | 9,974 | 9,167 |
| Research and development | 1,712 | 1,158 |
| Selling, general and administrative | 16,388 | 9,521 |
| Depreciation and amortization | 1,110 | 567 |
| Total Operating Expenses | 29,184 | 20,413 |
| Operating Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operations | 898 | (42) |
| Other Expense | | |
| Interest expense | (467) | (1,327) |
| Other expense | (305) | (241) |
| Net Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operations | | |
| Before Benefit for Income Taxes | 126 | (1,610) |
| (Provision)/Benefit for income taxes | (20) | 36 |
| Net Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operations | 106 | (1,574) |
| Discontinued Operation | | |
| Gain on discontinued operation, net of provision (benefit) for income taxes | 195 | 68 |
| Net Income/(Loss) | \$ 301 \$ | (1,506) |
| Computation of Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operations Attributable to Common Stockholders: | | |
| Net Income/(Loss) from Continuing Operations | \$ 106 \$ | (1,574) |
| Preferred stock dividends | (4,975) | (6,922) |
| (Loss) from Continuing Operations | | |
| Attributable to Common Stockholders | \$ (4,869) \$ | (8,496) |
| Basic and Diluted Income/(Loss) Per Share: | | |
| Continuing operations | \$ (0.96) | N/A (1) |
| Discontinued operation | 0.04 | N/A (1) |
| Basic and Diluted Income/(Loss) Per Share | \$ (0.92) | N/A (1) |
| Basic and Diluted Weighted-Average Shares Outstanding | 5,071 | <u>N/A</u> (1) |

⁽¹⁾ Earnings per common share is not calculable because common shareholders from ANIP Acquisition Company did not receive consideration from the June 19, 2013 Merger with BioSante. See Note 1 for further details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity/(Deficit) For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

(in thousands)

| | Sto | Common Common Stock Stock Par Value Shares | | Class C Special Stock | | Special P | | Additional Paid-in Capital | | Treasury Stock Shares | | Treasury Stock | Accumulated Deficit | | Total |
|---|-----|--|-------|-----------------------------|---|-----------|--------|----------------------------------|----|-----------------------------|----|-------------------|------------------------|--|-------|
| Balance, December 31, 2011 | \$ | - | 3,045 | \$ | - | \$ | 1,086 | - | \$ | _ | \$ | (35,370) | \$ (34,284) | | |
| Issuance of Common Stock upon Cashless Warrant Exercise | | 2 | 22 | | - | | (2) | - | | - | | - | - | | |
| Issuance of Peferred Stock upon Cashless Warrant Exercise | | - | - | | - | | (3) | - | | - | | - | (3) | | |
| Preferred Stock Dividends | | - | - | | - | | - | - | | - | | (6,922) | (6,922) | | |
| Effect of Reverse Merger | | (2) | 1,003 | | - | | 2 | - | | - | | | - | | |
| Net loss | | - | | | | | - | - | | - | | (1,506) | (1,506) | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Balance, December 31, 2012 | \$ | | 4,070 | \$ | | \$ | 1,083 | | \$ | _ | \$ | (43,798) | \$ (42,715) | | |
| Preferred Stock Dividends | | - | | | - | | - | | | - | | (4,975) | (4,975) | | |
| Non-cash Compensation Relating to Business Combination | | - | - | | - | | 4,418 | - | | - | | - | 4,418 | | |
| Cancellation of Convertible Preferred Stock | | - | - | | - | | 53,726 | - | | - | | - | 53,726 | | |
| Shares Issued in Merger | | 1 | 5,469 | | - | | 29,794 | - | | - | | - | 29,795 | | |
| Stock-based Compensation Expense | | - | - | | - | | 36 | - | | - | | - | 36 | | |
| Purchase of Common Stock for Treasury | | - | - | | - | | - | 59 | | (433) | | - | (433) | | |
| Issuance of Common Stock upon Warrant Exercise | | - | 90 | | - | | 809 | | | - | | - | 809 | | |
| Treasury Stock Shares Issued as Restricted Stock | | - | - | | - | | (365) | (50) | | 365 | | - | - | | |
| Net Income | | | | _ | - | _ | - | | _ | - | _ | 301 | 301 | | |
| Balance, December 31, 2013 | \$ | 1 | 9,629 | \$ | | \$ | 89,501 | 9 | \$ | (68) | \$ | (48,472) | \$ 40,962 | | |

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

| For the years ended December 31, | | 2013 | 2012 |
|---|--------------|---------------|----------|
| Cash Flows From Operating Activities | | | |
| Net income/(loss) | \$ | 301 \$ | (1,506) |
| Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash and cash equivalents | - | | (-,,- |
| used in operating activities: | | | |
| Stock-based compensation | | 36 | - |
| Depreciation and amortization | | 1,110 | 567 |
| Non-cash interest relating to equity-linked securities and loan cost amortization | | 217 | 1,071 |
| Non-cash compensation relating to business combination | | 4,418 | - |
| Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of those acquired in business | | | |
| combination: | | | |
| Accounts receivable | | (7,081) | (327) |
| Inventories | | (708) | (702) |
| Prepaid expenses | | (188) | (88) |
| Accounts payable | | (565) | 785 |
| Accrued compensation | | (2,854) | - |
| Accrued expenses, returned goods reserve and deferred revenue | | 25 | 205 |
| | | | |
| Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Used in Continuing Operations | | (5,289) | 5 |
| Net Cash Used in Discontinued Operation | | (195) | (142) |
| N. C. I. I.C. I.F. I. I. A. M. II. O. A. A. A. M. II. | | (5.404) | (127) |
| Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Used in Operating Activities | | (5,484) | (137) |
| Cash Flows From Investing Activities | | | |
| Cash acquired in business combination | | 18,198 | - |
| Release of restricted cash | | 2,260 | |
| Acquisition of property and equipment | | (191) | (292) |
| Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Provided by/(Used in) Investing Activities | | 20,267 | (292) |
| Cash Flows From Financing Activities | | | |
| (Repayments)/borrowings under line of credit, net | | (4,065) | 1,001 |
| Payment of debt issuance costs | | (4,003) | (261) |
| Proceeds from warrant exercise | | 809 | (201) |
| Treasury stock purchases | | (433) | _ |
| Net Cash and Cash Equivalents (Used in)/Provided by Continuing Operations | | (3,689) | 740 |
| Net Cash Used in Discontinued Operation | | (3,007) | (300) |
| 11ct Cash Osea in Discontinued Operation | | | (300) |
| Net Cash and Cash Equivalents (Used in)/Provided by Financing Activities | | (3,689) | 440 |
| | | | |
| Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents | | 11,094 | 11 |
| Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period | | 11_ | <u>-</u> |
| Cash and cash equivalents, end of period | \$ | 11,105 \$ | 11 |
| | | | |
| Supplemental disclosure for cash flow information: | ф | 25 0 Φ | 255 |
| Cash paid for interest | \$ | 250 \$ | 255 |
| Supplemental non-cash investing and financing activities: | Φ | 40.024 Ф | |
| Issuance of common stock in connection with business combination | \$ | 40,034 \$ | |
| Cancellation of Series D, Series C, Series B, and Series A preferred stock | \$ | 53,726 \$ | |
| Acquired non-cash net assets Preferred stock dividends accrued | \$ | 11,597 \$ | |
| | \$ | 4,975 \$ | |
| Issuance of common and preferred stock upon cashless warrant exercise | \$ \$ | - \$ - \$ | |
| Issuance of preferred stock upon convertible debt conversion | Φ | <u> </u> | 17,010 |

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization and Business

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiary, ANIP Acquisition Company (together, the "Company") is a specialty pharmaceutical company, developing and marketing generic and branded prescription products. The Company was organized as a Delaware corporation in April 2001. At its two facilities located in Baudette, Minnesota, which have a combined manufacturing, packaging and laboratory capacity totaling 173,000 square feet, the Company manufactures oral solid dose products, as well as liquids and topicals, including those that must be manufactured in a fully contained environment due to their potency. The Company also performs contract manufacturing for other pharmaceutical companies.

On June 19, 2013, BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("BioSante") acquired ANIP Acquisition Company ("ANIP") in an all-stock, tax-free reorganization (the "Merger") (Note 2), in which ANIP became a wholly-owned subsidiary of BioSante. BioSante was renamed ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The Merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisition pursuant to which ANIP was considered the acquiring entity for accounting purposes. As such, ANIP's historical results of operations replace BioSante's historical results of operations for all periods prior to the Merger. The results of operations of both companies are included in the Company's consolidated financial statements for all periods after completion of the Merger.

The Company's operations are subject to certain risks and uncertainties including, among others, current and potential competitors with greater resources, dependence on significant customers, lack of operating history and uncertainty of future profitability and possible fluctuations in financial results. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates continuity of operations, realization of assets, and satisfaction of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. The propriety of using the going-concern basis is dependent upon, among other things, the achievement of future profitable operations, the ability to generate sufficient cash from operations, and potential other funding sources, including cash on hand, to meet the Company's obligations as they become due. Management believes the going-concern basis is appropriate for the accompanying consolidated financial statements based on its current operating plan through December 31, 2014.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). Certain prior period information has been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary, ANIP. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. In the accompanying consolidated financial statements, estimates are used for, but not limited to, stock-based compensation, allowance for doubtful accounts, accruals for chargebacks, returns and other allowances, allowance for inventory obsolescence, valuation of derivative liabilities, accruals for contingent liabilities, fair value of long-lived assets, deferred taxes and valuation allowance, and the depreciable lives of fixed assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Credit Concentration

The Company's customers are primarily wholesale distributors, chain drug stores, group purchasing organizations, and other pharmaceutical companies.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, three customers represented approximately 27 %, 18 %, and 10 % of net revenues, respectively. As of December 31, 2013, accounts receivable from these customers totaled 68 % of net accounts receivable. During the year ended December 31, 2012, three customers represented approximately 25 %, 21 %, and 11 % of net revenues, respectively.

Vendor Concentration

The Company sources the raw materials for its products, including active pharmaceutical ingredients ("API"), from both domestic and international suppliers. Generally, only a single source of API is qualified for use in each product due to the costs and time required to validate a second source of supply. As a result, the Company is dependent upon its current vendors to supply reliably the API required for ongoing product manufacturing. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company purchased approximately 37 % of total costs of goods sold from three suppliers. As of December 31, 2013, amounts payable to these suppliers was immaterial. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company purchased approximately 63 % of total costs of goods sold from three suppliers.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized for product sales and contract manufacturing product sales upon passing of risk and title to the customer, when estimates of the selling price and discounts, rebates, promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, and other potential adjustments are reasonably determinable, collection is reasonably assured, and the Company has no further performance obligations. Contract manufacturing arrangements are typically less than two weeks in duration, and therefore the revenue is recognized upon completion of the aforementioned factors rather than using a proportional performance method of revenue recognition. The estimates for discounts, rebates, promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, and other potential adjustments reduce gross revenues to net revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, and are presented as current liabilities or reductions in accounts receivable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets (see "Accruals for Chargebacks, Returns, and Other Allowances"). Historically, the Company has not entered into revenue arrangements with multiple elements.

Occasionally, the Company engages in contract services, which include product development services, laboratory services, and royalties on net sales of certain contract manufactured products. For these services, revenue is recognized according to the terms of the agreement with the customer, which sometimes include substantive, measurable risk-based milestones, and when the Company has a contractual right to receive such payment, the contract price is fixed or determinable, the collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured, and the Company has no further performance obligations under the agreement . The Company recognized \$ 1.4 million and \$ 0.8 million of revenue related to contract services in 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. All interest bearing and non-interest bearing accounts are guaranteed by the FDIC up to \$ 250 thousand. The Company may maintain cash balances in excess of FDIC coverage. Management considers this to be a normal business risk.

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In conjunction with the Merger, the Company acquired restricted cash, none of which remained at December 31, 2013.

Accounts Receivable

The Company extends credit to customers on an unsecured basis. The Company utilizes the allowance method to provide for doubtful accounts based on management's evaluation of the collectability of accounts receivable, whereby the Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts equal to the estimated uncollectible amounts. Management's estimate is based on historical collection experience and a review of the current status of trade accounts receivable. The Company determines trade receivables to be delinquent when greater than 30 days past due. Receivables are written off when it is determined that amounts are uncollectible. The Company determined that no allowance for doubtful accounts was necessary as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Accruals for Chargebacks, Returns and Other Allowances

The Company's generic and branded product revenues are typically subject to agreements with customers allowing chargebacks, product returns, administrative fees, and other rebates and prompt payment discounts. The Company accrues for these items at the time of sale based on the estimates and methodologies described below. In the aggregate, these accruals exceed 60 % of generic and branded gross product sales and reduce gross revenues to net revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, and are presented as current liabilities or reductions in accounts receivable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The Company continually monitors and re-evaluates the accruals as additional information becomes available, which includes, among other things, updates to trade inventory levels and customer product mix. The Company makes adjustments to the accruals at the end of each reporting period, to reflect any such updates to the relevant facts and circumstances. Accruals are relieved upon receipt of payment from or upon issuance of credit to the customer.

Chargebacks

Chargebacks, primarily from wholesalers, result from arrangements the Company has with indirect customers establishing prices for products which the indirect customer purchases through a wholesaler. Alternatively, the Company may pre-authorize wholesalers to offer specified contract pricing to other indirect customers. Under either arrangement, the Company provides a chargeback credit to the wholesaler for any difference between the contracted price with the indirect customer and the wholesaler's invoice price, typically Wholesale Acquisition Cost ("WAC").

Chargeback credits are calculated as follows:

Prior period chargebacks claimed by wholesalers are analyzed to determine the actual average selling price ("ASP") for each product. This calculation is performed by product by wholesaler. ASPs can be affected by several factors such as:

- A change in customer mix
- A change in negotiated terms with customers
- A change in product sales mix
- A change in the volume of off-contract purchases
- Changes in WAC

As necessary, the Company adjusts ASPs based on anticipated changes in the factors above.

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The difference between ASP and WAC is recorded as a reduction in both gross revenues in the consolidated statements of operations and accounts receivable in the consolidated balance sheets, at the time the Company recognizes revenue from the product sale.

To evaluate the adequacy of its chargeback accruals, the Company obtains on-hand inventory counts from the wholesalers. This inventory is multiplied by the chargeback amount, the difference between ASP and WAC, to arrive at total expected future chargebacks, which is then compared to the chargeback accruals. The Company continually monitors chargeback activity and adjusts ASPs when it believes that actual selling prices will differ from current ASPs.

Returns

The Company maintains a return policy that allows customers to return product within a specified period prior to and subsequent to the expiration date. Generally, product may be returned for a period beginning six months prior to its expiration date to up to one year after its expiration date. The Company's product returns are settled through the issuance of a credit to the customer. The Company's estimate for returns is based upon its historical experience with actual returns. While such experience has allowed for reasonable estimation in the past, history may not always be an accurate indicator of future returns. The Company continually monitors its estimates for returns and makes adjustments when it believes that actual product returns may differ from the established accruals. Accruals for returns are recorded as a reduction to gross revenues in the consolidated statements of operations and as an increase to the return goods reserve in the consolidated balance sheets.

Administrative Fees and Other Rebates

Administrative fees or rebates are offered to wholesalers, group purchasing organizations and indirect customers. The Company accrues for fees and rebates, by product by wholesaler, at the time of sale based on contracted rates and ASPs.

To evaluate the adequacy of its administrative fee accruals, the Company obtains on-hand inventory counts from the wholesalers. This inventory is multiplied by the ASPs to arrive at total expected future sales, which is then multiplied by contracted rates. The result is then compared to the administrative fee accruals. The Company continually monitors administrative fee activity and adjusts its accruals when it believes that actual administrative fees will differ from the accruals. Accruals for administrative fees and other rebates are recorded as a reduction in both gross revenues in the consolidated statements of operations and accounts receivable in the consolidated balance sheets.

Prompt Payment Discounts

The Company often grants sales discounts for prompt payment. The reserve for sales discounts is based on invoices outstanding. The Company assumes based on past experience that all available discounts will be taken. Accruals for prompt payment discounts are recorded as a reduction in both gross revenues in the consolidated statements of operations and accounts receivable in the consolidated balance sheets.

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The following table summarizes activity in the consolidated balance sheets for accruals and allowances for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:

| (in thousands) | Accruals for Chargebacks, Returns and Other Allowance | | | | | | owances |
|-------------------------------|---|----------|----|---------|----------------------------------|-----------|-------------------|
| | | | | | Administrative Fees and Other | | Prompt Payment |
| | Charg | gebacks | | Returns | Rebates | Discounts | |
| Balance at December 31, 2011 | \$ | 3,681 | \$ | 252 | \$ 238 | \$ | 166 |
| Accruals/Adjustments | | 22,912 | | 698 | 1,369 | | 775 |
| Credits Taken Against Reserve | | (20,931) | | (539) | (1,376) | | (699) |
| Balance at December 31, 2012 | ' | 5,662 | | 411 | 231 | | 242 |
| Accruals/Adjustments | | 28,009 | | 1,595 | 2,355 | | 1,129 |
| Credits Taken Against Reserve | | (29,595) | | (1,270) | (1,851) | | (1,039) |
| Balance at December 31, 2013 | \$ | 4,076 | \$ | 736 | \$ 735 | \$ | 332 |

Inventories

Inventories consist of raw materials, packaging materials, work-in-progress, and finished goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of standard cost or net realizable value. The Company periodically reviews and adjusts standard costs, which generally approximates weighted average cost.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings and improvements

Machinery, furniture and equipment

20 - 40 years
3 - 10 years

Construction in progress includes the cost of construction and other direct costs attributable to the construction, along with capitalized interest, if any. Depreciation is not recorded on construction in progress until such time as the assets are placed in service.

Management reviews property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of the long-lived asset is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the estimated fair value of the assets. Assets held for disposal are reportable at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, less costs to sell. Management determined that no assets were impaired and no assets were held for disposal as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets were acquired as part of the Merger and asset acquisition transactions and consist of rights to produce pharmaceutical products and a license. These intangible assets originally were recorded at fair value and are stated net of accumulated amortization.

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The rights and licenses are amortized over their remaining estimated useful lives, ranging from 2 to 11 years, based on the straight-line method. Management reviews definite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, in a manner similar to that for property and equipment.

Goodwill

Goodwill relates to the Merger and represents the excess of the total purchase consideration over the fair value of acquired assets and assumed liabilities, using the purchase method of accounting. Goodwill is not amortized, but is subject to periodic review for impairment. Goodwill is reviewed annually, as of October 31, and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the goodwill might not be recoverable. The Company performs its review of goodwill on its one reporting unit.

Before employing detailed impairment testing methodologies, management first evaluates the likelihood of impairment by considering qualitative factors relevant to its reporting unit. When performing the qualitative assessment, management evaluates events and circumstances that would affect the significant inputs used to determine the fair value of the goodwill. Events and circumstances evaluated include: macroeconomic conditions that could affect the Company, industry and market considerations for the generic pharmaceutical industry that could affect the Company, cost factors that could affect the Company's performance, the Company's financial performance (including share price), and consideration of any Company-specific events that could negatively affect the Company, its business, or its fair value. If management determines that it is more likely than not that goodwill is impaired, management will then apply detailed testing methodologies. Otherwise, management will conclude that no impairment has occurred.

Detailed impairment testing involves comparing the fair value of the Company's one reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. Fair value reflects the price a market participant would be willing to pay in a potential sale of the Company. If the fair value exceeds carrying value, then it is concluded that no goodwill impairment has occurred. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, a second step is required to measure possible goodwill impairment loss. The second step includes hypothetically valuing the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities of the Company's one reporting unit as if it had been acquired in a business combination. Then, the implied fair value of the Company's one reporting unit's goodwill is compared to the carrying value of that goodwill. If the carrying value of the Company's one reporting unit's goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, the Company recognizes an impairment loss in an amount equal to the excess, not to exceed the carrying value.

Collaborative Arrangements

Third party costs incurred and revenues generated by arrangements involving the Company and one or more parties, both of whom are actively involved and exposed to risks and rewards of the activities, are classified in the consolidated statements of operations on a gross basis only if the Company is determined to be the principal participant in the arrangement. Otherwise, third party revenues and costs generated by collaborative arrangements are presented on a net basis. Payments between participants are recorded and classified based on the nature of the payments.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and primarily consist of expenses relating to product development. Research and development costs totaled \$ 1.7 million and \$ 1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan that includes stock options and restricted stock, which are awarded in exchange for employee and non-employee director services. The Company recognizes the estimated fair value of stock-based awards and classifies the expense where the underlying salaries are classified. For the year ended December 31, 2013, all stock-based awards were classified as sales, general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Stock-based compensation cost for stock options is determined at the grant date using an option pricing model and stock-based compensation cost for restricted stock is based on the closing market price of the stock at the grant date. The value of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the employee's requisite service period.

Valuation of stock awards requires management to make assumptions and to apply judgment to determine the fair value of the awards. These assumptions and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the Company's stock price, dividend yields, future employee turnover rates, and future employee stock option exercise behaviors. Changes in these assumptions can affect the fair value estimate.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that such tax rate changes are enacted. The measurement of a deferred tax asset is reduced, if necessary, by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Management uses a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, as well as guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties and financial statement reporting disclosures. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The Company has not identified any uncertain income tax positions that could have a material impact to the consolidated financial statements. The Company is subject to taxation in various jurisdictions in the United States and remains subject to examination by taxing jurisdictions for the years 1998 and all subsequent periods due to the availability of net operating loss carryforwards.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax exposures as a component of income tax expense. The Company did not have any amounts accrued relating to interest and penalties as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.

The Company considers potential tax effects resulting from discontinued operations and records intra-period tax allocations, when those effects are deemed material.

Earnings (Loss) per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period.

For periods of net income, and when the effects are not anti-dilutive, diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding plus the impact of all potential dilutive common shares, consisting primarily of common stock options, unvested restricted stock awards, and stock purchase warrants, using the treasury stock method.

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

For periods of net loss, diluted loss per share is calculated similarly to basic loss per share because the impact of all dilutive potential common shares is anti-dilutive. The number of anti-dilutive shares, consisting of Class C Special stock, common stock options, unvested restricted stock awards, and warrants exercisable for common stock (and prior to the Merger, equity-linked securities, convertible preferred stock, and stock purchase warrants exercisable for preferred stock), which have been excluded from the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share, were 2.7 million for both of the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. The Company's unvested restricted shares contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends, and therefore are considered to be participating securities; the calculation of basic and diluted income (loss) per share excludes net income (but not net loss) attributable to the unvested restricted shares from the numerator and excludes the impact of those shares from the denominator.

For periods prior to the Merger, earnings per share cannot be calculated, as ANIP common shareholders did not receive consideration in the Merger. In a reverse merger, the weighted average shares outstanding used to calculate basic earnings per share for periods prior to the merger is the weighted average shares outstanding of the common shares of the accounting acquirer (in this case, ANIP) multiplied by the exchange ratio. In the Merger, only holders of ANIP's Series D preferred stock received consideration. Because ANIP's common shareholders did not receive any consideration in the Merger, their exchange ratio is zero, creating a weighted average shares outstanding of zero for periods prior to the Merger.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had 120 thousand common stock options, 50 thousand unvested restricted stock awards, and 686 thousand warrants exercisable for common stock outstanding.

Stock Splits and Other Reclassifications

In July 2013, the Company's Board of Directors and stockholders approved a resolution to effect a one-for-six reverse stock split of the Company's common stock and Class C Special stock with no corresponding change to the par values. The number of authorized shares of common stock, Class C Special stock and blank check preferred stock was reduced proportionally. Common stock and Class C Special stock for all periods presented have been adjusted retrospectively to reflect the one-for-six reverse stock split.

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

Prior to the Merger, the carrying value of ANIP's redeemable convertible preferred stock was increased by the accretion of any related discounts and accrued but unpaid dividends so that the carrying amount would equal the redemption amount at the dates the stock became redeemable. ANIP's Series A, B, C and D preferred stock was redeemable at the option of the holders, subject to certain additional requirements. All of ANIP's Series D preferred stock was canceled and exchanged for shares of BioSante common stock and all of ANIP's Series A, B and C preferred stock were canceled in conjunction with the Merger (Note 2).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company's consolidated balance sheets include various financial instruments (primarily cash and cash equivalents, prepaid expenses, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses, borrowings under line of credit, and other current liabilities) that approximate fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability assuming an orderly transaction in the most advantageous market at the measurement date. U.S. GAAP establishes a hierarchical disclosure framework which prioritizes and ranks the level of observability of inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers include:

- Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs.
- Level 2—Observable market-based inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
- Level 3—Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value hierarchy gives the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs.

See Note 6 for additional information regarding fair value.

Segment Information

The Company currently operates in a single business segment.

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued guidance related to additional reporting and disclosure of amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income ("OCI"). Under this new guidance, companies will be required to disclose the amount of income or loss reclassified out of OCI to each respective line item on the income statement where net income is presented. The guidance allows companies to elect whether to disclose the reclassification in the notes to the financial statements, or on the face of the income statement . The adoption of this standard in 2013 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position. The Company does not have a Statement of Comprehensive Income because the Company has no Other Comprehensive Income.

In July 2012, the FASB issued accounting guidance to simplify the evaluation for impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets. Under the updated guidance, an entity has the option of first performing a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired before proceeding to the quantitative impairment test under which it would calculate the asset's fair value. When performing the qualitative assessment, the entity must evaluate events and circumstances that may affect the significant inputs used to determine the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset. The adoption of this standard in 2013 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

The Company has evaluated all issued and unadopted Accounting Standards Updates and believes the adoption of these standards will not have a material impact on its consolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.

2. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On June 19, 2013, BioSante acquired ANIP in an all-stock, tax-free reorganization. The Company is operating under the leadership of the ANIP management team and the board of directors is comprised of two former directors from BioSante and five former ANIP directors.

BioSante issued to ANIP stockholders shares of BioSante common stock such that the ANIP stockholders owned 57 % of the combined company's shares outstanding, and the former BioSante stockholders owned 43 %. In addition, immediately prior to the Merger, BioSante distributed to its then current stockholders contingent value rights ("CVR") providing payment rights arising from a future sale, transfer, license or similar transaction(s) involving BioSante's LibiGel ® (female testosterone gel).

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisition pursuant to which ANIP was considered the acquiring entity for accounting purposes. As such, ANIP's historical results of operations replace BioSante's historical results of operations for all periods prior to the Merger. BioSante, the accounting acquiree, was a publicly-traded pharmaceutical company focused on developing high value, medically-needed products. ANIP entered into the Merger to secure additional capital and gain access to capital market opportunities as a public company.

The results of operations of both companies are included in the Company's consolidated financial statements for all periods after completion of the Merger.

2. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Transaction Costs

In conjunction with the Merger, the Company incurred approximately \$ 7.1 million in transaction costs, which were expensed in the periods in which they were incurred. Costs incurred through December 31, 2013, include:

| Category | | nousands) |
|------------------------------|----|-----------|
| Legal fees | \$ | 1,227 |
| Accounting fees | | 122 |
| Consulting fees | | 119 |
| Monitoring and advisory fees | | 390 |
| Transaction bonuses | | 4,801 |
| Other | | 429 |
| Total transaction costs | \$ | 7,088 |

Of the total expenses, \$ 0.9 million was incurred and expensed in the year ended December 31, 2012 as selling, general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The remaining \$ 6.2 million was incurred and expensed in the year ended December 31, 2013, \$ 5.5 million as selling, general and administrative expense \$ 0.3 million as interest expense, and \$ 0.4 million as other expense, in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Purchase Consideration and Net Assets Acquired

The fair value of BioSante's common stock used in determining the purchase price was \$ 1.22 per share, the closing price on June 19, 2013, which resulted in a total purchase consideration of \$ 29.8 million. The fair value of all additional consideration, including the vested BioSante stock options and CVRs, was immaterial. The following presents the preliminary allocation of the purchase consideration to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on June 19, 2013:

| | | (in thousands) |
|-------------------------------|------|----------------|
| Total purchase consideration | n \$ | 29,795 |
| Assets acquired | | |
| Cash and cash equivalents | | 18,198 |
| Restricted cash | | 2,260 |
| Teva license intangible asset | | 10,900 |
| Other tangible assets | | 79 |
| Deferred tax assets, net | | - |
| Goodwill | | 1,838 |
| Total asset | s | 33,275 |
| Liabilities assumed | | |
| Accrued severance | | 2,965 |
| Other liabilities | | 515 |
| Total liabilities | s | 3,480 |
| Total net assets acquired | d \$ | 29,795 |

Any changes in the estimated fair values of the net assets recorded for this business combination upon the finalization of more detailed analyses of the facts and circumstances that existed at the date of the transaction will change the allocation of the purchase price. Any subsequent changes to the purchase allocation during the measurement period that are material will be adjusted retrospectively.

2. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

The Teva license is related to a generic male testosterone gel product and is being amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 11 years. Goodwill, which is not tax deductible since the transaction was structured as a tax-free exchange, is considered an indefinite-lived asset and relates primarily to intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition. As a result of purchase accounting related to the Merger, the Company established deferred tax assets of \$ 9.6 million, deferred tax liabilities of \$ 3.9 million, and a valuation allowance of \$ 5.7 million, netting to deferred tax assets of \$ 0 .

Former BioSante operations generated \$ 0.5 million of revenue in a non-recurring payment related to the Teva license, and no expense from the acquisition date through December 31, 2013.

Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information (unaudited)

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information summarizes the results of operations for the periods indicated as if the Merger had been completed as of January 1, 2012. Pro forma information reflects adjustments relating to (i) elimination of the interest on ANIP's senior and equity-linked securities, (ii) elimination of monitoring and advisory fees payable to two ANIP investors, (iii) elimination of transaction costs, and (iv) amortization of intangibles acquired. The pro forma amounts do not purport to be indicative of the results that would have actually been obtained if the Merger had occurred as of January 1, 2012 or that may be obtained in the future.

| | Year ended December 31, | | | | | | | |
|-------------------|-------------------------|----|----------|--|--|--|--|--|
| (in thousands) | 2013 | | 2012 | | | | | |
| Net revenues | \$ 30,228 | \$ | 22,671 | | | | | |
| Net income/(loss) | \$ 89 | \$ | (27,718) | | | | | |

3. INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following as of December 31:

| (in thousands) | 2013 | 2012 |
|---|-------------|-------------|
| Raw materials | \$ 1,480 | \$ 975 |
| Packaging materials | 766 | 585 |
| Work-in-progress | 162 | 374 |
| Finished goods | 1,152 | 891 |
| | 3,560 | 2,825 |
| Reserve for excess/obsolete inventories | (42) | (15) |
| Inventories, net | \$ 3,518 | \$ 2,810 |

4. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

Property, Plant and Equipment consist of the following as of December 31:

| (in thousands) | 2013 | | 2012 |
|------------------------------------|-------------|----|---------|
| Land | \$ 87 | \$ | 87 |
| Buildings | 3,682 | | 3,682 |
| Machinery, furniture and equipment | 3,736 | | 3,565 |
| Construction in progress | 229 | | 209 |
| | 7,734 | | 7,543 |
| Less: accumulated depreciation | (3,197) | | (2,663) |
| Property, Plant and Equipment, net | \$ 4,537 | \$ | 4,880 |

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 totaled \$534 thousand and \$517 thousand, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, there was no material interest capitalized into construction in progress.

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

As a result of the Merger (Note 2), the Company recorded goodwill of \$ 1.8 million in its one reporting unit. Management assesses the recoverability of the carrying value of goodwill on an annual basis as of October 31 of each year, and whenever events occur or circumstances changes that would, more likely than not, reduce the fair value of the Company's reporting unit below its carrying value.

For the goodwill impairment analysis performed at October 31, 2013, management performed a qualitative assessment to determine whether it was more likely than not that the Company's goodwill asset was impaired in order to determine the necessity of performing a quantitative impairment test, under which management would calculate the asset's fair value. When performing the qualitative assessment, management evaluates events and circumstances that would affect the significant inputs used to determine the fair value of the goodwill. Events and circumstances evaluated include: macroeconomic conditions that could affect the Company, industry and market considerations for the generic pharmaceutical industry that could affect the Company, cost factors that could affect the Company's performance, the Company's financial performance (including share price), and consideration of any Company-specific events that could negatively affect the Company, its business, or its fair value. Based on management's assessment of the aforementioned factors, it was determined that it was more likely than not that the fair value of the Company' one reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount as of October 31, 2013, and therefore no quantitative testing for impairment was required.

In addition to the qualitative impairment analysis performed at October 31, 2013, there were no events or changes in circumstances that could have reduced the fair value of the Company's reporting unit below its carrying value from October 31, 2013 to December 31, 2013. No impairment loss was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2013.

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Definite-lived Intangible Assets

The components of net definite-lived intangible assets are as follows:

| | | December 31, 2013 | | | | December | | | |
|--------------------------------------|----|-------------------|----|--------------|----|----------------|----|--------------|--------------|
| | Gı | Gross Carrying | | Accumulated | | Gross Carrying | | Accumulated | Amortization |
| (in thousands) | | Amount | | Amortization | | Amount | | Amortization | Period |
| Acquired ANDA intangible asset | \$ | 60 | \$ | (55) | \$ | 60 | \$ | - | 3 years |
| Reglan [®] intangible asset | | 100 | | (100) | | 100 | | (75) | 2 years |
| Teva license intangible asset | | 10,900 | | (496) | | <u>-</u> | | <u>-</u> | 11 years |
| | \$ | 11,060 | \$ | (651) | \$ | 160 | \$ | (75) | |

The acquired ANDA and Reglan [®] intangible assets consist of the exclusive rights, including all of the applicable technical data and other relevant information, to produce certain pharmaceutical products which the Company acquired from various companies. The Teva license was acquired as part of the Merger (Note 2). Intangible assets are stated at the lower of cost or fair value, net of amortization using the straight line method over the expected useful lives of the product rights. Amortization expense was \$ 0.6 million and \$ 50 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Company tests for impairment of definite-lived intangible assets when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. No such triggering events were identified in 2013 and 2012, and therefore no impairment loss was recognized during those periods.

Expected future amortization expense is as follows for the years ending December 31:

| (in thousands) | |
|---------------------|--------------|
| 2014 | \$ 996 |
| 2015 | 991 |
| 2016 | 991 |
| 2017 | 991 |
| 2018 | 991 |
| 2019 and thereafter | 5,449 |
| Total | \$ 10,409 |

6. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

Fair value is the price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability assuming an orderly transaction in the most advantageous market at the measurement date. U.S. GAAP establishes a hierarchical disclosure framework which prioritizes and ranks the level of observability of inputs used in measuring fair value.

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The inputs used in measuring the fair value of cash and cash equivalents are considered to be level 1 in accordance with the three-tier fair value hierarchy. The fair market values are based on period-end statements supplied by the various banks and brokers that held the majority of the Company's funds. The fair value of short-term financial instruments (primarily accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, accounts payable, accrued expenses, borrowings under line of credit, and other current liabilities) approximate their carrying values because of their short-term nature.

6. FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The Company's CVRs (Note 2) are considered to be contingent consideration and are classified as liabilities. As such, the CVRs were recorded as purchase consideration at their estimated fair value, using level 3 inputs, and are marked to market each reporting period until settlement. The fair value of CVRs is estimated using the present value of management's projection of the expected payments pursuant to the terms of the CVR agreement, which is the primary unobservable input. If management's projection or expected payments were to increase substantially, the value of the CVRs could increase as a result. The present value of the liability was calculated using a discount rate of 15 %. The Company determined that the fair value of the CVRs, and the changes in such fair value, was immaterial as of December 31, 2013 and for the period from the date of the Merger to December 31, 2013.

Prior to the Merger, ANIP's warrants to purchase common and preferred stock were classified as derivative liabilities and were measured at fair value using level 3 inputs. The fair value of stock purchase warrants was determined using a two-step process which included valuing ANIP's equity using both market and discounted cash flow methods, and then apportioning that value, using an equity allocation model, to each of ANIP's classes of stock. These models require the use of unobservable inputs such as fair value of ANIP's common and preferred stock, expected term, anticipated volatility, future interest and interest rates, expected cash flows and the number of outstanding common and preferred shares as of a future date. The Company determined that the fair value of the derivative liabilities, and the changes in such fair value, was immaterial as of and for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. All such stock purchase warrants expired in connection with the Merger.

The following table presents the Company's financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, by level within the fair value hierarchy:

(in thousands)

| | Description | Fair Value at December 31, 2013 | Level | 1 Level | 2 Level 3 |
|-------------|-------------|---------------------------------------|-------|---------|-----------|
| Liabilities | | | | | |
| CVRs | | \$ - | \$ | - \$ | - \$ - |
| | Decemention | Fair Value at December 31, 2012 | Laval | 1 Level | 2 Level 3 |
| | Description | | Level | 1 Level | Level 3 |
| Liabilities | | | | | |
| Warrants | | \$ - | \$ | - \$ | - \$ - |

Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The Company has no non-financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis

The Company measures its long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill, at fair value on a non-recurring basis. These assets are recognized at fair value when they are deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired. No such fair value impairment was recognized in the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

7. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On September 17, 2010, the Company sold its operation in Gulfport, Mississippi to a third-party. The decision to sell the Gulfport operation was based on its historical underperformance and recurring losses and the anticipated need for continued financing from outside sources to maintain ongoing operations.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, total net liabilities associated with the discontinued operation were \$ 0.2 million and \$ 0.4 million, respectively, and consisted balances due to various vendors of the discontinued operation and other remaining liabilities. These liabilities are included in accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The gains on the discontinued operation totaled \$ 195 thousand and \$ 68 thousand, net of \$ 38 thousand and \$ 36 thousand of income tax expense, for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively and have been segregated from continuing operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the gain on discontinued operation was the result of finalizing a portion of the remaining liabilities. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the gain on discontinued operation consisted of various vendor settlements.

8. LINE OF CREDIT

At December 31, 2013, all of the Company's previous lines of credit either expired or were repaid and terminated, with no amounts outstanding. Prior to June 2012, the Company had borrowings under a line of credit agreement with a commercial lender. Under the terms of a forbearance agreement, amended in October 2011, the Company could borrow an amount equal to the lesser of the borrowing base, as defined, or \$ 3.5 million. Interest accrued at an annual rate of the Base Rate, as defined, plus 6.0%. In addition, a usage fee equal to 0.75 % per annum of the unused facility and a management fee equal to \$ 9 thousand per annum were assessed monthly. The line of credit was secured by substantially all of the Company's assets. The line of credit and amended forbearance agreement expired in June 2012 and all amounts borrowed were repaid in full at that time.

In June 2012, the Company entered into a new revolver loan agreement with a commercial bank in the amount of \$ 5.0 million. The revolver loan agreement bore interest daily at the greater of (i) LIBOR plus 5%, or (ii) 6%, and was secured by substantially all of the Company's assets. In addition, a usage fee equal to 0.375 % per annum of the unused facility and a management fee equal to \$ 18 thousand per annum were assessed monthly. Under the agreement, the Company was required to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.1 to 1.0, calculated by dividing (a) (i) earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) less (ii) unfinanced capital expenditures, by the sum of cash paid for (b) (i) interest and (ii) monitoring and advisory fees (Note 14). Also, the Company was required to generate at least \$0.8 million in EBITDA measured on a trailing four-quarter basis. Restrictive covenants applied to, among other things, research and development expenditures, additional liens, mergers or consolidations, and sales of assets. The Company was not in compliance with certain covenants as of December 31, 2012. The Company subsequently obtained a waiver from its lender, the loan covenants were revised, and the revolver loan limit was increased to \$ 6.0 million.

Beginning in 2013, the Company was required to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.1 to 1.0. Also beginning in 2013, the Company was required to generate at least 0.2 million in EBITDA during the three month period ending March 31, 2013, \$0.5 million in EBITDA during the six month period ending June 30, 2013, \$0.7 million in EBITDA during the nine month period ending September 30, 2013, and \$0.9 million in EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2013 and for every quarterly period thereafter measured on a trailing four-quarter basis. Restrictive covenants applied to, among other things, additional liens, mergers or consolidations, and sales of assets. In the event of early termination, the Company was required to pay a prepayment fee of \$0.2 million if termination occurred in the first year, \$0.1 million if termination occurred in the second year, and \$60 thousand if termination occurred after the second year but prior to the last day of the term. As of December 31, 2012, \$4.1 million was outstanding on the revolver, at an effective interest rate of 6.0 %. The revolver loan was repaid in full in June 2013.

9. REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

Prior to the Merger (Note 2), ANIP had four issuances of redeemable convertible preferred stock: Series A, B, C and D. The ANIP's Series A, B, C and D preferred stock was redeemable at the option of the holders, subject to certain additional requirements. The carrying value of ANIP's redeemable convertible preferred stock was increased by the accretion of any related discounts and accrued but unpaid dividends so that the carrying amount would equal the redemption amount at the dates the stock became redeemable. All of ANIP's Series D preferred stock was exchanged for shares of BioSante common stock and all of ANIP's Series A, B and C preferred stock were canceled in conjunction with the Merger (Note 2). There was no Series A, B, C, or D redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding at December 31, 2013.

The following table presents the highlights of each series of redeemable convertible preferred stock as of December 31, 2012:

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

| Series | Shares Authorized | Shares Issued and Outstanding | Carrying Value | Stated Value per share | Dividend Accrual per Annum | rued dends |
|------------|----------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------|---------------------------|----------------------------------|---------------|
| A | 108 | 103 | \$ 11,579 | \$ 100 | 10 % | \$ 2,186 |
| В | 119 | 78 | \$ 10,560 | \$ 110 | 10 % | \$ 1,837 |
| C | 38 | 35 | \$ 4,815 | \$ 110 | 12 % | \$ 994 |
| D | 3,400 | 2,375 | \$ 21,797 | \$ 30 | 10 % | \$ 4,185 |

For all Series of redeemable convertible preferred stock, dividends compounded quarterly and were payable in cash. All accrued dividends were included in Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Each share of preferred stock was initially convertible into one share of common stock of ANIP at the option of the holder. The conversion rate was subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events including the issuance of dividends payable in the form of common stock, a recapitalization, reorganization or other similar change in the outstanding common stock, or upon the occurrence of certain dilutive financings, as defined.

10. SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

Authorized shares

The Company is authorized to issue up to 33.3 million shares of common stock with a par value of \$0.0001 per share, 0.8 million shares of class C special stock with a par value of \$0.0001 per share, and 1.7 million shares of undesignated preferred stock with a par value of \$0.0001 per share at December 31, 2013.

There were 9.6 million and 4.1 million shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

There were 11 thousand shares of class C special stock issued and outstanding as of both December 31, 2013 and 2012. Each share of class C special stock entitles its holder to one vote per share. Each share of class C special stock is exchangeable, at the option of the holder, for one share of the Company's common stock, at an exchange price of \$ 90.00 per share, subject to adjustment upon certain capitalization events. Holders of class C special stock are not entitled to receive dividends or to participate in the distribution of the Company's assets upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company. The holders of class C special stock have no cumulative voting, preemptive, subscription, redemption or sinking fund rights.

There were no shares of undesignated preferred stock outstanding as of December 31, 2013 or 2012.

10. SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY (Continued)

Equity Offerings

In the years leading up to the Merger, BioSante completed several equity offerings. While BioSante's capital structure remains in place, ANIP's historical results of operations replace BioSante's (Note 2). All historical information is provided using share and per shares amounts adjusted for the July 17, 2013 one-for-six reverse split.

In August 2012, the Company completed a registered direct offering of 393 thousand shares of its common stock and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 197 thousand shares of its common stock at a purchase price of \$8.835 per share to one institutional investor for gross proceeds of \$3.5 million. The offering resulted in net proceeds to the Company of \$3.3 million after deducting placement agent fees and offering expenses. The warrants were exercisable immediately and continue for a period of five years, at an exercise price of \$9.00 per share. The number of shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants and the exercise price of the warrants are adjustable in the event of stock splits, combinations and reclassifications, but not in the event of the issuance of additional securities.

Warrants issued prior to the Merger

Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 686 thousand shares (as adjusted for the July 17, 2013 one-for-six reverse split) of the Company's common stock were outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2013:

(in thousands, except per share price)

| Issue Date | Number of Underlying Shares Of Common Stock |] | Per Share Exercise Price | Expiration Date |
|-------------------|---|----|-----------------------------|-------------------|
| August 13, 2009 | 67 | \$ | 90.00 | August 12, 2014 |
| August 13, 2009 | 7 | \$ | 90.00 | June 9, 2014 |
| March 8, 2010 | 145 | \$ | 74.88 | September 8, 2015 |
| March 8, 2010 | 6 | \$ | 77.76 | June 9, 2014 |
| June 23, 2010 | 99 | \$ | 88.20 | June 23, 2015 |
| June 23, 2010 | 6 | \$ | 94.68 | June 9, 2015 |
| December 30, 2010 | 147 | \$ | 72.00 | December 30, 2015 |
| December 30, 2010 | 9 | \$ | 76.50 | June 9, 2015 |
| March 8, 2011 | 112 | \$ | 81.00 | March 8, 2014 |
| March 8, 2011 | 7 | \$ | 92.88 | June 9, 2014 |
| August 20, 2012 | 83 | \$ | 9.00 | August 16, 2017 |

During 2013, the Company issued no warrants. In December 2013, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 90 thousand shares of common stock were exercised. During 2013, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 13 thousand shares of common stock expired unexercised. All warrants are classified as equity.

During 2012, the Company issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 197 thousand shares of the Company's common stock in connection with the August 2012 registered direct offering as described above. During 2012, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 23 thousand shares of common stock were exercised and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 16 thousand shares of the Company's common stock expired unexercised.

11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

All equity-based service awards are granted under the ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2008 Plan"). As of December 31, 2013, 136 thousand shares of the Company's common stock remained available for issuance under the 2008 Plan.

The Company measures the cost of equity-based service awards based on the grant-date fair value of the award. The cost is recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award or the requisite service period. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense ratably over the vesting periods of the awards, adjusted for estimated forfeitures. The non-cash, stock-based compensation cost that was incurred by the Company in connection with the 2008 Plan was \$ 36 thousand and \$ 0 for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, which was included in sales, general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. No income tax benefit was recognized in the Company's consolidated statements of operations for stock-based compensation arrangements due to the Company's net loss position.

Stock Options

Outstanding employee stock options generally vest over a period of three or four years and have 10 -year contractual terms. Upon exercise of an option, the Company issues new shares of its common stock.

No options were granted by ANIP in 2012. For 2013, the fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, using the following weighted average assumptions:

| | 2013 |
|---------------------------------|--------|
| Expected option life (years) | 6.25 |
| Risk-free interest rate | 1.72 % |
| Expected stock price volatility | 55.0 % |
| Dividend yield | _ |

The Company uses the simplified method to estimate the life of options. The risk-free interest rate used is the yield on a United States Treasury note as of the grant date with a maturity equal to the estimated life of the option. The Company calculated an estimated volatility rate based on the closing prices of several competitors that manufacture similar products. The Company has not issued a cash dividend in the past nor does it have any current plans to do so in the future; and therefore, an expected dividend yield of zero was used. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised through a cumulative catch-up adjustment in the period of change if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. For stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company has estimated a forfeiture rate of zero.

In July 2013, the Company granted 21 thousand options to the non-officer directors under the 2008 Plan . The weighted average fair value of the options at the date of grant for options granted during 2013 was \$3.40 per share. BioSante had 99 thousand stock options outstanding at the date of the Merger. These continued as a result of the Merger, as stock options previously issued and still outstanding under BioSante's Plans became fully-vested on the date of the Merger .

On July 12, 2013, the Company's Board of Directors approved grants of stock options to employees under the 2008 Plan, subject to shareholder approval of an increase in the total shares available for issuance under the 2008 Plan. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had 325 thousand common stock options outstanding pending shareholder approval. Expense related to these stock options will begin to be recognized only upon shareholder approval.

11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

A summary of stock option activity under the Plan during the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 is presented below:

| (in thousands, except per share data) | Option Shares | 1 | Weighted Average Exercise Price | Weighted Average Remaining Term | | Aggregate Intrinsic Value |
|---|------------------|----|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|----|---------------------------------|
| Outstanding December 31, 2011 | 18 | \$ | 11.00 | 6.2 | Φ | () |
| | 10 | Ф | 11.00 | 0.2 | Ф | U |
| Granted | - | | - | | | 0 |
| Exercised | - | | | | | 0 |
| Forfeited or expired | (18) | \$ | 11.00 | | | |
| Outstanding December 31, 2012 | | | | - | \$ | _ |
| Exercisable at December 31, 2012 | - | | - | - | \$ | _ |
| Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2012 | - | | - | - | \$ | _ |
| Net BioSante Stock Options assumed | 99 | \$ | 59.59 | | | |
| Granted | 21 | \$ | 6.36 | | | |
| Exercised | - | | - | | | _ |
| Forfeited or expired | - | | - | | | |
| Outstanding December 31, 2013 | 120 | \$ | 50.35 | 2.4 | \$ | 81 |
| Exercisable at December 31, 2013 | 99 | \$ | 59.59 | 0.9 | \$ | _ |
| Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2013 | 120 | \$ | 50.35 | 2.4 | \$ | 81 |

As of December 31, 2013, there was \$ 63 thousand of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options granted under the Plan. The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.53 years.

Restricted Stock Awards

On November 1, 2013, the Company granted 50 thousand restricted stock awards ("RSAs") to the non-officer directors under the 2008 Plan. No RSAs were granted in the year ended December 31, 2012. The RSAs vest one-third per year, over three years on the anniversary of the grant date, provided that the director continues to serve as a director of the Company on each of the vesting dates. Shares of the Company's common stock delivered to the directors will be unrestricted upon vesting . During the vesting period, the recipient of the restricted stock has full voting rights as a stockholder and would receive dividends, if declared, even though the restricted stock remains subject to transfer restrictions and will generally be forfeited upon termination of the director from the board prior to vesting. The fair value of each RSA is based on the market value of the Company's stock on the date of grant.

11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

A summary of RSA activity under the Plan during the year ended December 31, 2013 is presented below:

| (in thousands, except per share data) | Shares | Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value | Weighted Average Remaining Term (years) |
|---------------------------------------|--------|--|--|
| Unvested at December 31, 2012 | - | \$ - | |
| Granted | 50 | \$ 10.20 | |
| Vested | - | \$ - | |
| Forfeited | - | \$ - | |
| Unvested at December 31, 2013 | 50 | \$ 10.20 | 2.84 |

As of December 31, 2013, there was \$ 0.5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested RSAs granted under the Plan, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.84 years.

12. INCOME TAXES

The Company's total provision (benefit) from income taxes consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:

| (in thousands) | 2013 | 2012 |
|--|--------------|--------------|
| Current income tax provision (benefit): | | |
| Federal | \$ 20 | \$ - |
| State | <u>-</u> | <u>-</u> |
| Total | 20 | - |
| | | |
| Deferred income tax provision (benefit): | | |
| Federal | 635 | (1,486) |
| State | (221) | (35) |
| Total | 414 | (1,522) |
| | | |
| Change in valuation allowance | (414) | 1,522 |
| | | |
| Tax provision (benefit) from continuing operations | 20 | (36) |
| Tax provision from discontinued operation | 38 | 36 |
| Total provision (benefit) for income taxes | \$ 58 | \$ - |

The difference between the Company's expected income tax provision (benefit) from applying federal statutory tax rates to the pre-tax income (loss) from continuing operations and actual income tax provision (benefit) from continuing operations relates primarily to the effect of the following:

| (in thousands) | As of Decem 2013 | ber 31, 2012 |
|--------------------------------------|---------------------|-----------------|
| (iii tiiousaiius) | | 2012 |
| US Federal statutory rate | 35.0 % | (34.0)% |
| State taxes, net of Federal benefit | 1.0 % | (0.9)% |
| Non-deductible expenses | 245.9 % | 17.7 % |
| Change in valuation allowance | (300.4)% | 100.7 % |
| Change in tax rates and other | 34.6 % _ | (85.7)% |
| Total income tax provision (benefit) | <u>16.1</u> % | (2.2)% |

12. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and income tax purposes. The Company's deferred income tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

| | | As of Dece | mber 31, |
|---|----|------------|----------|
| (in thousands) | | 2012 | |
| | | | |
| Deferred tax assets: | | | |
| Accruals and advances | \$ | 1,160 | \$ 383 |
| Net operating loss carryforward | | 16,409 | 11,271 |
| Other | | 418 | 193 |
| Total deferred tax assets | | 17,987 | 11,847 |
| | | | |
| Deferred tax liabilities: | | | |
| Depreciation | | (220) | (236) |
| Intangible assets | | (526) | - |
| Other | | (374) | (52) |
| Total deferred tax liabilities | | (1,120) | (288) |
| | | | |
| Valuation allowance | | (16,867) | (11,559) |
| Total deferred tax asset (liability), net | \$ | | \$ - |

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had Federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately \$ 235.3 million, which expire beginning in 2018, and a portion of which arose as a result of the merger. The utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards may be limited in future years as prescribed by Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code, which results in a deferred tax asset related to the net operating loss carryforward after application of the Section 382 limitations of approximately \$ 16.4 million.

The Company is required to establish a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. The Company considers the projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income in the periods which the deferred tax assets are deductible, the Company has determined that a full valuation allowance is required as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.

The Company is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions in the United States. Significant judgment is required in evaluating the Company's tax positions and determining its provision for income taxes. The Company establishes liabilities for tax-related uncertainties based on estimates of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. These liabilities are established when the Company believes that certain positions might be challenged despite its belief that its tax return positions are fully supportable. The Company adjusts these liabilities in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the outcome of a tax audit. The provision for income taxes includes the impact of changes to the liability that is considered appropriate. The Company has identified no material uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2013.

12. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The Company is subject to income tax audits in all jurisdictions for which it files tax returns. Tax audits by their nature are often complex and can require several years to complete. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is currently under audit in any jurisdiction. All of the Company's income tax returns remain subject to examination by tax authorities due to the availability of net operating loss carryforwards.

13. COLLABORATIVE ARRANGEMENTS

RiconPharma LLC

In July 2011, the Company entered into a collaborative arrangement with RiconPharma LLC ("RiconPharma"). Under the parties' master product development and collaboration agreement (the "RiconPharma Agreement"), the Company and RiconPharma have agreed to collaborate in a cost, asset and profit sharing arrangement for the development, manufacturing, regulatory approval and marketing of pharmaceutical products in the United States.

In general, RiconPharma is responsible for developing the products and the Company is responsible for manufacturing, sales, marketing and distribution of the products. The parties are jointly responsible for directing any bioequivalence studies. The Company is responsible for obtaining and maintaining all necessary regulatory approvals, including the preparation of all ANDAs.

Under the RiconPharma Agreement and unless otherwise specified in an amendment, the parties will own equally all the rights, title and interest in the products. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Company will be identified on the product packaging as the manufacturer and distributor of the product. During the term of the agreement, both parties are prohibited from developing, manufacturing, selling or distributing any products that are identical or bioequivalent to products covered under the RiconPharma Agreement.

The Company recognizes the costs incurred with respect to this agreement as expense and classifies the expenses based on the nature of the costs. In the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company incurred \$0.7 million and \$0.2 million in research and development expenses related to the RiconPharma Agreement. No revenue has yet been recognized.

Sofgen Pharmaceuticals

In August 2013, the Company entered into an agreement with Sofgen Pharmaceuticals ("Sofgen") to develop an oral soft gel prescription product indicated for cardiovascular health (the "Sofgen Agreement"). It will be subject to an ANDA filing once developed. In general, Sofgen will be responsible for the development, manufacturing and regulatory submission of the product, including preparation of the ANDA, with the Company providing payments based on the completion of certain milestones. Upon approval, Sofgen will manufacture the drug and the Company will be responsible for the marketing and distribution, under the ANI label, of the product in the U.S., providing a percentage of profits from sales of the drug to Sofgen.

Under the Sofgen Agreement, Sofgen will own all the rights, title and interest in the products. During the term of the Agreement, both parties are prohibited from developing, manufacturing, selling or distributing any product that is identical or bioequivalent to the product covered under the Sofgen Agreement in the U.S. The agreement may be terminated or amended under certain specified circumstances.

The Company recognizes the costs incurred with respect to the Sofgen Agreement as expense and classifies the expenses based on the nature of the costs. In the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company incurred \$0.2 million in research and development expenses related to the Sofgen Agreement. No revenue has yet been recognized.

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases

The Company leases equipment under operating leases that expire in May 2017. The Company also leases office space under operating leases that expire beginning in February 2014 through September 2018.

For the annual periods after December 31, 2013, approximate minimum annual rental payments under non-cancelable leases are presented below:

| (in thousands) | |
|----------------|----------------------|
| | Minimum |
| | Annual Rental |
| Year | Payments |
| 2014 | \$ 148 |
| 2015 | 78 |
| 2016 | 53 |
| 2017 | 44 |
| 2018 | 29 |
| Thereafter | = |
| Total | \$ 352 |

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 totaled \$ 36 thousand and \$ 18 thousand, respectively.

Monitoring and Advisory Fees

The Company was required to pay monitoring and advisory fees to two investors. A total of \$ 0.5 million and \$ 0.2 million are included in other expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. These fees were paid quarterly in advance on the first business day of each calendar quarter.

Included in the amounts above and in conjunction with the Merger, the Company paid additional monitoring and advisory fees totaling \$ 0.4 million to the same two investors (Note 2). Upon completion of the Merger, the Company's obligation to pay monitoring and advisory fees was terminated

Government Regulation

The Company's products and facilities are subject to regulation by a number of federal and state governmental agencies. The Food and Drug Administration ("FDA"), in particular, maintains oversight of the formulation, manufacture, distribution, packaging and labeling of all of the Company's products. The Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA") maintains oversight over the Company's products that are considered controlled substances.

Unapproved Products

Two of the Company's products, Esterified Estrogen with Methyltestosterone tablets and Opium Tincture, are marketed without approved New Drug Applications ("NDAs") or Abbreviated New Drug Applications ("ANDAs"). During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, net revenues for these products totaled \$ 14.6 million and \$ 6.0 million, respectively.

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

The FDA's policy with respect to the continued marketing of unapproved products is stated in the FDA's September 2011 Compliance Policy Guide Sec. 440.100 titled "Marketed New Drugs without Approved NDAs or ANDAs." Under this policy, the FDA has stated that it will follow a risk-based approach with regard to enforcement against such unapproved products. The FDA evaluates whether to initiate enforcement action on a case-by-case basis, but gives higher priority to enforcement action against products in certain categories, such as those marketed as unapproved drugs with potential safety risks or that lack evidence of effectiveness. The Company believes that so long as it complies with applicable manufacturing and labeling standards , the FDA will not take action against it under the current enforcement policy . There can be no assurance, however, that the FDA will continue this policy or not take a contrary position with any individual product or group of products. If the FDA were to take a contrary position, the Company may be required to seek FDA approval for these products or withdraw such products from the market.

In addition, one group of products that the Company manufactures on behalf of a contract customer is marketed by that customer without an FDA-approved NDA. If the FDA took enforcement action against such customer, the customer may be required to seek FDA approval for the group of products or withdraw them from the market. The Company's contract manufacturing revenues for the group of unapproved products for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 was \$ 2.0 million and \$ 1.4 million, respectively.

The Company received royalties on the net sales of a group of contract-manufactured products, which are marketed by the contract customer without an FDA-approved NDA. If the FDA took enforcement action against such customer, the customer may be required to seek FDA approval for the group of products or withdraw them from the market. The Company's royalties on the net sales of these unapproved products for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were \$ 330 thousand and \$ 284 thousand, respectively.

In October 2012, the Company received a telephone call requesting a meeting with the FDA representatives from the Minneapolis district of the FDA to discuss continued manufacturing and distribution of the Opium 10mg/mL Solution 118mL product ("Opium Tincture"), which is a Non-NDA Product. That meeting was held on October 25, 2012 by conference telephone call and included FDA representatives from the Office of Compliance at the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research. Counsel to the Company sent a letter to the FDA on November 9, 2012 in support of the Company's position. Although the FDA confirmed receipt of this letter, the Company has received no further response thereto. If the FDA were to make a determination that the Company could not continue to sell Opium Tincture as an unapproved product, the Company would be required to seek FDA approval for such product or withdraw such product from the market. If the Company determined to withdraw the product from the market, the Company 's net revenues for generic pharmaceutical products would decline materially, and if the Company decided to seek FDA approval, it would face increased expenses and might need to suspend sales of the product until such approval is obtained, and there are no assurances that the Company would receive such approval.

Shareholder Class Action and Derivative Lawsuits

On February 3, 2012, a purported class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois under the caption Thomas Lauria, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated v. BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Stephen M. Simes naming the Company and its former President and Chief Executive Officer, Stephen M. Simes, as defendants. The complaint alleges that certain of the Company's disclosures relating to the efficacy of LibiGel [®] and its commercial potential were false and/or misleading and that such false and/or misleading statements had the effect of artificially inflating the price of the Company's securities resulting in violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, Rule 10b-5 and Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.

Although a substantially similar complaint was filed in the same court on February 21, 2012, such complaint was voluntarily dismissed by the plaintiff in April 2012. The plaintiff sought to represent a class of persons who purchased the Company's securities between February 12, 2010 and December 15, 2011, and sought unspecified compensatory damages, equitable and/or injunctive relief, and reasonable costs, expert fees and attorneys' fees on behalf of such purchasers. On November 6, 2012, the plaintiff filed a consolidated amended complaint. On December 28, 2012, the Company and Mr. Simes filed motions to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint. On September 11, 2013, the Illinois district court judge granted defendants' motions to dismiss, without prejudice, and gave plaintiffs 28 days to file an amended complaint. The plaintiffs did not file an amended complaint and the matter has been concluded.

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

On May 7, 2012, Jerome W. Weinstein, a purported stockholder of the Company, filed a shareholder derivative action in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois under the caption Weinstein v. BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. et al., naming the Company's directors as defendants and the Company as a nominal defendant. A substantially similar complaint was filed in the same court on May 22, 2012 and another substantially similar complaint was filed in the Circuit Court for Cook County, Illinois, County Department, Chancery Division, on June 27, 2012. The suits generally related to the same events that are the subject of the class action litigation described above. The complaints allege breaches of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, gross mismanagement and unjust enrichment as causes of action occurring from at least February 2010 through December 2011. The complaints seek unspecified damages, punitive damages, costs and disbursements and unspecified reform and improvements in the Company's corporate governance and internal control procedures.

On September 24, 2012, the United States District Court consolidated the two shareholder derivative cases before it and on November 20, 2012, the plaintiffs filed their consolidated amended complaint. On January 11, 2013, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint. On September 11, 2013, the Illinois district court judge granted defendants' motions to dismiss, without prejudice, and gave plaintiffs 28 days to file an amended complaint. The plaintiffs did not file an amended complaint and the district court matter has been concluded.

On November 27, 2012, the plaintiff in the shareholder derivative action pending in Illinois state court filed an amended complaint. On January 18, 2013, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint. On July 1, 2013, the Illinois state court judge granted defendants' motions to dismiss, without prejudice, and gave plaintiffs until July 31, 2013 to file an amended complaint. On September 9, 2013, the Illinois state court judge granted defendants' motion to dismiss, with prejudice. On October 9, 2013, the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal to Illinois state appellate court. The Company believes the state court complaint is without merit and will continue to defend the action vigorously.

Management is unable to predict the outcome of the remaining lawsuit and the possible loss or range of loss, if any, associated with its resolution or any potential effect the lawsuit may have on the Company's operations. Depending on the outcome or resolution of the remaining lawsuit, it could have a material effect on the Company's operations, including its financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. No amounts have been accrued related to this legal action as of December 31, 2013.

Louisiana Medicaid Lawsuit

On September 11, 2013, the Attorney General of the State of Louisiana filed a lawsuit in Louisiana state court against the Company and numerous other pharmaceutical companies, under various state laws, alleging that each defendant caused the state's Medicaid agency to provide reimbursement for drug products that allegedly were not approved by the FDA and therefore allegedly not reimbursable under the federal Medicaid program. The lawsuit relates to three cough and cold prescription products manufactured and sold by the Company's former Gulfport, Mississippi operation, which was sold in September 2010. Through its lawsuit, the state seeks unspecified damages, statutory fines, penalties, attorney's fees and costs. On October 15, 2013, the defendants removed the lawsuit to the U.S. District Court. On November 14, 2013, the state filed a motion to remand the lawsuit to the Louisiana state court. While the Company cannot predict the outcome of the lawsuit at this time, it could be subject to material damages, penalties and fines. The Company intends to vigorously defend against all claims in the lawsuit.

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

Other Commitments and Contingencies

All manufacturers of the drug Reglan [®] and its generic equivalent metoclopramide, including the Company, are facing allegations from plaintiffs in various states claiming bodily injuries as a result of ingestion of metoclopramide or its brand name Reglan ® prior to the FDA's February 2009 Black Box warning requirement. The Company has been named and served in 85 separate complaints, including three in Pennsylvania, nine in New Jersey, and 73 in California, covering 2,934 plaintiffs in total. In August 2012, the Company was dismissed with prejudice from all New Jersey cases. Management considers the Company's exposure to this litigation to be limited due to several factors: (1) the only generic metoclopramide manufactured by the Company prior to the implementation of the FDA's warning requirement was an oral solution introduced after May 28, 2008; (2) the Company's market share for the oral solution was a very small portion of the overall metoclopramide market; and (3) once the Company received a request for change of labeling from the FDA, it submitted its proposed changes within 30 days, and such changes were subsequently approved by the FDA. At the present time, management is unable to assess the likely outcome of the remaining cases. The Company's insurance company has assumed the defense of this matter. In addition, the Company's insurance company renewed the Company's product liability insurance on September 1, 2012 and 2013 with absolute exclusions for claims related to Reglan [®] and metoclopramide. Management is unable to predict the outcome of these matters and the possible loss or range of loss, if any, associated with their resolution or any potential effect the legal action may have on the Company's operations. Furthermore, management cannot provide assurances that the outcome of these matters will not have an adverse effect on its business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flow. Like all pharmaceutical manufacturers, the Company in the future may be exposed to other product liability claims, which could harm its business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows.

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Asset Purchase

In December 2013, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase Abbreviated New Drug Applications ("ANDAs") to produce 31 generic drug products from Teva Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Teva") for \$12.5 million in cash and a percentage of future gross profits from product sales. According to the terms of the agreement, Teva was required to provide soft copy materials and transfer ownership of the ANDAs to the Company within five business days of signing the agreement, and the Company was required to and did pay the first installment of \$8.5 million upon receipt thereof. Teva provided the soft copy materials and transferred ownership of the ANDAs to the Company on January 2, 2014 and the Company paid the first installment of \$8.5 million to Teva on January 2, 2014. Teva was also required to provide hard copy materials to the Company within 90 days of signing the asset purchase agreement and the Company will pay the balance upon receipt of hard copy materials. The drug products include 20 solid-oral immediate release products, four extended release products and seven liquid products. Management performed an assessment of the assets purchased and determined that this transaction was an asset purchase and not a business combination. The ANDAs were not recorded as of December 31, 2013, as the exchange did not take place until 2014. The ANDAs will be amortized in full over their useful lives, averaging 10 years.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On June 19, 2013, after completion of the Merger, the Audit Committee of the Company's Board of Directors dismissed Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm and appointed EisnerAmper LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2013, both with immediate effect. The Company initially reported this change in a Form 8-K dated June 19, 2013 and filed with the SEC on June 21, 2013.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Company's reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Company's reports filed under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

The Company's management has carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of December 31, 2013. Based upon that evaluation, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over the Company's financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, a company's principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by a company's board of directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

- pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of its assets;
- provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors; and
- provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of assets that could have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO") in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (1992).

Based on this assessment, the Company's management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2013, the Company's internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

This report does not include an attestation report of the Company's independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting, as such attestation is not required.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company is currently integrating BioSante's and ANIP's business processes and information systems, including internal controls. This work began immediately upon completion of the Merger and continued throughout calendar year 2013.

There was no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2013 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The text of the Company's Code of Ethics, which applies to the Company's principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, and persons performing similar functions, is posted on the Company's website, www.anipharmaceuticals.com, under the "Corporate Governance" subsection of the "Investors" section of the site. The Company will disclose on its website amendments to, and, if any are granted, waivers of, its Code of Ethics for its principal executive officer, principal financial officer, or principal accounting officer, controller, or persons performing similar functions.

Information required by this item with respect to the Company's directors will be set forth under the caption "Election of Directors" in the Company's definitive proxy statement for the Company's 2014 annual meeting, to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the close of the Company's fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Information required by this item with respect to the Company's executive officers will be set forth under the caption "Executive Officers of the Company" in the Company's definitive proxy statement for the Company's 2014 annual meeting, to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the close of the Company's fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Information required by this item with respect to compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act will be set forth under the caption "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" in the Company's definitive proxy statement for the Company's 2014 annual meeting, to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the close of the Company's fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Information required by this item with respect to the audit committee of the Company, the audit committee financial expert of the Company and any material changes to the way in which the Company's security holders may recommend nominees to the Company's Board of Directors will be set forth under the caption "Corporate Governance" in the Company's definitive proxy statement for the Company's 2014 annual meeting, to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the close of the Company's fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this item with respect to executive compensation will be set forth under the caption "Executive Compensation" in the Company's definitive proxy statement for the Company's 2014 annual meeting, to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the close of the Company's fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required by this item with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management will be set forth under the captions "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners" and "Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers in the Company's definitive proxy statement for the Company's 2014 annual meeting, to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the close of the Company's fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information required by this item with respect to certain relationships and related transactions and director independence will be set forth under the captions "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" and "Corporate Governance" in the Company's definitive proxy statement for the Company's 2014 annual meeting, to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the close of the Company's fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by this item with respect to principal accounting fees and services will be set forth under the caption "Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public Accountants" in the Company's definitive proxy statement for the Company's 2014 annual meeting, to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the close of the Company's fiscal year, and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV.

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

Documents filed as part of this report on Form 10-K:

(a) Financial Statements:

The consolidated balance sheets of the Registrant as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders' equity/(deficit), and cash flows for each of the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the footnotes thereto, and the reports of EisnerAmper LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, are filed herewith.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules:

All schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(c) Exhibits

Exhibits included or incorporated by reference herein: see Exhibit Index on page 84.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: / S / Arthur S. Przybyl

Arthur S. Przybyl

President and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)

Date: February 28, 2014

By: / S / Charlotte C. Arnold

Charlotte C. Arnold

Vince President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer)

Date: February 28, 2014

Pursuant to the requirements the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

| Name | Capacity | Date |
|---|--|-------------------|
| / S / Arthur S. Przybyl Arthur S. Przybyl | Director, President and Chief Executive Officer | February 28, 2014 |
| / S / Robert E. Brown, Jr. Robert E. Brown, Jr. | Director and Chairman of the Board of Directors | February 28, 2014 |
| / S / Fred Holubow Fred Holubow | Director | February 28, 2014 |
| / S / Ross Mangano Ross Mangano | Director | February 28, 2014 |
| / S / Tracy L. Marshbanks, Ph.D. Tracy L. Marshbanks, Ph.D. | Director | February 28, 2014 |
| / S / Thomas A. Penn Thomas A. Penn | Director | February 28, 2014 |
| / S / Daniel Raynor Daniel Raynor | Director | February 28, 2014 |

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. EXHIBIT INDEX TO ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

| Exhibit No. | Exhibit | Method of Filing |
|----------------|--|---|
| 2.1 | Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 12, 2013, by and among BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc., ANI Merger Sub, Inc. and ANIP Acquisition Company (1) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 12, 2013 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 2.2 | Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 26, 2013, by and between ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. (2) | Filed herewith |
| 3.1 | Certificate of Amendment of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated as of July 17, 2013, Certificate of Amendment of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated as of June 1, 2012, and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to ANI's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2013 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 3.2 | Amended and Restated Bylaws of BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 11, 2010 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 4.1 | Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued by BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Date of August 13, 2009 | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2009 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 4.2 | Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued by BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Date of September 2010 | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 5, 2010 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 4.3 | Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued by BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Date of June 2010 | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 21, 2010 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 4.4 | Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued by BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Date of December 2010 | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 29, 2010 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 4.5 | Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued by BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Date of March 2011 | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 4, 2011 (File No. 001-31812) |

| Exhibit No. | Exhibit | Method of Filing |
|----------------|--|---|
| 4.6 | Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued by BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. with an Initial Exercise Date of August 2012 | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 17, 2012 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.1* | Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreement, dated as of July 16, 2008, between BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Stephen M. Simes | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 18, 2008 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.2* | Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreement, dated as of July 16, 2008, between BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Phillip B. Donenberg | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 18, 2008 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.3* | ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Third Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 1, 2012 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.4* | Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Third Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 1, 2012 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.5* | Form of Non-Statutory Option Agreement under the ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Third Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 1, 2012 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.6* | Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement between ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its Non-Employee Directors Under the ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Third Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 13, 2008 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.7* | BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Plan | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 12, 2006 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.8* | Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement Under the BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Plan | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.9* | Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement Under the BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Plan | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 (File No. 001-31812) |

| Exhibit No. | Exhibit | Method of Filing |
|----------------|--|---|
| 10.10* | Form of Indemnification Agreement between BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and each of its Directors and Executive Officers | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.11 | License Agreement, dated June 13, 2000, between Permatec Technologie, AG (renamed as Antares Pharma IPL AG) and BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.12 | Amendment No. 1 to the License Agreement, dated May 20, 2001, by and between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.13 | Amendment No. 2 to the License Agreement, dated July 5, 2001, between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-KSB40 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 0-28637) |
| 10.14 | Amendment No. 3 to the License Agreement, dated August 30, 2001, between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.15 | Amendment No. 4 to the License Agreement, dated August 8, 2002, between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.16 | Amendment No. 5 to the License Agreement, dated December 30, 2002, between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.17 | Amendment No. 6 to the License Agreement, dated October 20, 2006, between Antares Pharma IPL AG and BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Letters, dated October 27, 2006, November 6, 2006, and November 7, 2006, from BioSante Pharmaceuticals to Antares Pharma IPL AG Regarding the License Agreement (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to ANI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.18 | License Agreement, dated December 3, 2008, by and between BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Azur Pharma International II Limited (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K/A as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 7, 2010 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.19 | Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated November 30, 2009, by and between BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Azur Pharma International II Limited (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K/A as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 7, 2010 (File No. 001-31812) |

| Exhibit No. | Exhibit | Method of Filing |
|----------------|---|--|
| 10.20 | Development and License Agreement, dated December 27, 2002, between BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to ANI's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2012 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.21 | First Amendment to Development and License Agreement, dated March 13, 2003, between BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to ANI's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2012 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.22 | Letter Agreement, dated June 4, 2007, between BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. Regarding Development and License Agreement between Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. and BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. effective December 27, 2002 | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to ANI's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2012 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.23 | Third Amendment to Development and License Agreement, effective October 18, 2012, by and between Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. and BioSante Pharmaceuticals, Inc. | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to ANI's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2012 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.24 | Department of Veterans Affairs Federal Supply Schedule Contract Award to ANIP Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., effective July 15, 2012, and Product Number Change Request, dated August 22, 2012 | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.25 | Sublicense Agreement, dated as of October 30, 2009, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Jazz Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.26 | Supplier Agreement Multisource and Onestop Generics Program, dated as of November 1, 2010, by and between McKesson Corporation and ANIP Acquisition Company (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.27 | Master Product Development and Collaboration Agreement, dated as of July 11, 2011, by and among ANIP Acquisition Company d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and RiconPharma LLC (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to ANI's Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 18, 2013 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.28 | Amended and Restated Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated as of June 10, 2008, between ANIP Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Alaven Pharmaceuticals, LLC. and Addendum No. 1 thereto, dated as of December 1, 2010, and Addendum No. 2 thereto, dated as of July 10, 2012 (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |

| Exhibit No. | Exhibit | Method of Filing |
|----------------|--|--|
| 10.29 | Generic Wholesale Service Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2006, between ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Cardinal Health, First Amendment to Generic Wholesale Service Agreement, dated as of July 10, 2008, Letter Agreement, dated as of July 10, 2008, regarding assignment of the Generic Wholesale Service Agreement to ANIP Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Letter from Cardinal Health, dated December 22, 2008 Regarding Increase in Base Service Fee, and Second Amendment to Generic Wholesale Service Agreement, dated May 7, 2012 (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.30 | Development, Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated as of February 5, 2009, by and between ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and County Line Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and Addendum to Development, Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2012 (3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.31 | Manufacturing Transfer and Supply Agreement, dated March 31, 2010, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and County Line Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and Addendum to Manufacturing Transfer and Supply Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2012(3) | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.61 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.32* | Employment Letter Agreement, dated February 25, 2009, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Arthur S. Przybyl | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.33* | Employment Letter Agreement, dated May 6, 2009, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company, d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and Charlotte C. Arnold | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.63 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.34* | Employment Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2007, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and James Marken | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.35* | Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated September 22, 2012, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Arthur Przybyl | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.36* | Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated September 22, 2012, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Charlotte Arnold | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |

| Exhibit No. | Exhibit | Method of Filing |
|----------------|---|--|
| 10.37* | Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated September 22, 2012, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and James Marken | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.38* | Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated September 22, 2012, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Robert Jamnick | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.39 | Letter Agreement regarding fee payment, dated as of October 3, 2012, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and MVP Management Company | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.40 | Letter Agreement regarding fee payment, dated as of October 3, 2012, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Healthcare Value Capital LLC | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.70 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.41 | Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 6, 2012, between Alostar Bank of Commerce and ANIP Acquisition Company | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.71 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.42 | Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 28, 2011, between ANIP Acquisition Company, Meridian Venture Partners II, L.P. and the other parties thereto | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.72 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2012 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.43* | Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated December 28, 2012, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Arthur S. Przybyl | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.73 to ANI's Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 18, 2013 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.44* | Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated December 28, 2012, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Charlotte Arnold | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.74 to ANI's Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 18, 2013 (File No. 333-185391) |
| 10.45* | Amendment No. 2 to Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated April 12, 2013, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Arthur Przybyl | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.81 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 26, 2013 (File No. 333-188174) |

| Exhibit No. | Exhibit | Method of Filing |
|----------------|--|---|
| 10.46* | Amendment No. 2 to Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated April 12, 2013, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Charlotte Arnold | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.82 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 26, 2013 (File No. 333-188174) |
| 10.47* | Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated April 12, 2013, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and James Marken | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.83 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 26, 2013 (File No. 333-188174) |
| 10.48* | Amendment No. 1 to Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated April 12, 2013, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Robert Jamnick | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.84 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 26, 2013 (File No. 333-188174) |
| 10.49 | First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of April 11, 2013, between Alostar Bank of Commerce and ANIP Acquisition Company | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.85 to ANI's Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 26, 2013 (File No. 333-188174) |
| 10.50* | Amendment No. 3 to Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2013, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Arthur S. Przybyl | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 21, 2013 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.51* | Amendment No. 3 to Transaction Bonus Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2013, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company and Charlotte Arnold | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 21, 2013 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 10.52* | Employment Letter Agreement, dated July 11, 2013, by and between ANIP Acquisition Company d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Robert Schrepfer | Filed herewith |
| 16.1 | Letter from Deloitte & Touche LLP, dated June 20, 2013, regarding change in certifying accountants | Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.1 to ANI's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 21, 2013 (File No. 001-31812) |
| 21 | List of subsidiaries | Filed herewith |
| 23.1 | Consent of EisnerAmper LLP | Filed herewith |
| 31.1 | Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to SEC Rule 13a-14 | Filed herewith |
| 31.2 | Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to SEC Rule 13a-14 | Filed herewith |
| 32.1 | Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 | Furnished herewith |

| Exhibit No. | Exhibit | Method of Filing |
|----------------|--|--------------------|
| 101** | The following materials from ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the audited consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the audited consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) the audited consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity; (iv) the audited consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) Notes to consolidated Financial Statements. | Furnished herewith |

- (1) All exhibits to this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. ANI will furnish the omitted exhibits to the SEC upon request by the SEC.
- (2) Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to redacted portions of this document.
- (3) Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to redacted portions of this document.
- * Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this annual report on Form 10 K pursuant to Item 15(a).
- ** Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 to this annual report on Form 10-K shall not be deemed to be "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, and shall not be deemed part of a registration statement, prospectus or other document filed under Section 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liability of those sections, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filings.

Exhibit 2.2

ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this "<u>Agreement</u>") is made and entered into effective as of December 26, 2013 (the "<u>Effective Date</u>"), by and between Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, İnc., a Delaware corporation and those of its affiliates that own the ANDAs (as defined below) (collectively, "<u>Teva</u>"), on the one hand, and ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("<u>Buyer</u>"), on the other hand.

WHEREAS, Teva owns certain ANDAs and other assets that are part of the Purchased Assets (as defined below) with respect to the generic pharmaceutical products listed on $\underline{\text{Exhibit A}}$ (the " $\underline{\text{Products}}$ ", as further defined below) within the Territory;

WHEREAS, Buyer wishes to purchase the Purchased Assets from Teva, all upon the terms and subject to the conditions hereinafter set forth:

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions hereinafter expressed, Buyer and Teva agree as follows:

- 1. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:
- (a) "Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person named herein, any other Person that is controlled by, controls, or is under common control with the named Person. "Control" of a business entity means any of: (i) direct or indirect beneficial ownership of fifty percent (50%) of more of the voting interest in such entity, (ii) the right to appoint fifty percent (50%) or more of the directors or management of such entity, or (iii) the power to otherwise direct the management and policies of such entity.
- (b) "ANDAs" means all the right, title and interest in, to and under the Abbreviated New Drug Applications filed with the FDA pursuant to its rules and regulations and included on Exhibit A.
- (c) "Applicable Law" means the applicable laws, rules, regulations, guidelines and requirements of any Governmental Entity related to the development, registration, manufacture, importation, sale and marketing of the Products in the Territory or any obligation under, or related to, this Agreement, including those obligations applicable to the ANDAs.
 - (d) "Assumed Liabilities" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 4 of this Agreement.
- (e) "Bill of Sale" means a bill of sale to be executed and delivered by each Party no later than (i) five (5) Business Days following the Effective Date with respect to the Initial Purchased Assets (the "Initial Bill of Sale") and (ii) ninety (90) days following the Effective Date with respect to the Remaining Purchased Assets (the "Remaining Bill of Sale"), each of which will be substantially in the form of Exhibit B-1 and Exhibit B-2, respectively.

- (f) "Business Day" means any day on which commercial banks are not authorized or required to close in New York, New York.
- (g) "<u>Calendar Quarter</u>" means any of the three (3) consecutive calendar month periods ending on March 31, June 30, September 30 or December 31.
 - (h) "Confidential Information" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 13 of this Agreement.
 - (i) "Continuing Royalty Obligation" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 6(c) of the Agreement.
 - (j) "Contract Margin" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Exhibit C of this Agreement.
 - (k) "Excluded Assets" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 2(b) of this Agreement.
- (l) "FDA" means the United States Food and Drug Administration and all divisions under its direct control or any successor organizations.
 - (m) [***] shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Exhibit C of this Agreement.
- (n) "Governmental Entity" means any international, national, foreign, federal, state or local judicial, legislative, executive, administrative or regulatory body or authority.
 - (o) "Initial Acquisition Date" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 2(a) of this Agreement.
 - (p) "<u>Initial Disclosure</u>" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 15 of this Agreement.
 - (q) "<u>Initial Purchased Assets</u>" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 2(a) of this Agreement.
- (r) "<u>Launch Date</u>" means, on a Product-by-Product basis, the date on which Buyer, its Affiliates or a third party under an ANDA Sale Transaction (defined below) makes its first commercial sale of such Product to an unrelated third party in an arms-length transaction in the Territory.

- (s) "<u>Liabilities</u>" means any and all debts, liabilities and obligations, whether accrued or fixed, absolute or contingent, matured or unmatured, or known or unknown, including those arising under Applicable Law or governmental action and those arising under any contract, arrangement, commitment or undertaking, or otherwise.
 - (t) "Net Sales" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Exhibit C of this Agreement.
 - (u) "Party" or "Parties" means Teva or Buyer, as applicable.
- (v) "Person" means any individual, partnership (general or limited), association, corporation, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, estate, limited liability partnership, unincorporated organization, government (or any agency or political subdivision thereof) or other legal person or organization.
- (w) "Products" means the generic pharmaceutical products listed on Exhibit A that are manufactured pursuant to an ANDA to be purchased by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement.
- (x) "Product Year" means, on a Product-by-Product basis, each twelve month period following the Launch Date for a particular Product, with "Product Year 1" meaning the first such twelve month period, "Product Year 2" meaning the second such twelve month period, and "Product Year 3" meaning the third such twelve month period, and so on.
- (y) "Purchased Assets" means (i) the ANDAs and (ii) the related documents, only to the extent made available to Buyer for inspection at its Woodcliff Lake, NJ site on November 19, 2013.
 - (z) "Remaining Acquisition Date" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 2(a) of this Agreement.
 - (aa) "Remaining Purchased Assets" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 2(a) of this Agreement.
 - (bb) "Royalty" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Exhibit C of this Agreement.
 - (cc) "Royalty Term" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Exhibit C of this Agreement.
- (dd) " <u>Territory</u>" means the United States of America, including its districts, territories, commonwealths and possessions.

- (ee) "Up-Front Payments" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 6 of this Agreement.
- 2.
- (a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, as promptly as practicable, but in no event later than (i) five (5) Business Days, following the Effective Date (such date, the "Initial Acquisition Date"), (A) Teva will transfer, sell, convey, assign and deliver to Buyer all of the Purchased Assets that are in electronic form as well as the Purchased Assets in hardcopy relating to ANDA# 061591 (the "Initial Purchased Assets") and Buyer will purchase, accept and assume, all of Teva's right, title and interest in and to the Initial Purchased Assets, for the purchase price of one (1) dollar (\$1.00) and the other consideration set forth herein and (B) the Parties shall each execute and deliver an Initial Bill of Sale with respect to such Initial Purchased Assets (the "Initial Bill of Sale") and (ii) ninety (90) days following the Effective Date (such date, the "Remaining Acquisition Date"), (A) Teva will transfer, sell, convey, assign and deliver to Buyer all of the Purchased Assets other than the Initial Purchased Assets (the "Remaining Purchased Assets") and Buyer will purchase, accept and assume, all of Teva's right, title and interest in and to the Remaining Purchased Assets, for the purchase price of one (1) dollar (\$1.00) and the other consideration set forth herein and (B) the Parties shall each execute and deliver a Bill of Sale with respect to such Remaining Purchased Assets (the "Remaining Bill of Sale").
- (b) Teva and Buyer expressly agree and acknowledge that the Purchased Assets do not include any assets of any kind, nature, character or description (whether real, personal or mixed, whether tangible or intangible, whether absolute, accrued, contingent, fixed or otherwise, and wherever situated) that are not expressly included within the definition of Purchased Assets (the "Excluded Assets"). For purposes hereof, it is agreed that the Excluded Assets include, without limitation, any and all trademarks, trade names, brand names, logotypes, symbols, service marks, and trade dress, and any registrations or applications for registrations of any of the foregoing.
- 3. Buyer acknowledges and agrees that Teva may retain for archival purposes and for purposes of complying with Applicable Law only, one (1) copy of all or any part of the documentation that Teva delivers to Buyer pursuant to Section 2. Teva agrees to treat such copies as Confidential Information (in accordance with Section 13 hereof).

- Buyer agrees that from and after the Initial Acquisition Date, with respect to the Initial Purchased Assets, and the Remaining Acquisition Date, with respect to the Remaining Purchased Assets, Buyer will be responsible for and will pay, perform and/or otherwise discharge when due those Liabilities (including any Liabilities arising in respect of taxes) arising from and after the Effective Date, that directly arise out of or in connection with or directly relate to the Purchased Assets or Products, the use thereof, or the marketing or sale of the Products by or on behalf of Buyer or its Affiliates, including: (a) Liabilities arising on or after the Effective Date from any patent infringement claim or lawsuit brought by any third party, the FDA or any other Governmental Entity, in all cases only to the extent that they relate to Products sold by or on behalf of the Buyer on or after the Effective Date; (b) Liabilities arising on or after the Effective Date from any FDA or any other Governmental Entity action or notification filed on or after the Effective Date, in all cases only to the extent they relate to Products sold by or on behalf of Buyer or its Affiliates on or after the Effective Date; (c) Liabilities arising on or after the Effective Date from any product liability claims relating to Products sold by or on behalf of Buyer or its agents or assignees on or after the Effective Date; and (d) state and federal Medicaid/Medicare rebates and payments, and all credits, chargebacks, rebates, discounts, allowances, incentives and similar payments in connection with the sale of Products by or on behalf of Buyer or its Affiliates on or after the Effective Date (collectively, the "Assumed Liabilities "). It is understood and agreed that the "Assumed Liabilities" do not include any Liabilities that arose prior to the Effective Date or that arise from and after the Effective Date that relate to the Purchased Assets or Products or any other Liabilities set forth in clauses (a) through (d) above in each case that relate to or arise in respect of (i) the period prior to the Effective Date or (ii) any Products sold by or on behalf of Teva, which will remain Liabilities of Teva.
- 5. From and after the Initial Acquisition Date, with respect to the Initial Purchased Assets, and the Remaining Acquisition Date, with respect to the Remaining Purchased Assets, Buyer will be in control of, and responsible for, all costs and Liabilities arising from or related to any commitments or obligations to any Governmental Entity involving the Products and related to the period beginning on and after the Effective Date. It is understood and agreed that Teva will be in control of and responsible for all costs and Liabilities arising from or related to any commitments or obligations to any Governmental Entity involving the Products and related to the period prior to the Effective Date.
 - 6. The Parties covenant and agree as follows:
 - (a) In consideration of the transfer of the Purchased Assets to Buyer:
- i. upon execution of the Initial Bill of Sale and delivery by Teva of the Initial Purchased Assets to Buyer in accordance with Section 2(a), Buyer shall pay to Teva by wire transfer of immediately available funds into an account designated in writing to the Buyer by Teva, a non-refundable payment in the amount of Eight Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (US\$8,500,000) (the "Initial Payment"); and
- ii. upon execution of the Remaining Bill of Sale and delivery by Teva of the Remaining Purchased Assets to Buyer in accordance with Section 2(a), Buyer shall pay to Teva by wire transfer of immediately available funds into an account designated in writing to the Buyer by Teva, a non-refundable payment in the amount of Four Million Dollars (US\$4,000,000) (the "Second Payment" and, together with the Initial Payment, the "Up-Front Payments").

| (b) | In addition to the Up-Front Payments and in further consideration of the transfer of the Purchased Assets to |
|---------------------------------|--|
| Buyer, on a Product-by-Product | basis, following the Launch Date of each Product and until the expiration of the applicable Royalty Term, Buye |
| shall pay to Teva the Royalty s | et forth on Exhibit C [***] Such payments shall be subject to the record keeping, audit and other provision |
| contained in Exhibit C. | |
| | |

- German (c) Buyer hereby represents and warrants to Teva that except in connection with (i) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets or equity of Buyer or (ii) a pledge of the Purchased Assets as collateral under one or more of the Buyer's credit facilities, it will not, transfer, sell, convey, assign or deliver, in accordance with Section 22 or otherwise, one or more ANDAs to a third party (an "ANDA Sale Transaction") for a period of [***] from the Effective Date, without Teva's written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. In the event Buyer enters into an ANDA Sale Transaction, Buyer hereby further represents and warrants to Teva that the ANDA Sale Transaction will obligate such third party to pay or continue to pay, as applicable, the Royalty for each Product that is subject to the ANDA Sale Transaction for the remainder of the applicable Royalty Term, if any (the "Continuing Royalty Obligation"). In the event Buyer enters into any transaction other than an ANDA Sale Transaction pursuant to which a third party distributes one or more of the Products or ANDAs or commercializes one or more of the Products or ANDAs, then Buyer shall pay Teva a Royalty with respect to any such Products on all amounts received by Buyer from such third party for the remainder of the applicable Royalty Term. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, if Buyer transfers, sells, conveys, assigns or delivers any ANDA to an Affiliate, Buyer's Continuing Royalty Obligation to Teva shall not be affected thereby.
- (d) Buyer shall provide Teva with bi-annual status reports in writing on its development activities with respect to each of the Products, which reports shall be deemed to be "Confidential Information" hereunder and which Teva agrees will only be used by it for the purpose of monitoring Buyer's progress towards the commercialization of the Products.
 - (e) [***]

7.

(a) Each of the Parties represents and warrants to the other Party that:

- i. such Party has the corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby;
 ii. neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by such Party, nor its performance hereunder, conflicts
- ii. neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by such Party, nor its performance hereunder, conflicts with or will result in any violation or breach of, or constitutes (with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default under any of the terms or conditions of any note, indenture, license, agreement or other instrument or obligation to which it is a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets may be bound; or to its best knowledge, violates any Applicable Law;
- iii. this Agreement is a legal, valid and binding agreement of such Party, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, fraudulent transfer and other similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally from time to time in effect and to general principles of equity (including concepts of materiality, reasonableness, good faith and fair dealing), regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law;
- iv. such Party has not, and will not, directly or indirectly, enter into any contract or any other transaction with any third party that conflicts or derogates from its undertakings hereunder; and
- v. such Party has not been debarred, is not subject to debarment, and will not use, in any capacity in connection with the obligations to be performed under this Agreement, any person who has been debarred pursuant to Section 346 of the United States Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act.
- (b) In addition, Teva hereby represents and warrants to Buyer that (i) it has good and marketable title to the Purchased Assets, free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances and (ii) as of the date hereof, Teva has no actual knowledge of any Liabilities.
- 8. All representations and warranties contained in Section 7 shall survive the Effective Date and shall remain operative and in full force and effect for a period of twelve (12) months following the Effective Date.
- 9. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH HEREIN, TEVA IS NOT MAKING AND HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS, ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, TITLE OR NON-INFRINGEMENT. WITHOUT DEROGATING FROM THE GENERALITY OF THE FOREGOING, BUYER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH HEREIN TEVA IS SELLING THE PURCHASED ASSETS ON AN "AS IS" AND "WHERE IS" BASIS AND TEVA MAKES NO OTHER REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY WITH RESPECT TO THE PURCHASED ASSETS OR THE PRODUCTS INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY GUARANTEE THAT FDA APPROVAL WILL BE OBTAINED, RELATING TO THE MANUFACTURE AND/OR MARKETING OF ANY PRODUCTS.

- Buyer shall indemnify, defend and hold Teva and its Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents and subcontractors harmless from and against any and all liability, damage, loss, cost or expense (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses) arising out of or resulting from any third party claims made or suits brought against such parties which arise or result from (i) Buyer's material breach of any of its representations, warranties or covenants set forth in this Agreement, or any of its obligations hereunder, (ii) any and all Assumed Liabilities; (iii) the manufacture, registration, marketing, handling, storage, use or sale of the Products by or on behalf of Buyer, including, without limitation, any claim for personal injury or death; or (iv) Buyer's negligence or willful misconduct.
- (b) Teva shall indemnify, defend and hold Buyer and its Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents and subcontractors harmless from and against any and all liability, damage, loss, cost or expense (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses) arising out of or resulting from any third party claims made or suits brought against such parties which arise or result from (i) Teva's material breach of any of its representations, warranties or covenants set forth in this Agreement, or any of its obligations hereunder, (ii) any and all Liabilities relating to the Purchased Assets, other than the Assumed Liabilities; (iii) the manufacture, registration, marketing, handling, storage, use or sale of the Products prior to the Effective Date, including, without limitation, any claim for personal injury or death; or (iv) Teva's negligence or willful misconduct.
- 11. In no event shall either Party or its Affiliates have any liability to the other Party for indirect, incidental, special or consequential damages (including lost profits) of the other arising out of the performance or failure to perform any obligations set forth herein, irrespective of whether attributable to breach of contract, breach of warranty, negligence, strict liability or otherwise, other than with respect to the indemnification claims pursuant to Section 10 to the extent payable to third parties.
- 12. At all times from the Launch Date of a Product in the Territory through the date which is three (3) years after the final sale of a Product in the Territory, Buyer will maintain product liability and other insurance (or self insurance) for itself in amounts which are reasonable and customary in the USA pharmaceutical industry, provided in no event shall the product liability insurance amounts be less than [***] per occurrence and [***] in the aggregate limit of liability per year. Buyer shall provide written proof of such insurance to Teva upon request.

13. Each of the Parties agrees that:

- (a) Except as required by law or court order: (i) it will not disclose any Confidential Information, as defined herein, of the other Party to any third party at any time without the prior written consent of the disclosing Party; (ii) it will not make use of any Confidential Information of the other Party for any purpose other than for the purposes set forth in, or in furtherance of the transactions contemplated by, this Agreement; and (iii) it will use all commercially reasonable efforts to prevent unauthorized publication or disclosure by any person of such Confidential Information. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties agree that this Agreement may be disclosed to their respective attorneys, accountants and financial advisors, provided such parties are informed of the confidential nature of the Confidential Information and, in the case of financial advisors, have executed a non-disclosure agreement that contains provisions at least as restrictive as the provisions set forth in this Section 13. In addition, Buyer shall be entitled to disclose this Agreement to prospective purchasers of the ANDAs, the buyer of all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Buyer provided that any such prospective purchaser has executed a non-disclosure agreement that contains provisions at least as restrictive as the provisions set forth in this Section 13.
- (b) With respect to any Confidential Information required to be disclosed by law or court order by a Party that has received such Confidential Information from another Party, the receiving Party shall promptly notify the disclosing Party as to the requirement or demand for such disclosure and shall reasonably assist the disclosing Party in seeking to limit the scope of such disclosure or ensuring that the same is accorded confidential treatment.
- (c) All Confidential Information in any form will be returned to the Party who disclosed the Confidential Information within thirty (30) days after written request by the disclosing Party; provided that the Parties may retain one (1) copy of such Confidential Information with its legal counsel as a record of the receiving Party's ongoing confidentiality obligations under this Agreement.
- (d) For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Confidential Information" means all know-how, trade secrets, formulae, data, inventions, technology and other information, including financial information, in whatever form, related to the registration, manufacture, sale or marketing of the Products, marketing strategies or business of the disclosing Party, related to this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, but subject to Section 15, the existence of this Agreement and each of its provisions shall be considered Confidential Information. Confidential Information shall not include any information that (i) is or becomes public knowledge through no fault of the receiving Party; (ii) rightfully was in the receiving Party's possession at the time of disclosure (as evidenced by written records); (iii) was independently created by the receiving Party (as evidenced by written records) without use or reference to any Confidential Information; or (iv) is received from a third party having the lawful right to disclose the information. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in clause (ii) above, it is understood and agreed that in no event will the Confidential Information retained by Teva under Section 3, be deemed to be excluded from the term "Confidential Information."

- 14. Teva shall dispatch a letter to FDA in the form set forth in <u>Exhibit D</u> (a) simultaneous with or promptly after Buyer's payment to Teva of the Initial Payment, with respect to the Initial Purchased Assets and (b) simultaneous with or promptly after Buyer's payment to Teva of the Second Payment with respect to the Remaining Purchased Assets.
- The Parties agree that except as provided below, no publicity, release, disclosure or announcement concerning this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereunder shall be issued without the advance written consent of the other Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. For releases, disclosures or announcements required by applicable securities laws or Applicable Law, the Party proposing to make the release, disclosure or announcement shall, before making any such release, disclosure or announcement, afford the other Party a reasonable opportunity to review and comment, and the first Party shall give due consideration to the comments of the other Party. It is understood and agreed that once Teva has reviewed and commented on the initial disclosure relating to this Agreement to be included in Buyer's filings with the Securities Exchange Commission under applicable securities laws (the "Initial Disclosure"), Teva agrees that the Initial Disclosure shall be deemed preapproved for purposes of, and any may be included in, all future filings of the Buyer without triggering additional review and comment rights of Teva for each such subsequent filing. The Parties recognize that Buyer may be required to file a copy of this Agreement with the Securities Exchange Commission, as a material contract of the Buyer. Buyer agrees that if it is advised by counsel that a copy of this Agreement must be filed, it will redact confidential provisions to the extent permitted by applicable law and will use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain confidential treatment with respect to that portion of the Agreement which it is advised by counsel is eligible therefor.
- 16. Buyer will preserve all books and records included within the Purchased Assets for applicable periods of time required by the FDA and any other applicable Governmental Entity and, subject to the confidentiality restrictions contained herein, make such books and records available for inspection and copying by Teva or its agents upon reasonable request and upon reasonable notice.
- This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and construed in accordance with the substantive laws of the State of New York, U.S.A., without regard to its conflict of laws principles. Each of the Parties hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York over any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement, and each hereby waives the defense of any inconvenient forum for the maintenance or such action or proceeding. In addition, it is further agreed that the Parties shall be entitled to enforce specifically the terms of this Agreement in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, this entitlement being in addition to any other remedy to which such Party is entitled at law or in equity. To the extent that it may otherwise by applicable, the Parties hereby expressly agree to unconditionally waive and exclude from the operation of this Agreement the United Nations Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods, concluded at Vienna, on 11 April 1980, as amended and as may be amended further from time to time.

All notices and other communications required or permitted to be given or made pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing signed by the sender and shall be deemed duly given (a) on the date delivered, if personally delivered, (b) on the date sent by telecopier with automatic confirmation by the transmitting machine showing the proper number of pages were transmitted without error, (c) on the business day after being sent by Federal Express or another recognized overnight mail service which utilizes a written form of receipt for next day or next business day delivery or (d) three (3) business days after mailing, if mailed by U.S. postage-prepaid certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, in each case addressed to the applicable Party at the address set forth below; provided that a Party may change its address for receiving notice by the proper giving of notice hereunder:

if to Teva, to:

Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. 1090 Horsham Road

North Wales, PA 19454

Attention: Vik Seoni SVP, Business Development & Alliance Management

Facsimile: (215) 293-6500

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. 425 Privet Road Horsham, PA 19044

Attention: General Counsel Facsimile: (215) 293-6499

if to Buyer, to:

ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 210 Main Street West Baudette, MN 56623 Attention: Charlotte Arnold

Attention: Charlotte Arnold Facsimile: (218) 634-3540

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Dentons US LLP 1221 Avenue of the Americas New York, NY 10020 Attention: Jane A Meyer

Attention: Jane A. Meyer Facsimile: (212) 768-6700

- 19. The status of the Parties under this Agreement shall be that of independent contractors, without the authority to act on behalf of or bind each other. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as establishing a partnership or joint venture relationship between the Parties hereto.
- 20. This Agreement (including its Annexes) constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to its subject matter and supersedes all prior agreements, arrangements, dealings or writings between the Parties. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except in writing executed by the duly authorized representatives of the Parties.
- 21. Should any part or provision of this Agreement be held unenforceable or in conflict with Applicable Law, the invalid or unenforceable part or provision shall, provided that it does not affect the essence of this Agreement, be replaced with a revision which accomplished, to the greatest extent possible, the original commercial purpose of such part or provision in a valid and enforceable manner, and the balance of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and binding upon the Parties hereto.
- 22. The terms and provisions hereof shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns. No Party shall assign, encumber or otherwise transfer this Agreement or any part of it to any third party, without the prior written consent of the other Party which consent will not be unreasonably withheld; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, and subject to the Continuing Royalty Obligation, no such consent shall be required in the event of any assignment or transfer of this Agreement (a) to any of its Affiliates, or (b) to any successor in interest to such Party's business, whether by merger, sale of assets or otherwise; in the event of which a Party shall only be required to give written notice of such assignment or transfer to the other Party but will not be required to obtain the consent of the other Party. In the case of an assignment to an Affiliate, the assigning Party shall remain liable for the full and timely performance by such Affiliate of all the obligations of the assigning Party hereunder. In the case of any sale, assignment, divestiture or other transfer to a third party, the assigning Party shall remain liable for the full and timely performance of such third party unless such third party has a tangible net worth that is no less than the tangible net worth of the assigning Party, in which event the assigning Party shall be released from all future liability hereunder, in the case of Buyer subject to the Continuing Royalty Obligation. Nothing in this Section 22 shall prohibit Buyer from using contract manufacturers or distributors in connection with its ownership, development or sale of the Products, subject to its obligation to pay the Royalty to Teva.
- 23. No waiver of a breach or default hereunder shall be considered valid unless in writing and signed by the Party giving such waiver, and no such waiver shall be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach or default of the same or similar nature.

- Each of the Parties shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all such further actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make effective as promptly as possible, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement including, without limitation, notices to the FDA regarding the transfer of the ANDAs from Teva to Buyer. Each Party shall bear its own costs related thereto. In addition, Teva agrees to cause any affiliates that own any of the ANDAs to fully comply with the terms of this Agreement and Teva's obligations hereunder.
- 25. Any provision which by its terms is intended to survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement will survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement and remain in full force and effect thereafter.
- 26. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which, taken together, shall constitute one and the same instrument. PDF and facsimile signatures shall constitute original signatures.

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC.

By: /s/ Allan Oberman

Name: Allan Oberman

Title: President and CEO, Teva Americas Generics

By: /s/ Vikram Seoni

Name: Vikram Seoni

Title: SVP, Business Development & Alliance Management

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Charlotte C. Arnold

Name: Charlotte C. Arnold

Title: VP & Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT A

| ANDA | PRODUCT |
|-------------------------|---|
| 77979 | ALPRAZOLAM EXTENDED RELEASE TABLET, 0.5 mg, 1 mg, 2 mg and 3 mg |
| 77725 | ALPRAZOLAM EXTENDED RELEASE TABLET, 0.5 mg, 1 mg, 2 mg and 3 mg |
| 65278 | CEFADROXIL/CEFADROXIL HEMIHYDRATE FOR SUSPENSION, EQ 250 mg base/5 mL, 500 mg base/5 mL |
| 62698 | CEFADROXIL/CEFADROXIL HEMIHYDRATE FOR SUSPENSION, EQ. 125 mg base/5 mL, 250 mg base mL/5 mL, 500 mg base/5 mL |
| 88921 | CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 100 mg |
| 88812 | CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLETS, 100 mg |
| 89446 | CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 100 mg |
| 89447 | CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 250 mg |
| 88813 | CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 250 mg |
| 88918 | CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 100 mg |
| 88919 | CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 250 mg |
| 88840 87353 88768 | CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLETS, 100 mg CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLETS, 250 mg CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 100 mg |
| 88641 | CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 250 mg |
| 88922 | CHLORPROPAMIDE TABLET, 250 mg |
| 74859 | CIMETIDINE HYDROCHLORIDE SOLUTION, 300 mg/5 mL |
| 74610 | CIMETIDINE HYDROCHLORIDE SOLUTION, EQ 300 mg base/5 mL |
| 75110 71800 | CIMETIDINE HYDROCHLORIDE SOLUTION, 300 mg/5 mL DESIPRAMINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 25 mg |

DESIPRAMINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 50 mg

71801

| 71802 | DESIPRAMINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 75 mg |
|----------------------------------|--|
| 71803 71804 88682 | DESIPRAMINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 100 mg DESIPRAMINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET. 150 ,g DEXCHLORPHENIRAMINE MALEATE, 2 mg |
| 61591 | ERYTHROMYCIN STEARATE TABLET, EQ 250 mg |
| 63179 61461 75126 | ERYTHROMYCIN STEARATE TABLET, 500 mg ERYTHROMYCIN STEARATE TABLET, 250 mg and 500 mg ETODOLAC CAPSULE, 200 mg and 300 mg |
| 74899 81310 73058 89441 | ETODOLAC CAPSULE, 200 mg and 300 mg FLUPHENAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE ELIXIR, ORAL, 2.5 mg/5 mL FLUPHENAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE CONCENTRATE, ORAL, 5 mg/ml EXTENDED PHENYTOIN SODIUM, 100 mg |
| 74149 | GUANABENZ ACETATE TABLET, EQ. 4 mg base, 8 mg base |
| 74267 75147 | GUANABENZ ACETATE TABLET, 4 mg and 8 mg ISOSORBIDE MONONITRATE TABLET, 20 mg |
| 78730 | LANSOPRAZOLE DELAYED RELEASE TABLETS, 15 mg and 30 mg |
| 40001 | METHAZOLAMIDE TABLET, 25 mg, 50 mg |
| 74540 | NICARDIPINE HYDROCHLORIDE CAPSULE, 20 mg and 30 mg |
| 74439 | NIZATIDINE CAPSULES, 20 mg, 30 mg |
| 75461 | NIZATIDINE CAPSULES, 150 mg, 300 mg |
| 75668 | NIZATIDINE CAPSULES, 150 mg and 300 mg |
| 78005 | OXCARBAZEPINE TABLET, 150 mg, 300 mg and 600 mg |
| 78138 | PERINDOPRIL ERBUMINE TABLET, 2 mg, 4 mg and 8 mg |
| 89457 89708 89707 | PERPHENAZINE TABLET, 16 mg PERPHENAZINE TABLET, 4 mg PERPHENAZINE TABLET, 2 mg |

| 89456 | PERPHENAZINE TABLET, 8 mg |
|--|--|
| 88958 | PROCAINAMIDE HYDROCHLORIDE EXTENDED RELEASE TABLET, 250 mg |
| 88959 | PROCAINAMIDE HYDROCHLORIDE EXTEDNED RELEASE TABLET, 500 mg |
| 88974 89438 | PROCAINAMIDE HYDROCHLORIDE EXTEDNED RELEASE TABLET PROCAINAMIDE HYDROCHLORIDE EXTENDED RELEASE TABLET, 750 mg |
| 40111 | PROCAINAMIDE HYDROCHLORIDE EXTENDED RELEASE TABLET, 1 gm |
| 40435 80259 | EXTENDED PHENYTOIN SODIUM CAPSULE, 100 mg PROMPT PHENYTOIN SODIUM CAPSULE, 100 mg |
| 76550 | PROPAFENONE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 150 mg, 225 mg, 300 mg |
| 71977 80215 | PROPRANOLOL HYDROCHLORIDE TABLETS, 90 mg PROPYLTHIOURACIL TABLET, 50 mg |
| 76440 | RISPERIDONE SOLUTION, 1 mg/mL |
| 76287 | FLUOXETINE HYDROCHLORIDE CAPSULE, EQ. 10 mg base, EQ. 20 mg base |
| 88194 88270 88271 88272 88273 89603 89602 88456 88493 73178 | THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 50 mg THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 10 mg THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 15 mg THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 25 mg THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE TABLET, 100 mg THIORIDAZINE HYDROCHLORIDE CONCENTRATE, 5 mg/mL VALPROIC ACID SYRUP, 250 mg/5 mL |
| 77639 | ZONISAMIDE CAPSULE, 100 mg, 25 mg, 50 mg |
| 77641 | ZONISAMIDE CAPSULE, 25 mg, 50 mg, 100 mg |

EXHIBIT B-1

Form Initial Bill of Sale

| THIS BILL OF SALE (the " Initial Bill of Sale "), dated as of | , 201_, is made and delivered by Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc., |
|---|---|
| a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware and t | hose of its affiliates that own the ANDAs (as defined in the Purchase |
| Agreement) (" Teva "), to ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a company organ | ized under the laws of the State of Delaware (" Purchaser "), (each a " |
| <u>Party</u> ", collectively the " <u>Parties</u> "). | |

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain asset purchase agreement, dated as of December____, 2013, by and between Teva and Purchaser (the "Purchase Agreement"), Teva has agreed to transfer, sell, convey, assign and deliver to Purchaser, and Purchaser has agreed to purchase, accept and assume as of the date hereof, all right, title and interest, within the Territory, of the Initial Purchased Assets (as defined in the Purchase Agreement); and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to deliver to each other such instruments as are required in order to effectuate and evidence the sale by Teva and purchase by Purchaser of the Initial Purchased Assets.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and in accordance with the provisions of the Purchase Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Teva and Purchaser hereby each agree as follows:

- 1. The terms of the Purchase Agreement are incorporated herein by reference and capitalized terms used but not defined in this Initial Bill of Sale shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Purchase Agreement.
- 2. Teva hereby irrevocably and unconditionally transfer, sells, conveys, assigns, and delivers to Purchaser, and Purchaser hereby irrevocably and unconditionally purchases, accepts and assumes, all of Teva's right, title and interest, within the Territory, in and to all of the Initial Purchased Assets, free and clear of any liens, charges or other encumbrances.
- 3. The Parties, their respective divisions, subsidiaries, officers, directors, employees, stockholders, agents, representatives, advisors, consultants, attorneys, independent contractors and successors and assigns hereby release and discharge the other and their respective Affiliates, divisions, subsidiaries, officers, directors, employees, stockholders, agents, representatives, advisors, consultants, attorneys, independent contractors and successors and assigns, from any and all claims, causes of actions, obligations, investigations, demands, suits and/or liabilities, of any nature whatsoever, whether asserted or unasserted, known or unknown, or suspected or unsuspected to exist from the beginning of time, in any way arising under or in any way relating to the Initial Purchased Assets, except with respect to fraud or any representation, warranty or covenant expressly made by it in the Purchase Agreement.

- 4. All of the terms and provisions of this Initial Bill of Sale shall be binding upon Teva and its successors and assigns, and shall be binding upon Purchaser and its successors and assigns.
- 5. This Initial Bill of Sale and any all matters arising directly or indirectly herefrom shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, U.S.A. applicable to agreements made and to be performed entirely in such State.
- 6. It is acknowledged and agreed that this Initial Bill of Sale is intended to document the sale and assignment of the Initial Purchased Assets to Purchaser.
- 7. This Initial Bill of Sale may be executed by PDF and in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute a single instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Initial Bill of Sale as of the date first set forth above.

| TE | VA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC. |
|-----|------------------------------|
| Ву: | Name: Title: |
| Ву: | Name: Title: |
| AN | I PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. |
| Ву: | Name: Title: |
| | 19 |

EXHIBIT B-2

Form Remaining Bill of Sale

THIS BILL OF SALE (the "Remaining Bill of Sale"), dated as of _______, 2014, is made and delivered by Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware and those of its affiliates that own the ANDAs (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) ("Teva"), to ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a company organized under the laws of the State of Delaware ("Purchaser"), (each a "Party", collectively the "Parties").

WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain asset purchase agreement, dated as of December____, 2013, by and between Teva and Purchaser (the "Purchase Agreement"), Teva has agreed to transfer, sell, convey, assign and deliver to Purchaser, and Purchaser has agreed to purchase, accept and assume as of the date hereof, all right, title and interest, within the Territory, of the Remaining Purchased Assets (as defined in the Purchase Agreement); and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to deliver to each other such instruments as are required in order to effectuate and evidence the sale by Teva and purchase by Purchaser of the Remaining Purchased Assets.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and in accordance with the provisions of the Purchase Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Teva and Purchaser hereby each agree as follows:

- 1. The terms of the Purchase Agreement are incorporated herein by reference and capitalized terms used but not defined in this Remaining Bill of Sale shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Purchase Agreement.
- 2. Teva hereby irrevocably and unconditionally transfer, sells, conveys, assigns, and delivers to Purchaser, and Purchaser hereby irrevocably and unconditionally purchases, accepts and assumes, all of Teva's right, title and interest, within the Territory, in and to all of the Remaining Purchased Assets, free and clear of any liens, charges or other encumbrances.
- 3. The Parties, their respective divisions, subsidiaries, officers, directors, employees, stockholders, agents, representatives, advisors, consultants, attorneys, independent contractors and successors and assigns hereby release and discharge the other and their respective Affiliates, divisions, subsidiaries, officers, directors, employees, stockholders, agents, representatives, advisors, consultants, attorneys, independent contractors and successors and assigns, from any and all claims, causes of actions, obligations, investigations, demands, suits and/or liabilities, of any nature whatsoever, whether asserted or unasserted, known or unknown, or suspected or unsuspected to exist from the beginning of time, in any way arising under or in any way relating to the Remaining Purchased Assets, except with respect to fraud or any representation, warranty or covenant expressly made by it in the Purchase Agreement.

- 4. All of the terms and provisions of this Remaining Bill of Sale shall be binding upon Teva and its successors and assigns, and shall be binding upon Purchaser and its successors and assigns.
- 5. This Remaining Bill of Sale and any all matters arising directly or indirectly herefrom shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, U.S.A. applicable to agreements made and to be performed entirely in such State.
- 6. It is acknowledged and agreed that this Remaining Bill of Sale is intended to document the sale and assignment of the Remaining Purchased Assets to Purchaser.
- 7. This Remaining Bill of Sale may be executed by PDF and in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute a single instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Remaining Bill of Sale as of the date first set forth above.

TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC.

| Ву: | |
|-----|-----------------|
| | Name: Title: |
| Ву: | Name: Title: |
| 2 | 21 |

| Confidential Materials Omitted and Filed Separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission Pursuant to a Request | for |
|---|------|
| Confidential Treatment under Rule 406 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Confidential Portions are marked: [| ***] |

ANI PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

| By: | |
|-----|-----------------|
| | Name: Title: |
| | Title: |
| | |
| | |
| 2 | 22 |
| | |

EXHIBIT C

<u>Royalty Payment</u>: On a Product-by-Product basis, Buyer shall pay to Teva the Royalty as a percentage of the Contract Margin (as defined below) from the Launch Date for each Product and for a period of [***] years thereafter, unless it sooner ceases to be recompensed for such sales (the "<u>Royalty Term</u>"), as follows:

• [***] for Product Year 1 through Product Year [***]

(the "Royalty").

Within thirty (30) days following the end of each Calendar Quarter during the Royalty Term, Buyer shall (i) compute and report to Teva in a mutually acceptable format and detail the Net Sales and the Royalty for that Calendar Quarter and (ii) pay to Teva the Royalty for that Calendar Quarter as reflected in the report.

- "Contract Margin " means Net Sales (as defined below) less [***] (as defined below); [***]
- "<u>Net Sales</u>" shall mean, with respect to the Products sold in the Territory, the aggregate gross sales amount invoiced by Buyer or its Affiliates on an arms-length basis to third parties in the Territory, less the following deductions (to the extent actually incurred or accrued):
 - (i) cash discounts given by Buyer (and its Affiliates);
 - (ii) any adjustments on account of price adjustments, billing adjustments, or shelf stock adjustments affecting the Product;
- (iii) chargebacks, rebates, administrative fee arrangements, reimbursements, and similar payments to wholesalers and other distributors, buying groups, health care insurance carriers, pharmacy benefit management companies, health maintenance organizations, other institutions or health care organizations or other customers;

- (iv) amounts due to third parties on account of rebate payments, including Medicaid rebates, or other price reductions provided, based on sales by Buyer and its Affiliates to any governmental or regulatory authority in respect of state or federal Medicare, Medicaid or similar programs; and
- (v) allowances and credits to third parties on account of rejected, damaged, returned or recalled product.

 Buyer will not use the Product as a "loss leader" or as part of a bundle, basket or group sale with sales of its other products not covered under this Agreement that would result in financially disadvantaging the Products relative to such other products.

In the event Buyer grants any discounts, chargebacks, rebates, adjustments or allowances as part of a bundle of other Buyer products, such discounts, chargebacks, rebates, adjustments or allowances shall be allocated to the Product in a pro-rata manner.

[***] means, with respect to the aggregate amount of each Product, the actual [***] and [***] as well as [***] incurred by Buyer that are required for the [***], [***] and [***] of such Product, as determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP then in effect. For the avoidance of doubt, such [***] shall not include any [***].

<u>Recordkeeping</u>. During the Royalty Term and for a period of two (2) years thereafter, Buyer shall keep complete and accurate books and records of account containing all information required for the computation and verification of Net Sales and the Royalty.

<u>Audit Rights</u>. At Teva's request (not to be made more than once in any twelve (12) month period and not more than eighteen (18) months after delivery of the report setting forth such computation) and expense, Buyer will permit a reputable firm of independent accountants mutually acceptable to the Parties to have access upon reasonable written notice and during ordinary working hours to such records as may be necessary to audit any computation of Royalty payments due to Teva hereunder. If as a result of any inaccuracies set forth in such report, the amount(s) paid to Teva under this <u>Exhibit C</u> was either deficient or excessive, then Teva or Buyer, as the case may be, shall pay to the other an amount equal to the deficiency or excess, plus interest thereon at the then prime rate (as reported in the Wall Street Journal). In the event the examination reveals that the amount of any underpayment for the audited period exceeds ten percent (10%) of the amount actually paid by Buyer to Teva during such audited period, Buyer shall also reimburse Teva for Teva's reasonable and documented fees charged by such accountants. In the event of any dispute between Buyer and Teva regarding the findings of any such inspection or audit, the Parties shall initially attempt in good faith to resolve the dispute amicably between themselves, and if the Parties are unable to resolve such dispute within a commercially reasonable period of time, such dispute shall be resolved by an accountant from an internationally recognized independent accounting firm that is mutually agreeable to both of the Parties, and such accountant's determination shall be binding.

EXHIBIT D

[Teva Letterhead] [Date]

Dr. Kathleen Uhl, Acting Director Office of Generic Drugs, HFD-600 CDER/FDA Document Control Room Metro Park North VII 7620 Standish Place Rockville, MD 20855

TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP
Divestiture

Re: ANDA XXXXXX

[Product name and strength]

Dear Dr. Uhl:

In accordance with 21 CFR §314.72(a)(1), Teva Pharmaceuticals USA hereby notifies the Agency that we are transferring ownership, including all rights to ANDA [######] for [**Product name and strength**] to [**XXX Pharmaceuticals**]. The change in ownership is effective as of [**Date**].

Former Owner of Applicant:

XXX Pharmaceuticals Number and Street Name City, State, Zip Code Country New Owner of Applicant:

XXX Pharmaceuticals Number and Street Name City, State, Zip Code Country

This submission is being sent to the Agency through the Electronic Submissions Gateway (ESG). The submission is presented in electronic format and is comprised of approximately 1 megabyte. The submission is virus free, per our client protection (OfficeScan TM). Version 10.5, by Trend Micro TM).

If there are any questions, please do not hesitate to contact either Barinder Sandhu (by phone: (201) 930-3626 or (201) 930-2233 or email: Barinder.Sandhu@tevapharm.com) or myself.

Sincerely,

Scott Tomsky Vice President, US Generics Regulatory Affairs



Exhibit 10.52

July 11, 2013

Re: <u>Employment Offer</u>

Dear Robert,

On behalf of ANIP Acquisition Company (d/b/a ANI Pharmaceuticals) (the "Company"), I am delighted to offer you employment as Vice President New Business Development reporting directly to ANI's President and Chief Executive Officer. The purpose of this letter is to set forth the terms of this offer.

- 1. Your position will be as a regular full-time employee commencing on August 12, 2013. Your business office will be located in Wilmington, Delaware. As a regular full-time employee, you will be expected to devote all of your business time and best efforts to the performance of your duties and responsibilities to the Company, as these may be changed by the Company from time to time.
- 2. Your annual base salary will be \$245,000 (less applicable required withholding and deductions). Your salary will be paid biweekly in accordance with the Company's standard payroll policies.
- 3. You will be eligible for an annual bonus of up to 40% of your annual base salary measured by corporate and individual objectives. You will be eligible to receive a \$75,000 bonus for 2013. The objectives for 2013 have been set forth based on ANI's 2013 approved budget. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors will determine whether and to what extent the objectives have been met.
- 4. You will be granted stock options as determined and approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, in an amount equal to 177,500 stock options. The stock option grant will be governed by the Company's stock option plan. You will also be eligible to be considered for additional stock option grants in later years, subject to approval by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.
- 5. As a signing bonus, you will receive 100,000 stock options that vest in four (4) equal installments on the annual anniversary of the grant date.
- 6. You will be entitled to four weeks' vacation each year, accruing in accordance with the vacation policies established by the Company.

210 Main Street West , Baudette, MN 56623 • Phone (218)-634-3500 • Fax (218)-634-3540 Toll-Free (800) 434-1121



- 7. You will be eligible to participate, effective on your first day of employment, in the Company's other employee benefit plans as they are generally made available to other employees of similar status and service, including the right to participate in a Company-sponsored medical, dental, vision and life insurance plans. You will also be eligible to participate in the ANI Pharmaceuticals 401 (k) plan after 3 months of service. These benefits, as well as all other Company compensation and benefit programs, are subject to change from time to time as deemed appropriate and necessary by the Company.
- 8. You will be reimbursed for all customary business expenses reasonably incurred by you in the course of your employment that are documented and submitted in accordance with the Company's policies.
- 9. As a condition of employment, you will be required to sign the Company's standard form of confidentiality, Invention Assignment and Non-Competition Agreement. By accepting this offer, you agree that you will not bring with you to the Company, or use in any way during your employment with the Company, any confidential information, trade secrets or proprietary material or processes of any former employer, entity, trust or individual for which you have performed services. You further confirm that by accepting this offer you will not breach any contract, agreement or other instrument to which you are a party or are bound.
- 10. Please note that this letter and your response do not create a contract or promise of employment for a definite period of time. Therefore, you are free to resign for any reason or for no reason. Similarly, the Company is free to conclude its at-will employment relationship with you at any time, with or without cause. We do request, however, that you give a reasonable notice if you decide to terminate your employment with us. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary stated in this letter, if the Company terminates your employment without cause, upon the receipt from you of a release in form and substance satisfactory to the Company, the Company will (i) pay you severance in an amount equal to your base salary for a period of 12 months, which amount may be paid, at the Company's election, either in a lump sum or by salary continuation, (ii) pay or reimburse you for the premiums to continue your health insurance coverage as in effect at the time of the termination of employment for a period of 12 months under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act.
- 11. You agree to resign from your current position on the ANI Pharmaceuticals Board of Directors at the time you sign this offer letter.
- 12. You will be subject to and expect to abide by the Company's policies and procedures, as these may be changed from time to time.
- 13. This offer expires at 5:00 p.m. on July 12, 2013, if not accepted by then.
- 14. This offer is subject to successful completion of a pre-employment background and reference checks and documentation of eligibility to work in the United States, to be completed as soon as possible following your acceptance of this offer.

210 Main Street West , Baudette, MN 56623 • Phone (218)-634-3500 • Fax (218)-634-3540 Toll-Free (800) 434-1121



By accepting this offer, you represent that you have not relied on any agreements or representations, written or oral, express or implied, with respect to your employment that are not set forth expressly in this letter. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Company may terminate this offer at any time prior to the commencement of your employment.

Acceptance of this offer should be acknowledged by signing both originals and returning one to Sherri Bitter in our Human Resources Department. Please feel free to contact Sherri should you have any questions regarding the employment paperwork or benefit offerings.

Again, let me indicate how pleased we all are to extend this offer and how much we look forward to working with you as an employee of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Sincerely

| ANIP ACQUISITION COMPANY (d/b/a Al | VI Pharmaceuticals, I | nc.) |
|------------------------------------|-----------------------|------|
|------------------------------------|-----------------------|------|

Arthur S. Przybyl President & Chief Executive Officer

Accepted and Agreed:

/s/ Robert W. Schrepfer July 12, 2013
Name Date

210 Main Street West , Baudette, MN 56623 • Phone (218)-634-3500 • Fax (218)-634-3540 Toll-Free (800) 434-1121

ANI PHARMACUTICALS, INC.

The following is a list of subsidiaries of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2013:

Name ANIP Acquisition Company **State of Incorporation** Delaware

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-123886, 333-123888, 333-34508 and 333-186763) and on Form S-3 (No. 333-112752) of our report dated February 28, 2014, on our audits of the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2013, which report was included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be filed on or about February 28, 2014.

/s/ EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York February 28, 2014

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Arthur S. Przybyl, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

| Date: February 28, 2014 | /s/ Arthur S. Przybyl |
|-------------------------|---|
| | Arthur S. Przybyl President and Chief Executive Officer |

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Charlotte C. Arnold, certify that:

- 2. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2014

/s/ Charlotte C. Arnold
Charlotte C. Arnold
Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of ANI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company") for the year ended December 31, 2013 (the "Report") as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, the undersigned Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company hereby certify that, to such officer's knowledge:

- (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

This certification is provided solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Dated: February 28, 2014 /s/ Arthur S. Przybyl

Arthur S. Przybyl President and

Chief Executive Officer [principal executive officer]

Dated: February 28, 2014 /s/ Charlotte C. Arnold

Charlotte C. Arnold Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer [principal financial officer]

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.